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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Good

          3  morning, everyone. My name is Archie Spigner, and I

          4  am acting today as Chair of the Committee on

          5  Consumer Affairs in the absence of Council Member

          6  Karen Koslowitz, who is away.

          7                 I am joined by our Speaker Peter

          8  Vallone, as well as Council Member Clarke, Council

          9  Member Guillermo Linares, Council Member Stephen

         10  DiBrienza, Council Member Lopez and Council Member

         11  Lloyd Henry.

         12                 As the Speaker has stated on this

         13  issue, we cannot overemphasize the importance of

         14  today's hearing. We are not accusing Con Edison of

         15  having a terrible track record in terms of providing

         16  electricity to our City, however, what happened last

         17  week in parts of our City, particularly Washington

         18  Heights and the Lower East Side, as well as other

         19  smaller sections of the City, is distressing. And

         20  since Con Edison has admitted how close we came to

         21  total black-outs in several other parts of the City,

         22  such as Williamsburg and Long Island City, this

         23  makes the situation even more disturbing and

         24  potentially disastrous.

         25                 It appears that what happened on
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          2  Monday through Wednesday of last week was a failure

          3  of portions of Con Ed's infrastructure that delivers

          4  electricity to various sections of the City, unlike

          5  other blackouts which we may recall, such as the

          6  1977 blackout which affected Con Ed's ability to

          7  supply electricity to the City, last week's blackout

          8  apparently was caused by failures in the Con Ed

          9  distribution system, specifically in the system of

         10  feeder cables, which distribute electricity from

         11  substations in various parts of the City, the homes

         12  and businesses.

         13                 According to Con Ed's own report,

         14  more than half of the feeder cables in Washington

         15  Heights overheated and failed, while approximately

         16  one-third of the feeder cables in Williamsburg and

         17  Long Island City failed, and a fifth of those on the

         18  Lower East Side.

         19                 This raises serious questions which

         20  must be answered, such as:

         21                 - Is Con Ed devoting sufficient

         22  resources to maintaining and upgrading its energy

         23  distribution systems throughout the City?

         24                 - Is Con Ed putting an equal emphasis

         25  on maintaining and upgrading its energy distribution
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          2  system in all parts of our City's communities?

          3                 - Is Con Ed's infrastructure prepared

          4  for increasingly hot summers combined with growing

          5  communities which are becoming increasingly "wired"

          6  for technology?

          7                 In examining these issues, we must

          8  remember one key thing - this is New York City, the

          9  most densely populated City in the country. Losing

         10  power in this City can have devastating

         11  consequences, as we will hear today.

         12                 People cannot travel when our

         13  transportation system crashes. Many cannot even

         14  leave their homes when elevator service is cut off

         15  in high-rise buildings. Hospitals cannot tend to

         16  patients and our research laboratories, which

         17  receive hundreds of millions of dollars in grants to

         18  combat diseases such as cancer, Alzheimer's and

         19  AIDS, risk losing invaluable experiments. We must

         20  make sure that everything that is humanly possible

         21  is done to prevent future power outages, and plan

         22  adequate back-up procedures for a contingency which

         23  we hope we never have to see again.

         24                 Mr. Speaker, do you have a statement

         25  at this time?
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I see Chairman

          3  McGrath in the back, obviously you are welcome to

          4  sit up front, Mr. Chair. Our procedure is going to

          5  be very quick, I am going to read a short statement,

          6  and then we have some victims who will be on for a

          7  few minutes, and then we will have the Chair of Con

          8  Edison, before he has to testify at the Public

          9  Service Commission, to spend at least an hour, hour

         10  and a half with us, so we will try and be as quick

         11  as we can.

         12                 We are here today to find out why, as

         13  the Chairman said, when New Yorkers needed power the

         14  most, they were unable to provide it, and why Con

         15  Edison's Chairman believes that it can happen again.

         16                 In several neighborhoods people were

         17  forced to sleep on the streets or in their

         18  backyards. Senior citizens were stuck on the 18th

         19  floor of their apartment buildings. Business owners

         20  lost thousands of dollars in business and inventory.

         21  They deserve more compensation than the pennies on

         22  the dollar that Con Edison is now offering. And

         23  there are people in this room right now whose lives

         24  and neighbors' lives were put at risk.

         25                 Last week I was in Washington Heights
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          2  and I met with sweltering families and distraught

          3  business owners with Council Member Guillermo

          4  Linares and with President Evans, and I wanted to be

          5  able to tell these people that this will never

          6  happen again. Unfortunately, we know that this can

          7  happen again as early as tomorrow.

          8                 During the blackout of 1977 there was

          9  a shortage in the power supply. This time there was

         10  sufficient power for the moment, but an

         11  infrastructure that could not deliver the power

         12  could not deliver that power to New Yorkers.

         13                 Blackouts like the one in 1977 may

         14  never happen again, but blackouts like the one last

         15  week could occur any time it gets hot outside.

         16                 New Yorkers have invested billions of

         17  dollars in Con Edison and it is time that Con Edison

         18  invests in New Yorkers.

         19                 Con Edison has the monopoly on power

         20  distribution - power distribution - therefore, Con

         21  Edison must do more to upgrade and maintain its

         22  infrastructure.

         23                 We need to know if Con Edison is

         24  ready for the 21st Century. We need to know why the

         25  infrastructure failed in Washington Heights, and why
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          2  we were one cable away from losing power in

          3  Williamsburg, and Long Island City and the Lower

          4  East Side.

          5                 We need to know if the infrastructure

          6  in Washington Heights is as up-to-date and

          7  dependable as the infrastructure on Wall Street and

          8  the Upper East Side.

          9                 We need to know if the current system

         10  can withstand the increased electrical demand in

         11  this computer age, and as there is more and more

         12  families and businesses and computers and fax

         13  machines and air conditioners, will power stations

         14  and feeder cables be necessary to meet that demand?

         15                 The Conde Nast Building in Times

         16  Square will use solar panels, natural gas and fuel

         17  cells, should we explore other ways to power our

         18  City in the 21st century, other than massive and

         19  complex power grids?

         20                 We need to know if our hospitals and

         21  businesses have adequate back-up plans when the next

         22  outage comes. We need to know if the City's

         23  emergency management plan works and how we can

         24  improve it.

         25                 Last week's power outage in
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          2  Washington Heights and other areas proves that so

          3  far we have indeed been very lucky. It is a wake-up

          4  call to Con Edison, and to our entire City. So we

          5  are here today to make sure we do everything we can

          6  to prevent a situation like this from ever happening

          7  again.

          8                 Mr. Chair.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We have

         10  been joined by Council Member Robinson and Council

         11  Member Stanley Michels.

         12                 At this time I will recognize

         13  Councilman Linares, the Council Member from the area

         14  most affected from this recent disturbance.

         15                 Council Member.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chair,

         17  let me just be on record in the beginning to say

         18  that my area is equally affected. I also represent

         19  the Washington Heights and Inwood.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Mr. Chair,

         22  Mr. Speaker, I represent the vast majority of

         23  Washington Heights and Inwood, a community that in

         24  recent days has gone through an experience that has

         25  changed it, has changed it dramatically forever.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 The blackout that we experienced has

          3  altered the lives of all of the families, the

          4  seniors, the children in our community. It has also

          5  impacted on the small business community and every

          6  single resident in Washington Heights.

          7                 Today we will hear testimony from the

          8  seniors that were stranded for hours in Washington

          9  Heights, especially in Inwood, where the outage was

         10  even longer. And there are many pertinent questions

         11  that we have, questions that we have of Con Edison,

         12  in terms of the preparation for this eventuality,

         13  and questions that we have also for the City of New

         14  York.

         15                 I hope that this hearing will help

         16  clarify and will clear for, especially the citizens

         17  of both communities and the City of New York what

         18  really happened here and how we can avoid this.

         19                 If there were 14 cable feeders for

         20  Washington Heights, what does that represent for the

         21  nearly 300,000 residents in that area? What is that

         22  proportionally to other areas that are fed by cable

         23  in other parts of the City.

         24                 When we get the answer to questions

         25  like that, we will understand why Washington Heights
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          2  and not other parts of the City of New York. And

          3  while we investigate and while we consider lawsuits,

          4  there is one question I ask as a representative, and

          5  this I say jointly with my colleague that represents

          6  the area, Stanley Michels, one question that I ask,

          7  for the families that have been affected by this

          8  blackout, for the merchants that have been affected

          9  and perhaps will never be able to open their

         10  businesses, there is one question that I ask while

         11  we investigate or go to court, we need help now. Not

         12  tomorrow, not a month from now - we need help now to

         13  get our lives back together. And I hope that this

         14  hearing will help answer some of those questions.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The Chair

         16  will now recognize another Council Member from

         17  Washington Heights for brief remarks. Council Member

         18  Michels.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Speaker.

         21                 I am not going to repeat all that has

         22  been said by Mr. Linares, except to reemphasize

         23  everything he said that is important.

         24                 Basically we are interested in

         25  finding out here today if the preventive

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  maintenance, the work that was done prior to this

          3  blackout, was sufficient to make sure this didn't

          4  happen. We take the word because we have no other

          5  reason but to take the word of Con Ed, the fact that

          6  we had failure of feeder cables, because the

          7  delivery system was not adequate at this particular

          8  time.

          9                 But we are also interested in making

         10  sure people are properly compensated and we want to

         11  make sure, darn sure, this doesn't happen again

         12  because of the fact we didn't have enough feeder

         13  cables. And we are looking forward and we are very

         14  anxious to expedite the experts who have been put

         15  forth, the task force that has been put forth has

         16  announced that they were going to report to us, and

         17  we want to implement as soon as their

         18  recommendations come in, because we know their

         19  recommendations are going to be that there was

         20  something wrong. What was wrong we don't know, but

         21  something was wrong, an those recommendations have

         22  to be implemented as soon as possible and

         23  expeditiously and at whatever cost it is, because we

         24  cannot afford what it has already cost this

         25  neighborhood.
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          2                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          4  you, Council Member.

          5                 Now we will begin with the first

          6  people to testify today.

          7                 Jose Delio Martes, President of

          8  Camara de Comercio Dominico Hispano.

          9                 Candido DeLeon, he is the owner of

         10  three supermarkets in the Washington Heights area.

         11                 Helen Pope, she is a senior citizen

         12  in the area. And Ruth Rossini, Executive Director of

         13  Washington Heights Community Services.

         14                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Would you all come

         15  up at the same time, please. Right here, right at

         16  the table.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I also

         18  want to invite at this time, Mr. Walter Delgado, the

         19  Executive Director of Audubon Partnership for

         20  Economic Development. Mr. Delgado.

         21                 Please identify yourselves,

         22  gentlemen, lady, and begin in any order that you

         23  choose. And please limit your testimony to three

         24  minutes, because we have got a lot of people who

         25  want to testify today, and you may begin.
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          2                 MS. POPE: Okay, I am beginning. My

          3  name is Mrs. Helen L. Pope, and I live in Inwood

          4  Heights, 204th Street and Nagle Avenue, New York

          5  City. I happen to be a senior citizen, I am 83 years

          6  of age. I know I don't look it, so give me a clap.

          7                 Okay, to all of my representatives up

          8  there, Peter Vallone and the wonderful Mr.

          9  Councilman Linares, Stan Michels and to these

         10  gorgeous ladies up there, and to all of you

         11  gentlemen, ladies and gentlemen and to the New

         12  Yorkers of New York City, the greatest City that we

         13  know of so far, I would like to tell you about the

         14  experience we have had in 240 Nagle Avenue.

         15                 We have 15 floors in the house, in

         16  the building I live in. There are 12 apartments on

         17  each floor. The majority are senior citizens, and we

         18  started not just one, two days, as New York 1 did

         19  say that it only lasted two days and it was 95

         20  percent corrected - wrong. It was not corrected in

         21  95 percent in two days. We went six or seven days

         22  without water, without any kind of electricity. We

         23  didn't have any kind of lights whatsoever. It was

         24  pitch, pitch black all over the whole building from

         25  the top to the bottom.
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          2                 Now, a lot of us that live in Nagle

          3  House, that is the name of my building, we are on

          4  canes, as you just saw me with a cane, I can really

          5  at least walk. We have a lot of members in there

          6  that are in wheelchairs. Our refrigerators we

          7  kaboomp. For about six days I lost a lot of food.

          8  Now, I don't buy cheap food, because I buy it once a

          9  month, and I go to a good place to buy good meat,

         10  because I think I am entitled to that at least once

         11  a month. And all of my meat, my milk, my ice cream,

         12  everything went kaboomp.

         13                 Now, what I would like to know,

         14  before this happened, I would like to know who

         15  inspects these things in Con Ed? Why didn't we know

         16  that before we had a disaster? If anybody can answer

         17  that, then I would like to hear that today. So I can

         18  carry it back to my senior citizens who are looking

         19  to me to bring them back some kind of report. We

         20  don't want to be going to court in the same

         21  building. This year you may get it, next year you

         22  may get it. We want it now. We want to reimbursed

         23  for our food, for the trouble that we went through.

         24  I had to and many of the members in my building, we

         25  had to buy water to flush our toilets. Now, that is
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          2  ridiculous. You got to pay for water to flush your

          3  toilet. That is what we had to go through.

          4                 Now, we have been at least six days,

          5  and in the seventh day, and then just this past

          6  Sunday the lights went out again. So come on, Con

          7  Ed, I don't know what you are doing but you are

          8  ruining us. You are really ruining us.

          9                 Now, as for senior citizens, I pay my

         10  taxes, I pay my rent and I was reared in New York

         11  City, and I think we really are entitled to better

         12  than that. And I would like for you to do something

         13  about it. I am very hurt. I am upset and I can't

         14  sleep because I have lost a lot.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         16  you, Ms. Pope.

         17                 MS. POPE: Thank you.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Don't go

         19  away, we might have a question for you.

         20                 The next, please.

         21                 MS. ROSSINI: Good morning. My name is

         22  Ruth Rossini, I am the Executive Director of the

         23  Washington Heights Community Services, Inc., STAR

         24  Senior Center. This morning I am representing the

         25  Washington Heights Inwood Council on the Aging.
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          2                 Our particular agency coordinates the

          3  Meals-On-Wheels Program for the homebound elderly,

          4  all of Community Board 12.

          5                 On Tuesday, July the 6th, without any

          6  forewarning, all the elevators in the Inwood section

          7  and parts of Washington Heights were shut down due

          8  to the lack of electricity.

          9                 One of the food deliverers walked up

         10  11 floors in order to deliver lunch in the southern

         11  end.

         12                 Wednesday, the 7th, I arrived at work

         13  at 7:45. The kitchen staff was outside because there

         14  was no electricity or phones. The only phone working

         15  was the public phone, payphone. There was enough

         16  light in the kitchen to prepare a cold lunch. We

         17  prepared over 200 meals. In fact, one of the center

         18  directors got in contact with the Department for the

         19  Aging and they told them via my public phone that we

         20  were going to be open. She came down hoping that we

         21  would make meals for her and we did, we prepared 49

         22  meals.

         23                 But the problem was still the same,

         24  how to deliver the meals in buildings without lights

         25  and in the blistering heat. Some of the deliverers
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          2  walked up 12 and 13 floors. I am proud to say that

          3  people who are often at the low end of the economic

          4  strata did a yeoman's job with care, compassion and

          5  dedication.

          6                 There are over nine senior centers in

          7  the Washington Heights Community area. What

          8  disturbed us the most, my dismay with the whole

          9  situation was and is that agencies like ours as

         10  aforementioned, coordinating all the Meals-On-Wheels

         11  for the entire community were not informed that

         12  there was a strong possibility of a blackout.

         13                 The frail elderly on the upper floors

         14  were the most vulnerable. We made every effort to

         15  reach every and each one. If we had some warning, my

         16  staff could have contacted the clients' emergency

         17  numbers in order to remove the clients from their

         18  homes before the disaster struck.

         19                 The value of the network of the

         20  agencies that service the elderly in Washington

         21  Heights and Inwood was proven by our response to

         22  this disaster. There are many ways we can improve,

         23  but the examples, as I just mentioned before, how we

         24  worked together is truly not enough if we do not

         25  know beforehand that a disaster of this magnitude --
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          2  even if it doesn't happen, I understand there was

          3  some feeling that they didn't want to cause a panic.

          4  Well, you can't cause a panic if you are going to

          5  call the leaders in the community, and very quietly

          6  could call the respective clients to let them know.

          7                 I have to say that that is the part

          8  that bothered me the most was that we just didn't

          9  know quite what to do. We did it sort of by the seat

         10  of our pants and did a pretty good job.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         13  you.

         14                 Next. Identify yourself, sir.

         15                 MR. DeLEON: Good morning. My name is

         16  Candido DeLeon. I have three supermarkets in the

         17  area, 4190 Broadway, 4261 Broadway and 1331 St.

         18  Nicholas. All three went without power. We closed

         19  the door at 1:00 before the blackout, we opened the

         20  doors 6:00 the day the light came on. We lost almost

         21  a day and a half of business. We lost all the meat,

         22  all the varied items, all of the frozen foods and

         23  produce in the store. And I blame it on Con Edison

         24  because they advised the store what is going to

         25  happen, we will get proper regimen like getting
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          2  generators to keep the business and keep serving the

          3  public, but being that we did not get any kind of

          4  information, we was without any news.

          5                 So, I am asking from Con Edison, in

          6  the future if this is going to happen, to advise the

          7  community to get some kind of generators or any

          8  other source of electricity, not for this to be so

          9  strained on the citizens.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Identify

         12  yourself, sir.

         13                 MR. MARTES: (Difficult to understand

         14  due to dialect in language.) My name is Jose Martes.

         15  I am the President of Camara de Comercio Dominico

         16  Hispano, and the Vice President of Small Business

         17  Commerce, New York State. I represent the small

         18  businesses in Washington Heights and Inwood.

         19                 Thank you for giving me the

         20  opportunity to explain to you what happened in the

         21  small businesses in Washington Heights, especially

         22  in Inwood.

         23                 The situation is terrible right now.

         24  The blackouts on Monday, Monday is the day all those

         25  business people go to the market to get the
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          2  merchandise they need for the whole week. That's the

          3  day the companies make deliveries to the small

          4  businesses, especially the grocery stores.

          5                 I don't want to speak too much

          6  because everybody know what happened that day,

          7  everybody know what kind of situation the small

          8  businesses have. I am coming here only to tell you

          9  that that money Con Edison try to give to the

         10  business people, $2,000, I think that is a

         11  ridiculous number. That is a ridiculous number.

         12                 Another thing I want to tell to Con

         13  Edison, I know how only one side of the business,

         14  you have small grocery store, you have medium

         15  grocery store, you have big grocery store. A small

         16  grocery store, he bought produce and vegetable,

         17  $1,350.  Meat he bought at $1,800. He pay average

         18  rent for day $250. Employee about $600 a day. That

         19  total for the small stores, about $4,000.

         20                 The medium grocery store, he bought

         21  produce $2,500. Meat, he bought a little less than

         22  $4,000. He pay for the rent $350 a day. Employees

         23  $840 a day. Totally $7,350.

         24                 A big grocery store, he bought the

         25  same products: vegetables and produce, $3,500. Meat
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          2  he bought a little less than $5,000. He pay about

          3  $400 rent per day. He pay about $960 for employee.

          4  Total for the bigger store is $9,860.

          5                 When they give you $2,000 for the

          6  people using $9,000, I think that is ridiculous.

          7                 I want to say something to Con

          8  Edison. Those people are working very hard to make

          9  it even. You don't make money no more, you only make

         10  living. These people have families to send to the

         11  school. That people have families in the

         12  universities, and that people working very hard to

         13  make New York better. I think Con Edison should

         14  respect that kind of people and I think it is very

         15  terrible time for the small businesses in Washington

         16  Heights and Inwood.

         17                 Thank you for all of the Council

         18  Members, especially the President Peter Vallone, to

         19  give me the opportunity to explain to you about the

         20  problems that people have.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         23  you, Mr. Martes, Ms. Rossini, Ms. Pope, Mr. DeLeon.

         24  If you will step aside for just a moment, I want to

         25  get the Con Ed people on and we may have some
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          2  questions for you and so please don't leave until we

          3  hear from Con Edison, and we will have a full

          4  balanced picture as to what the scope.

          5                 Con Ed people, if you will take a

          6  seat, and identify yourselves and choose any order

          7  that you wish to speak.

          8                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Mr. Chair, I want to

          9  thank you very much for coming. I also want to thank

         10  President Evans for walking and touring Washington

         11  Heights with me, and Guillermo Linares, during the

         12  terrible time, and your availability and your

         13  constant communication.

         14                 But obviously, before I ask any

         15  questions, would you like to make a statement, or

         16  would you like me to go right into the questions?

         17                 CHAIR McGRATH: I would like to make a

         18  statement. I would like to do two things, if I

         19  could, Mr. Speaker, Mr. Chairman and members:

         20                 I would like to describe as a

         21  background the Consolidated Edison electric system.

         22  I think it is helpful in discussing what went on and

         23  what happened throughout the City.

         24                 And the second, I would like to go

         25  through the sequence of events, starting with Friday
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          2  before the hot spell and go through that, and then

          3  take any questions you might have.

          4                 I have a series of charts here to

          5  help with my presentation. The first shows our

          6  service area, and indicated on there are the areas

          7  that were impacted during the heat spell,

          8  particularly Washington Heights, which is shown at

          9  the northern end of Manhattan there.

         10                 First, I would like to describe our

         11  overall transmission system. I have a very

         12  complicated drawing I am just going to throw up for

         13  a second to give you an idea of the full power

         14  system. No one can see it, but I have a simplified

         15  version coming up next.

         16                 Basically our transmission, our volt

         17  power system, has power supplies from the north,

         18  northern New York State, as far as Canada and all

         19  the Northeast, and supplies coming in for the

         20  Pennsylvania, Jersey, Maryland system from the

         21  south, and the squares you see on there are the

         22  substations within our service territory, and those

         23  substations feed networks within our service

         24  territory.

         25                 We basically have three layers to our
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          2  electric system. We have the volt power system,

          3  which is described here, that feed networks, and

          4  within the networks we have two layers, a primary

          5  system which is at 13,800 volts, and a secondary

          6  system at 208 volts. So, we have transmission

          7  138,000 volts and 3 45,000 volts, primary 13,800

          8  volts and a 208 volt secondary system. I am going to

          9  describe those simply, if I can, in the next chart.

         10                 This is a very simplified drawing of

         11  what we just showed you. We have the transmission

         12  system power coming from the south, from the north,

         13  and they feed area substations throughout the City.

         14                 I will now show, from the area

         15  substation in through the networks.

         16                 We have a network system in Con

         17  Edison, because of the low density.  Manhattan, for

         18  example, is broken up into 32 individual networks.

         19  What that means is that a problem that occurs within

         20  one network cannot spread to other networks, and

         21  that is one of the reasons why we have the highest

         22  reliability in the world.

         23                 If we look at the system and analogy

         24  sometimes as the water system, if you look at the

         25  water system for the City of New York, you have a
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          2  reservoir and a supply system, and then you have the

          3  water mains in the streets. In the previous

          4  blackouts we had the equivalent of a problem with

          5  the reservoir system, in that the power supplies

          6  were short. We did not have that in this case. When

          7  there is a problem with the power supply or if the

          8  water reservoir is low, then the choices can be made

          9  as to where to restrict the water throughout the

         10  City. You could decide to restrict it in Queens or

         11  Bronx or Northern Manhattan or whatever.

         12                 But when you have a water main break

         13  on a distribution system, it only impacts and can be

         14  dealt with in the local community. We had the

         15  equivalent with a water main break with our electric

         16  distribution system, the feeders in the streets in

         17  the local areas are what failed.

         18                 This shows the 32 networks in

         19  Manhattan. What is important to realize here,

         20  networks have evolved over time like cells

         21  multiplying. As load increases in a particular area,

         22  what was formerly one network gets broken up into

         23  two networks with another substation. And as you

         24  notice where the load has grown the most, in Lower

         25  Manhattan here, the networks are smaller and
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          2  smaller. They have the same amount of load, more or

          3  less than the other networks, but it happens in a

          4  smaller geographic area.

          5                 If you notice up at the top is a

          6  Washington Heights network, the tip of Manhattan to

          7  155th Street.

          8                 Within the network, and I will speak

          9  about Sherman Creek and Washington Heights in

         10  particular, but it is typical of our networks. An

         11  area substation feeds supplies to networks. The blue

         12  lines on this chart show the transmission system,

         13  138,000 volts, they go to an area substation where

         14  it is transformed down to 13,800 volts, and from

         15  that feeders, shown in green, primary feeders, bring

         16  that electricity, that power out throughout that

         17  individual network. Tapping off those feeders are a

         18  whole other set of transformers.

         19                 In Manhattan, for example, we have

         20  20,000 miles of underground cable, we have 9,000

         21  transformers. Shown in red here, or kind of orange,

         22  I guess, is the secondary grid that underlies the

         23  primary system.

         24                 The purpose of the primary system is

         25  to get the power out into the network. The purpose
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          2  of the secondary system is to actually distribute it

          3  to the businesses and the homes in the network.

          4                 The next slide. This shows the

          5  Washington Heights network, the dark lines are the

          6  primary feeders, the feeders, the primary feeders,

          7  there are 14 of them. Those feeders come from the

          8  Sherman Creek substation, and as I described on a

          9  simplified diagram, go throughout the network.  And

         10  then underlying this whole primary system is a much

         11  more substantial secondary grid that is designed

         12  only to carry the power short distances, because it

         13  is lower voltage, higher current. It can only move

         14  the electricity short distances, although it is

         15  interconnected throughout the whole network.

         16                 One of the concerns operators have is

         17  when we lose primary feeders and that distribution

         18  through the network is not uniform, the secondary

         19  underlying grid attempts to make up for that

         20  deficiency and attempts to distribute that energy

         21  throughout the network. It is not designed to do

         22  that. And one of the decisions that had to be made

         23  by the operator, and I will go through the sequence

         24  now, is how far can you go with loss of primary

         25  feeders before you can do permanent damage to the
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          2  underlying secondary grid and have much more

          3  substantial or lengthier outages.

          4                 I would now like to, for a couple of

          5  minutes, go through the sequence of events. I will

          6  deal with communication and I will deal with what

          7  the operators, and I will focus on Washington

          8  Heights, although as we saw on the earlier map, we

          9  had problems throughout the City in different

         10  networks.

         11                 Starting on Friday morning, before

         12  the weekend, before the 4th of July weekend, we were

         13  in contact with the City Office of Emergency

         14  Management.

         15                 The City Office of Emergency

         16  Management had several conference calls, which we

         17  participated in, including on Sunday morning where

         18  many agencies that are --

         19                 SPEAKER VALLONE: When you say you

         20  were in contact, did you make the contact, or did

         21  they contact you?

         22                 CHAIR McGRATH: I believe we made a

         23  call on Friday morning, and they got back to us that

         24  they were setting up this OEM command post and on

         25  their new command center, and they actually
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          2  physically set it up Tuesday morning, at 9:00 a.m.,

          3  and we had two people there from Tuesday morning at

          4  9:00 a.m. through the whole rest of the week. And in

          5  addition, we had a representative from the OEM come

          6  to our control center and that person came there

          7  about 11:00 a.m. on Tuesday morning and stayed

          8  through the duration around the clock.

          9                 The purpose of that, of course, is to

         10  make sure that as we get information, it is

         11  immediately communicated to Office of Emergency

         12  Management.

         13                 So, Friday morning we contacted OEM.

         14  Over the weekend we were in contact, Tuesday morning

         15  this command center was set up. Very early on

         16  Tuesday morning, about, actually I think it was at

         17  6:40 in the morning, our central information group

         18  informed the City that Washington Heights, we had to

         19  put Washington Heights in eight percent voltage

         20  reduction.

         21                 Voltage reductions is one of the

         22  tools that we have to help spread out the power

         23  throughout the network when there is a problem of

         24  this nature. And also at that time alerted to the

         25  possible loss of the Washington Heights network.
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          2                 I would now like to go through what

          3  happened with the feeders. Coming into Monday

          4  morning -- first off, the weekend, as you know, was

          5  very hot. Monday and Tuesday were the two hottest

          6  consecutive days we have had on record, and we have

          7  records that go back quite a ways.

          8                 Coming into Monday morning we had one

          9  feeder out of service, one of these 14 primary

         10  feeders.

         11                 The system design is to be able to

         12  handle the peak load, anticipated load, and with the

         13  loss of two of the feeders, two of the 14 feeders.

         14  That is a design criteria, it is for New York City,

         15  most companies don't have that conservative design

         16  criteria. Monday morning we had one feeder out of

         17  service.

         18                 At 8:49 a.m. we lost a second feeder.

         19  Later Monday night we saw very high loads on our

         20  system. Monday would have been equivalent normally

         21  to a Sunday, because Monday was a holiday, we saw

         22  extremely high loads on our system.

         23                 Late Monday night we lost two more

         24  feeders. So we had four feeders out coming into late

         25  Monday, midnight Monday night. We got one feeder
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          2  back during the night. Getting a feeder back entails

          3  finding out which feeder faulted. The relays do

          4  that, and they automatically open up the switches

          5  into substation, applying protection to that feeder

          6  so when people work on it they are not electrocuted

          7  by a back feed or some other way, identifying that

          8  feeder to make sure that when they go in a manhole

          9  where there is maybe 18 feeders, that they know

         10  which one they are working on and don't go into a

         11  live feeder. Applying a signal on it to locate the

         12  fault, and we put this pulsing signal on the cable,

         13  go down the street, attempt to locate where the

         14  fault is, typically find the fault between manholes,

         15  men get in, ground the feeder that we are going to

         16  work on for protection, cut the feeder, the feeder

         17  cables are about that big in diameter (indicating),

         18  pull out the old cable, sometimes not so easy

         19  because where it faulted it may have done some

         20  damage to the duct that contains it, insert a new

         21  feeder, splice the two connections at each end, test

         22  the feeder to see that it has been repaired, remove

         23  the protection an re-energize the feeder. That

         24  process can take a day or more to get done.

         25                 Coming into Tuesday morning, by 5:00
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          2  a.m Tuesday morning we had three feeders of the 14

          3  out of service. At 6:00 a.m. we lost the fourth

          4  feeder. I mentioned earlier that at 6:40 we were in

          5  voltage reduction, had communicated that we were

          6  concerned about the network with four feeders out of

          7  service.

          8                 Later that morning, 10:30 and 10:40,

          9  we lost two additional feeders. So at that point we

         10  were down to, we had five feeders out of service, we

         11  returned one of the earlier ones in that intervening

         12  time.

         13                 Tuesday night we lost another feeder

         14  at 7:20 and another one at 9:52, so we were down to

         15  seven feeders of the 14 feeders out of service, but

         16  we had two feeders coming back into service that had

         17  been repaired.

         18                 At 10:11 p.m. the operator at Sherman

         19  Creek Station closed in the two feeders that had

         20  been repaired. In the process of doing that, one of

         21  the feeders caught fire in the substation breaker

         22  compartment. The operator then had to isolate the

         23  feeders on that particular section of substation to

         24  prevent propagation of this fault.

         25                 We did that. The system operator is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  now faced with the fact that they have seven or

          3  eight feeders out of 14, with no prospects of any of

          4  these feeders returning, decided that he had to shut

          5  down the entire network to prevent burning up the

          6  secondary underlying system, which was attempting to

          7  compensate for this loss of primary feeders, and it

          8  is not designed to do that.

          9                 If he had not done that, we probably

         10  would still be out of power, because of the longer

         11  term damage that could have occurred.

         12                 We were then faced with repairing as

         13  many of the feeders as we could, and we were again

         14  in contact with City agencies, and we gave estimates

         15  as to how long this would take. In the best case,

         16  and a kind of a worst case scenario, and explaining

         17  why if we go to testing a feeder that had been

         18  repaired, if it failed again on test, it would

         19  require us to go back and do more work. But we were

         20  shooting at, we had a target to get the power back

         21  on at Washington Heights partially at 2:00 p.m. on

         22  Wednesday. Because of testing problems and whatever

         23  that actually happened, we got to the point at 5:05

         24  p.m. on Wednesday, where we had ten feeders, ten of

         25  the 14 primary feeders available to put power back
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          2  into the network.

          3                 At that point we knew that the ten

          4  feeders would not be sufficient enough to pick up

          5  the network, picking up the network is much more of

          6  a surge on the power system then maintaining a

          7  network that is already picked up.

          8                 When a network shuts down, everyone's

          9  refrigerator stops and everyone's air conditioner

         10  stops. During normal operation, some refrigerators

         11  are going when others are shut down, and some air

         12  conditioners are going when others shut down, so you

         13  don't have a coincident peak that you would have

         14  when you first start up a system.

         15                 So what we were faced with was

         16  getting some load off of the system. The only way

         17  for us to do that in a practical way and still get

         18  the lights back, we did not want to go into the

         19  second night in Washington Heights without lights

         20  and power for the residents, we didn't want to wait

         21  until we had the full strength of the network. The

         22  only option the operators had at that point was to

         23  isolate large customers. There was some 52, I

         24  believe, large customers that our customer service

         25  people went and spoke with and opened up their

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  switches. That enabled us to take some 30 megawatts

          3  off of a system of about 130 megawatts, or maybe 120

          4  megawatts, something in that order, and that was a

          5  small enough load for us to be able to pick up the

          6  system with the ten feeders, and the idea was then

          7  as the other feeders were repaired we would pick up

          8  the businesses.

          9                 SPEAKER VALLONE: That was your 70

         10  percent that you put back on.

         11                 CHAIR McGRATH: That is correct, sir.

         12                 Now, there were other networks during

         13  this time that were experiencing problems. In your

         14  introduction, Mr. Speaker, you mentioned those.

         15                 We got to a situation in two other

         16  networks, Williamsburg and Long Island City, where

         17  we were in a very similar situation to what we faced

         18  at 10:11 p.m. on Tuesday night. The difference was

         19  when we restored feeders, they didn't come out,

         20  didn't fail on restoration, so we were in a position

         21  to avert a shutdown of those networks.

         22                 The difference at Washington Heights

         23  was when those feeders went back in, one caught fire

         24  at the substation and that caused the loss of two

         25  feeders.
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          2                 In general that is the sequence of

          3  events and how our system is designed.

          4                 SPEAKER VALLONE: While we are on that

          5  subject, because that is the essence of what

          6  happened here. As I said in my opening statement,

          7  there did not appear to be a lack of power, it

          8  certainly appeared to be a failure of the

          9  infrastructure, and I think that is correct; is that

         10  right?

         11                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes, we lost -- up to

         12  the time of the shut-down we lost about 50 of -- I

         13  think we have 1,150 primary feeders throughout the

         14  system.

         15                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Our concern and your

         16  concern obviously is, and all of the people of the

         17  City of New York, that as we go into the 21st

         18  century, we are supposedly into a competitive power

         19  system, and that has already started, that process

         20  has started, but no matter how many different power

         21  companies we have or no matter how much, we could

         22  have a billion dollars worth of megawatt power here,

         23  you still are going to supply the infrastructure; is

         24  that correct? Con Edison?

         25                 CHAIR McGRATH: We are going to wheel,
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          2  transmit and distribute the power, yes, sir. We will

          3  not be the generators.

          4                 SPEAKER VALLONE: So that is a very

          5  important concern for all of us here.

          6                 CHAIR McGRATH: That is.

          7                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And the obvious

          8  question to us is, there must be some kind of a

          9  lifespan on these feeders, there has to be some --

         10  there is new technology that develops all of the

         11  time, when we are talking about phone companies or

         12  cable systems where they have different kind of

         13  generation of power or a different kind of lines

         14  that can handle more with less difficulty with more

         15  safety, what are you doing about that? What kind of

         16  maintenance schedule do you have concerning these

         17  feeder cables?

         18                 CHAIR McGRATH: What we do, typically

         19  following a summer, and we will do in this case

         20  also, we at the peak day of the summer, we get

         21  current readings on every one of our feeders. Our

         22  engineers and planners take that information, they

         23  add to that their estimate the demographics, the

         24  economy, and whatever, and predict the peak load for

         25  the next high load period.
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Is that all done by

          3  your company, or is it under the monitoring of

          4  public service or anyone else?

          5                 CHAIR McGRATH: Our feeder performance

          6  is reported to the Public Service Commission. Our

          7  analysis is what dictates our maintenance and

          8  capital programs for the winter period to get ready

          9  for the next summer period. And as I described, when

         10  we get to an area, an network that has got too much

         11  load for the network, we would then break it up into

         12  two networks, which the main load growth has been in

         13  the Lower Manhattan area with the high-rises and

         14  whatever over the years.

         15                 We will then take the 200 or so worst

         16  feeders on our system and we will, in the

         17  springtime, when we can afford to take a feeder out

         18  of service, we put on a very high voltage test on

         19  those feeders to try to break them down, to try to

         20  make them fail.

         21                 It is not quite as good because we

         22  can't replicate the heat and the current flows, but

         23  it is a way of taking a feeder that might fail and

         24  make it fail at the point in time of our choosing so

         25  that we can repair any incipient fault and get ready
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          2  for the summer, so that is the kind of program.

          3                 SPEAKER VALLONE: But that is not

          4  satisfactory to any kind of a maintenance. We know

          5  now in the City of New York if we don't paint the

          6  bridges, they are going to fall down after a certain

          7  amount of time.  We know that there is a definite

          8  maintenance schedule that you have to have on an

          9  automobile or any place else. Isn't there a definite

         10  maintenance schedule that you have to replace these

         11  things?

         12                 CHAIR McGRATH: Sure. Absolutely.

         13                 We have, as new technology comes

         14  along -- we have about 90, 87, 88,000 miles of

         15  cable, as new technology comes along, we work those

         16  into our capital programs. You obviously can't do

         17  everything, it takes a long time to do it because

         18  you need to have the feeders and cables in service

         19  while you are making these changes. But we, for

         20  example, have over many, many years converted more

         21  over to poly cable, from lead and paper cable that

         22  was earlier vintage, and as we go along we get

         23  experience, and we participate in worldwide industry

         24  groups to find out what is state-of-the-art cable

         25  and we keep factoring that into our system.
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Well, we are going

          3  to have a lot more to say about this, but in terms

          4  of the south, for instance, I understand has a more

          5  advanced cable system, because they have a generally

          6  hotter climate than we have.

          7                 CHAIR McGRATH: Excuse me, Mr.

          8  Speaker. No one has a more reliable cable system in

          9  the world than we have.

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Well, we will get

         11  back to that. The thing is, as you explained it, you

         12  had 14 feeder cables in Washington Heights, 22

         13  feeder cables in Long Island City, 24 feeder cables

         14  in Lower East Side, 18 feeder cables in

         15  Williamsburg, that is our own preliminary research,

         16  these feeder cables are designed to handle the

         17  capacity in each of the areas.

         18                 CHAIR McGRATH: Correct.

         19                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Someone had to make

         20  that decision.

         21                 CHAIR McGRATH: Correct.

         22                 SPEAKER VALLONE: When one feeder

         23  cable fails, then the other feeder cables have to

         24  pick up that slack, and obviously each time a feeder

         25  cable fails, there is going to be more difficulty
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          2  for the rest of these feeders.

          3                 Who made the decision that only 14

          4  feeder cables should service Washington Heights?

          5                 CHAIR McGRATH: Our design criteria is

          6  that we can lose any two feeders at the peak loads.

          7  Some networks have higher load than other networks

          8  have, so that they require more feeders to supply

          9  the load. We don't need the same number of feeders

         10  into a 100 megawatt network that we might need to a

         11  300 megawatt network. So that all is based on a

         12  design criteria for that particular network.

         13                 One of the things faced by the

         14  operator in this case, I mentioned earlier that we

         15  designed for the loss of two feeders, when we get to

         16  the point where we have three, four, five, six

         17  feeders out, the next to last thing the operator

         18  wants to do is to shut down the network. The last

         19  thing he wants to do is to keep it in and burn up

         20  the secondary system and have much longer outages.

         21  That was the decision faced by the operators at

         22  10:00 on Wednesday night.

         23                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I understand there

         24  are going to be many places you are going to have to

         25  testify, and I am certain that this is not only
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          2  going to be requested by me and this Council, but

          3  also by the State and also by the Public Service

          4  Commission.  We are going to want to know: When was

          5  the last time the feeder cables were tested in

          6  Washington Heights; when was the last time they were

          7  tested in Long Island City, the Lower East Side,

          8  Williamsburg, and compare that to when they were

          9  tested on, let's say 42nd Street and Broadway, or

         10  any place else in the City of New York? That is

         11  going to be very, very relevant to our ongoing

         12  investigation.

         13                 CHAIR McGRATH: Sure. We will be glad

         14  to share that with you.

         15                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And as much as there

         16  are many others that want to ask questions, I just

         17  want to ask you one other general situation.

         18                 Obviously you heard from the victims

         19  the kind of damages that occurred here, some of

         20  which can never be compensated in terms of money,

         21  but that there are varying degrees of damages. Is it

         22  your intention that you are going to pass whatever

         23  these damages are off to the customers, or is this

         24  going to go out of the profits of Con Edison?

         25                 CHAIR McGRATH: Any expense that we
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          2  incur to repair feeders and put the transformers

          3  back, replace transformers, we don't have a rate

          4  case pending, so they will be on the Con Edison in

          5  effect, you know. If we had a rate case, or were in

          6  the middle of a rate case, we would try to collect

          7  those dollars --

          8                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And this is coming

          9  out of Con Edison, not out of the --

         10                 CHAIR McGRATH: That's correct, yes.

         11                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I will pass on to

         12  the Chairperson.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: One

         14  question then.

         15                 What procedures do you have for

         16  notifying the customers of potential outages?

         17                 Certainly when the decision was being

         18  weighed whether to let it go a little longer or to

         19  risk more damage, but the real possibility was there

         20  that there would be the total shutdown. Did you make

         21  any effort or were any provisions made so that the

         22  rate for your customers would know that there is the

         23  possibility that they will be without energy?

         24                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes, we make appeals

         25  to customers. We do that in a number of ways. We do
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          2  it through the media, we do it also kind of in the

          3  community, handing out brochures. We work through

          4  the City agencies to use their sources of

          5  communication.

          6                 So, when we get to a situation as we

          7  did in Williamsburg and Richmond Hills and

          8  Washington Heights where we see a problem coming, we

          9  alert everybody that the problem is coming.

         10                 Now, we can't predict of course if it

         11  is going to result in a shutdown, but when we have

         12  early on concerns about it, we do that and we ask

         13  customers to conserve and we try to get that message

         14  out in as many ways as we can.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: How do

         16  you distribute this information, through the media?

         17                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes, through the

         18  media, through the City OEM, and also in the

         19  community where we can. But, you know, we have such

         20  short time frames here and such huge audiences to

         21  reach, that the mass media is the quickest way to

         22  get that done.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Were the

         24  Washington Heights customers of Con Ed notified of

         25  the potential outages?
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          2                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes, as soon as we --

          3  as early as 6:40 on Tuesday morning when we alerted

          4  OEM and the New York Police Department of the

          5  concerns, that generated media interest and media

          6  involvement. I had a press conference, I attended a

          7  press conference, I believe it was about 5:00 on

          8  Tuesday, which was where we again expressed our

          9  concerns about this.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That was

         11  before the power shutoff?

         12                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you

         14  feel it is your responsibility to make any special

         15  arrangements to assist institutions such as senior

         16  citizen centers and hospitals?

         17                 CHAIR McGRATH: Sure. We are really

         18  concerned with our customers. We don't want to lose

         19  any customers. We lose fewer customers than anybody

         20  in the world, we want to keep that. We want to keep

         21  a close relationship with our customers.

         22                 I met yesterday with several members

         23  of the community. They have given us some

         24  suggestions, how to communicate better. We are going

         25  to do that. We have been up in the areas and we will
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          2  try to communicate that.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

          4  Member Linares, followed by Council Member Michels

          5  and Freed.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you.

          7                 Mr. Chairman, I just want to follow

          8  up on the same line that the speaker was raising

          9  with regards to the three communities that were most

         10  affected, Washington Heights and Inwood, in Long

         11  Island City and also the Williamsburg area.

         12                 A quick look at the numbers of these

         13  three networks, revealed by some numbers that I have

         14  been able to obtain that are quite reliable, given

         15  the residents in each of those areas, the number,

         16  according to the 1990 census, the number of feeders

         17  and the number of residents per feeder, there is a

         18  big difference just looking at these three areas.

         19  But I just want to illustrate for you, that with

         20  Northern Manhattan, Washington Heights and Inwood,

         21  having 14 feeders, that averages for 216,000, which

         22  is a very low estimate of residents, to 4,921

         23  customers per feeder. When we look at Long Island

         24  City where we have 260,000 residents and 22 feeders,

         25  we find that each feeder has 5,451 customers, when
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          2  we look at Williamsburg where we have 209,000

          3  residents and 18 feeders, the number of customers

          4  per feeder are 4,477. Clearly, you know, there is a

          5  discrepancy in terms of the volume per feeder.

          6                 I raise this question because in the

          7  minds of residents and New Yorkers is why Washington

          8  Heights, what has happened here, and has Con Edison

          9  prepared for the growth in population, the higher

         10  demand that we have had, and why is Washington

         11  Heights served by only 14 feeders at a higher demand

         12  when that clearly is not the case with other

         13  networks? And that is what we are trying to get to

         14  the bottom of but it really raises very serious

         15  questions about what has -- how the network and how

         16  it is in place appears to discriminate in certain

         17  communities. And I hesitate to use that word because

         18  I want to see a full, fledged investigation but

         19  these preliminary numbers speak very loudly and are

         20  outrageous if they speak the truth. So, I want to

         21  raise that question because it is the first to come

         22  in mind and it leads to the blackout that we had and

         23  the situation that we now face as a City.

         24                 CHAIR McGRATH: Can I answer that

         25  question?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Yes.

          3                 CHAIR McGRATH: The design criteria

          4  for the network system is the same network to

          5  network, it goes back to that loss of two components

          6  at the peak load. Two answers to your question why

          7  14 feeders versus 18 or 20 or whatever.

          8                 The first question is, not all

          9  feeders have the same capability. A feeder's

         10  capability depends on the size of the feeder, so you

         11  can't just take numbers of feeders and see if --

         12  determine the capacity.

         13                 The second issue is, we don't size

         14  feeders or put in feeders based on numbers of

         15  people, we put in feeders based on the load that the

         16  system carries.

         17                 You mentioned Long Island City, for

         18  example. Long Island City is an industrial area with

         19  machinery and very high loads that obviously

         20  requires more feeder capacity to supply the load

         21  than in my home where I run a television and an air

         22  conditioner. So it is not a proportion to people, it

         23  is a proportion to the amount of current at peak

         24  that has to be supplied into that network.

         25                 The design criteria for all the
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          2  networks is the same design criteria.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: You know,

          4  this goes to illustrate how difficult it is for lay

          5  people to understand really how it could happen in

          6  one community, and it so happened that it was a

          7  community of color, black and Hispanics and the poor

          8  community. But nevertheless, regardless, it fuels

          9  the idea that there was something here by design and

         10  that is why it is so important that we get to the

         11  bottom of this.

         12                 There is another burning question

         13  that I have, which will be my last question because

         14  there are many other questions and testimony, but

         15  the second question that I have is that I know that

         16  when there is the likelihood of an event of this

         17  magnitude to impact on our City, because there is a

         18  possibility of people's lives being at risk, the

         19  example is a hurricane, the possibility of a

         20  hurricane coming through New York City, even though

         21  it is a small likelihood, we prepare for the worst.

         22  We inform the citizens, we warn them, we take

         23  preparations. In this case in particular, there were

         24  many signs and how the communication between you,

         25  which had information and had a sense of what was or
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          2  could happen and the City Administration is

          3  critical, who said what and when and why was it that

          4  this blackout came and our citizens were not

          5  informed, were not warned, they didn't have an

          6  opportunity to prepare as a community, and

          7  therefore, we had much more irreparable harm on our

          8  citizens.

          9                 This is a burning question, because

         10  aside from the complexities of this, we also are in

         11  pain as a community, and there was no preparation

         12  for it. And it is a question for you and we will ask

         13  the question also of the Administration, because we

         14  did not prepare as if a hurricane was coming by, and

         15  it was worse than a hurricane that came over our

         16  community.

         17                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes, I mentioned in my

         18  presentation and in response to questions our

         19  communication with the City on these issues.

         20                 You know, in the interest of letting

         21  everybody know what we know, the City agencies know

         22  what we know, we can't predict the outcome or how

         23  severe what we tell them is going to happen. So, you

         24  know, everybody would like to be able to predict in

         25  advance this is going to happen there. We don't have
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          2  the ability to do that. So when we do, when we have

          3  feeder outages or whatever, we report that. In most

          4  cases that goes nowhere. The resiliency of the

          5  system, the redundancy in the system deals with it

          6  and the problem goes away, but we still alert people

          7  to that and in some cases it does proceed to a more

          8  serious problem as it did in this case.

          9                 So there is some frustration on the

         10  part of people, good faith, people in good faith are

         11  trying to deal with this issue, gee, you know, you

         12  told us there was a problem in Williamsburg but

         13  nothing happened in Williamsburg. Well, nothing

         14  happened in Williamsburg perhaps because of the

         15  appeals to customers, because of the voltage

         16  reduction, because the feeders went back in, we put

         17  them back in. So, there are those kinds of

         18  communication issues. What we try to do is

         19  communicate what we know to the appropriate agencies

         20  as soon as we know it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: But, Mr.

         22  Chairman, on Monday you said that four to five

         23  cables went out and who did you inform of that?

         24  Because that was an indication that there was

         25  imminent danger and there was a possibility of an
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          2  imminent shut-off of power when you have this level

          3  of situation; who did you inform at that point?

          4                 CHAIR McGRATH: We informed the City

          5  agencies when we lost feeders, and if we have

          6  concern.

          7                 Now we have feeders go in and out all

          8  the time, you know, it is normal, you know we have

          9  89,000 miles of these feeders out there, it is a

         10  problem when you get into multiple contingencies at

         11  peak load. So it is not necessarily a problem when

         12  the load is not high, it is a problem when there is

         13  peak loads.

         14                 So, Tuesday morning when it became

         15  really clear that we are going into really peak

         16  loads with these feeders out, that was communicated

         17  in all kinds of ways. It was communicated to the

         18  media by us, it was communicated to the City

         19  agencies.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         21  you, Mr. McGrath.

         22                 Council Member Michels. Please limit

         23  your questions, members, there are a lot of Council

         24  members who want to ask questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: First of all,
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          2  to follow up on one of the questions that the

          3  Speaker had, and one of the questions that I have

          4  is, do you have liability insurance? Is there any

          5  insurance that can cover some of these losses?

          6                 CHAIR McGRATH: I am not familiar with

          7  our coverage on it, but we have insurance obviously,

          8  yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are not a

         10  self-insurer. In other words, if you have to pay out

         11  some money you are going to be compensated with

         12  insurance?

         13                 CHAIR McGRATH: Not necessarily. We

         14  have pretty high deductibles.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It may be,

         16  but you may meet these deductibles here. There is

         17  another source of funds to compensate the people, so

         18  I would like very much if you could give us some

         19  detail on that, if not today some other time, as to

         20  what your coverage is of liability insurance and how

         21  much we can expect from that insurance. I think that

         22  is important for people to know.

         23                 Now, the other thing is, I was

         24  listening to you very carefully, and I don't want to

         25  repeat any of the things that Mr. Linares said, with
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          2  respect to the feeder cables, but also I looked at

          3  that volt power system map that you had up here, and

          4  it seems that we are one of the biggest areas per

          5  network, and perhaps what we should be exploring is

          6  to whether or not we meet the criteria to have

          7  another network put into Northern Manhattan, and

          8  that --

          9                 CHAIR McGRATH: That is always

         10  explored of course.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, I am

         12  going to find out the criteria. How do you determine

         13  when you need another network? Because I see

         14  downtown, in the downtown area -- John, why don't

         15  you hold up that system so people can see --

         16  downtown you have many of the -- I see you have 32

         17  networks, the bulk of them are below 96th Street.

         18                 CHAIR McGRATH: Right. If instead of

         19  geographic area, if these networks were proportioned

         20  to load --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am not

         22  claiming it should be geographic, it should be based

         23  on need and the criterion that you have.

         24                 The question in my mind is whether or

         25  not you kept up with the huge population change, and
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          2  you know, I was born in Washington Heights and

          3  Inwood and I have lived there all of my life, and I

          4  have seen a huge population change. Our schools are

          5  the most overcrowded schools in the City, and these

          6  are people who stay, they don't go away this summer,

          7  and I am talking about people of all areas in west

          8  of Broadway, east of Broadway, and it is a mixed

          9  population, it is not only minority people, there

         10  are also quite a substantial middle class community

         11  up there too. And I understand one of them is the

         12  Park Terrace area, which is more middle class

         13  housing area, they were out for three days; is that

         14  true?

         15                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes, there was a

         16  network problem within the Washington Heights

         17  Network, there was a secondary problem. One of the

         18  concerns we had, and the reason we shut the whole

         19  network down later on was that is the kind of

         20  problem you can experience that can do long-term

         21  damage if the primary system --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So, some

         23  places didn't come in in 19 hours, they came in in

         24  three days, a total of three days, which really is a

         25  real problem.
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          2                 Now, I am also interested in your

          3  testimony as to when you informed the City to what

          4  was going on.

          5                 As I understand it, your first

          6  knowledge that the City had was actually Friday

          7  before the Tuesday of the blackout, that was the

          8  first contact you had with the City, from what your

          9  testimony was.

         10                 CHAIR McGRATH: I believe that is

         11  true. In terms of hot weather is coming up, we are

         12  going into a hot weekend, we should experience high

         13  loads, et cetera.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So the City

         15  was aware there was a potential problem then?

         16                 CHAIR McGRATH: The City knew the

         17  weather was coming too, and they set up their own

         18  command post and their command center Tuesday

         19  morning.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And then the

         21  next contact was Sunday, we had conference calls.

         22                 CHAIR McGRATH: That's correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And then

         24  Monday and Tuesday, so there was quite a bit of

         25  knowledge, and I am just wondering, and I am going
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          2  to ask these questions of the City, is whether or

          3  not the City really acted properly in informing the

          4  people and doing what had to happen here, instead of

          5  just coming up after the fact and yelling and

          6  screaming their heads off about it. And I think we

          7  have certain duties and responsibilities that we

          8  expect from Con Ed, but we also have some duties and

          9  responsibilities of the City of New York in reacting

         10  to this thing.

         11                 CHAIR McGRATH: You know, we work with

         12  the City emergency agencies, they are absolutely

         13  splendid, absolutely splendid to city emergency --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, at the

         15  time it happened, but I am questioning whether or

         16  not the City informs the people who have a much

         17  greater capability of informing the people of this

         18  area than you do as to what happened here.

         19                 If they knew as early as Friday there

         20  was a potential problem, people should have been

         21  made aware of it. But I am going to explore that

         22  further.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         24  Member Freed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 Yes, I represent part of the Lower

          4  East Side, including the Cooper Square area, and I

          5  have to tell you, I found out about the problems on

          6  New York 1. I didn't get notified. I didn't get

          7  notified, my office didn't get notified by Con Ed,

          8  we didn't get notified by the City, and many of the

          9  people that I have spoken to in my district had no

         10  inkling of what was going to happen, and

         11  coincidently, it is also overwhelming, the community

         12  of color, low-income community, a lot of seniors.

         13  And the seniors were really problems. I mean, I have

         14  buildings that are NORC, Naturally Occurring

         15  Retirement Communities, and they were terrified

         16  because they got no notice at all, in fact a lot of

         17  them found out on New York 1 if the electricity

         18  wasn't out completely but we had buildings where

         19  they had some electricity but the elevators were

         20  out. So, they were stuck in their apartments and

         21  they didn't get proper notice, and they were

         22  terrified. And they were very hard to get a hold of.

         23                 I also have hospitals, and

         24  particularly large clinics downtown that have told

         25  me that they never got notified and all of a sudden
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          2  they were in the middle of a brownout and they

          3  didn't know it was coming.

          4                 Also, the fire that occurred that

          5  apparently caused the problems downtown, was

          6  directly across from PS 20, they had summer school

          7  and they were very concerned about the fumes that

          8  continued for days, even after the fire was

          9  apparently out, but they still were getting fumes

         10  from that substation, and I had very worried parents

         11  and teachers and staff contacting my office saying,

         12  is it dangerous? What is in there? Is it a problem?

         13                 And then the last question is,

         14  because we have so many of the MTA lines that run

         15  through there, when they did go down we also had a

         16  massive problem with the number of cars that were

         17  stuck underground and responding to that. So, I

         18  would like to hear at least a little bit about

         19  exactly what happened as far as letting us know

         20  downtown that this was a possibility and when people

         21  were notified?  And I would just like to point out

         22  that those of us who are in the City Council are

         23  also elected officials and we also take our

         24  responsibilities to this City very seriously, and we

         25  would like to be notified because we are going to
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          2  get called and we are going to get questions from

          3  our citizens, and in many cases if you talk to us,

          4  we know exactly where you are going to have problems

          5  and which populations you should be trying to get

          6  to.

          7                 And then last, but not least, I have

          8  the same problem, if you look at the Cooper Square

          9  area, it is a very large area, and clearly, just

         10  like Washington Heights, the population has

         11  increased substantially, the use has increased

         12  substantially, we have a lot of cable ready

         13  residential buildings, as well as office buildings

         14  going into that area as well, we need an additional

         15  network.

         16                 CHAIR McGRATH: Okay, thank you.

         17                 On Cooper Square network we had two

         18  feeders out at the time that the Transit Authority

         19  rectifier station caught on fire, that shut down

         20  three additional feeders and disabled one of the two

         21  that was out, requiring further repairs on it. So

         22  got into a problem there where we could handle the

         23  whole network in general, but because the secondary

         24  system, the power wasn't being distributed uniformly

         25  to the secondary underlying system I described
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          2  earlier, there were areas along the East Side there

          3  that had power problems, voltage problems, loss of

          4  power problems. That was communicated the way I

          5  described earlier. You heard it on mass media, we

          6  communicated through those, we tried to get the

          7  community groups and the representatives --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: But you never

          9  contacted my office.

         10                 CHAIR McGRATH: I am sorry for that. I

         11  will see why we didn't do that. Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: We have a

         13  responsibility as well --

         14                 CHAIR McGRATH: I understand.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: -- When we get

         16  calls.

         17                 CHAIR McGRATH: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And I guarantee

         19  you, we had NYCHA projects that were down completely

         20  and they are mostly high-rises, and we get people

         21  stuck up there and we ultimately did outreach to try

         22  and find out what was happening, but when I spoke to

         23  some of my clinics, they said they never heard

         24  anything. And it was a complete surprise to most of

         25  the residents downtown when they were either in a
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          2  major brownout, which meant that they didn't have

          3  elevator service, and some of them were completely

          4  blacked out and there was basically no outreach.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          6  you, Council Member.

          7                 Council Member Lopez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you for

          9  being here. You are part of my community, you are in

         10  my district. I personally think that you are a good

         11  company, and that is my opinion about Con Edison.

         12  But it is very difficult for me to explain to my

         13  community how they can be without light and

         14  electricity when they host one of the biggest plans

         15  you have and you also have your main important

         16  administrative office in my district, and they were

         17  very puzzled by not being able to have the

         18  electricity when that big, huge, humungous plant is

         19  rig there. And we enjoy the benefits of what that

         20  plant produced, but we didn't enjoy the electricity

         21  and that makes it a little bit difficult.

         22                 Then I have three questions for you

         23  that are very simple. The first one is, you

         24  mentioned that the cost of the damage to the cables

         25  that was done through this is going to be covered by
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          2  your company. I want to know who is going to cover

          3  the monies that were going to be paid, or the monies

          4  that are being lost in regard to the consumers and

          5  to the business people; who is going to pay for

          6  that? Are you planning to put an increase on the

          7  prices that people are going to pay for electricity?

          8  How is going to pay for that and where is the money

          9  going to come from? From your pocket?

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Ask all

         11  three questions, Council Member, and then he can

         12  answer them.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, no. That is

         14  a specific question. I want to know from where the

         15  money is going to come to pay for the monies that

         16  people lost and the monies that the business people

         17  lost. From where?

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You said

         19  you had three questions.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The second

         21  question is, who decided to shut down the boiler in

         22  the projects? Was it you? Was it the Administration?

         23  Of the NYCHA Projects, who was it? With who did you

         24  speak to make that decision? Did you have anything

         25  to do with shutting down those boilers, in all of
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          2  the projects in my community and in the other

          3  communities, where people were without hot water for

          4  a long, long time?

          5                 And the last question, with who did

          6  you speak in the Administration, with the Mayor of

          7  this City, to notify them that this disaster was

          8  coming? When did you talk to them? What time? What

          9  date? The name of the person? And how much

         10  notification you gave them?

         11                 CHAIR McGRATH: Okay, starting with

         12  the first question on the cost. We have in our

         13  tariff a -- let me back up a little bit further.

         14  This isn't the first outage of Consolidated Edison,

         15  it is not the first outage of the United States of

         16  America of a power system and it is not the first

         17  outage in the world of power systems. As a matter of

         18  fact, we have fewer than anybody else has.

         19                 Over the years the courts, the

         20  regulators, the legislators have dealt with this

         21  problem. We have had, as you know, systemwide

         22  blackouts here in New York City and seven states out

         23  west not too long ago. So, this is not a new thing

         24  that has just suddenly been discovered.

         25                 In our case, what we have is that a
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          2  customer who is out for more than 12 hours, a

          3  residential customer more than 12 hours, who

          4  demonstrates they have food spoilage, can apply to

          5  us saying I lost such and such and such and such,

          6  and by the way we had thousands of those already we

          7  have paid, I believe already paid maybe a thousand

          8  of those back out, you know, it is a paperwork

          9  process, of a $100 claim for residential and a

         10  $2,000 claim for commercial.

         11                 Those dollars would come out of Con

         12  Edison, because we, again, don't have a rate case

         13  pending here. We have no other source of funds so it

         14  comes out of us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But you are not

         16  planning later to put an increase in the electricity

         17  prices in order to cover the loss of that money that

         18  you are going to have?

         19                 CHAIR McGRATH: I am not planning to

         20  do that. I am not planning to do that. You said I am

         21  planning to do that? I am not planning to do that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am asking

         23  you. I want to hear you on the record stating to us

         24  that the monies are not going to come later from the

         25  consumers of the Con Edison Company.
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          2                 CHAIR McGRATH: That's correct.

          3                 The second, who decided to shut down

          4  the boilers in the projects, the housing projects.

          5  We notified our customers, including the Housing

          6  Authority when we had problems in the area as we did

          7  in this Council Member's district, to conserve

          8  energy where it could be conserved.

          9                 We don't prescribe how that is done,

         10  we just make an appeal, a general appeal, don't use

         11  unnecessary energy. We do not prescribe how to go

         12  about doing that because we don't know in our cases

         13  what the significance of any particular action is.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then you did

         15  not recommend it, or you did not instruct NYCHA to

         16  shut down the boilers in the projects?

         17                 CHAIR McGRATH: No, we did not.

         18                 The third, I went through the

         19  communication I believe earlier, who we notified OEM

         20  whatever times. I think I have been through that a

         21  few times, Council Member.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay,

         23  thank you.

         24                 Council Member DiBrienza.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman.

          3                 I have several areas, and let me see

          4  if I can clear up some things in my own mind. The 14

          5  cables that make up the Washington Heights Grid, is

          6  it correct that they must be designed to carry a

          7  load in excess of 100 percent of your forecasted

          8  maximum use? That is how they are designed, they

          9  have to be able to withstand more than 100 percent?

         10                 CHAIR McGRATH: Yes. They can, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Now, that

         12  is true for every grid or every cable and every grid

         13  in the City; is that correct?

         14                 CHAIR McGRATH: That's correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: All right.

         16                 Now, what amount above 100 percent

         17  were the 14 cables in Washington Heights designed to

         18  accommodate? Five percent, ten percent, 72 percent?

         19                 CHAIR McGRATH: You are asking me an

         20  engineering question I am not really qualified to

         21  answer, but I would say it is north of ten percent.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Okay, north

         23  of ten percent.

         24                 And the question, is that same

         25  percentage, if you will, upside potential, is that
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          2  the same for every cable and every network

          3  throughout the City?

          4                 CHAIR McGRATH: I can't say for every

          5  cable, every network, but as a general kind of

          6  criteria I believe that is true.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: And then

          8  when you determine that, what is it based on? Is it

          9  based on the highest use each year? Does it ever

         10  change? Do those numbers constantly change? Is that

         11  based on the capacity five years ago, and meanwhile

         12  as my colleague said, thousands upon tens of

         13  thousands more people, more usage, how does that

         14  continually renew itself?

         15                 CHAIR McGRATH: Let me go back to what

         16  the engineer's, the design problem is when he

         17  designs his cable, or a feeder.

         18                 The main concern an engineer has in

         19  designing a feeder is how the feeder gets cooled.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right.

         21                 CHAIR McGRATH: Because if the

         22  insulation gets too hot it deteriorates and can

         23  fail, and these primary feeders are at 13,800 volts.

         24                 There are three fundamental criteria

         25  that the engineer looks at. One is the soil ambient
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          2  temperature surrounding the feeder in the ground.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right.

          4                 CHAIR McGRATH: Obviously if that

          5  temperature is hotter, the ability to carry away

          6  heat is diminished.

          7                 The second criteria is the soil

          8  resistivity. Resistivity is kind of a measure of the

          9  dryness of the soil. Dry soil is more of an

         10  insulator than a conductor.

         11                 And the third criterion is the load

         12  shape that that particular feeder will be called on

         13  to handle.

         14                 We have commercial networks, we have

         15  residential networks and we have all different

         16  combinations and permutations.

         17                 For example, Sheraton Square Network

         18  is a commercial network. If you looked at the load

         19  on that network in a 24-hour period during a

         20  hotspell, eight o'clock in the morning it would go

         21  up, 5:00 at night it would come down and everybody

         22  would go home.

         23                 If you look at Washington Heights it

         24  is a residential network. The load comes up around

         25  10:00, 11:00 in the morning, and stays up close to
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          2  11:00 at night.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right.

          4                 CHAIR McGRATH: To the extent that the

          5  feeders are up high loads longer periods, their

          6  ability to cool down in the off hours is diminished

          7  and the engineer factors that also into the

          8  equation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right.

         10                 And that is fine, but I am trying to

         11  understand whether the forecast for demand was not

         12  predicted properly, or whether the cables were too

         13  old --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Your last

         15  question, Council Member.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: -- And

         17  needed to be replaced.

         18                 In other words, besides just the raw

         19  heat there was something that caused first one, then

         20  two, then three, then four, then six, I copied down

         21  all of your numbers and ultimately eight cables were

         22  out.

         23                 CHAIR McGRATH: Let me try to answer

         24  that quickly, if I can.

         25                 Basically our overall criteria, we
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          2  looked at the weather over a 45-year period, we look

          3  at the worst combination of three years, one of

          4  three years could be the worst. That is more

          5  conservative than any other design criteria around,

          6  and we then design the system to deal with that

          7  issue.

          8                 As far as the multiple cables, how

          9  come six, seven, eight cables - when you get past

         10  two or three or four cables, the operator is faced

         11  with a dilemma, he does not, I mentioned earlier, he

         12  does not want to shut down the network. He does not

         13  want to shut down a network. He allows the remaining

         14  cables to be overloaded beyond what we would like,

         15  to the point where he says I can't go any further or

         16  there is going to be long-term damage.

         17                 So, you know, after the first couple

         18  of feeders, the reason that more feeders failed has

         19  somewhat to do with the fact that they were severely

         20  overloaded for that period of time, and then the

         21  operator said I can't go any further on this or I

         22  will have long-term damage.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Now are

         24  they all being replaced?

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank
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          2  you, Council member.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: The 14, do

          4  they have to be replaced?

          5                 CHAIR McGRATH: Not replaced. They

          6  have to be repaired, and they are in the process --

          7  we have got most of them repaired, we have got other

          8  pieces in the system we have got to put back

          9  together there, that is all ongoing now.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         11  Member Fiala.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 I thank the Speaker for holding this

         15  important hearing. Chairman McGrath, I will ask

         16  three questions and then let you answer.

         17                 In layman's terms, because I, myself,

         18  am not an engineer and I have trouble like the

         19  viewers do in understanding all of this, but as I

         20  understand it, demand for energy outpaced the

         21  supply, and in reading -- I am hearing no -- in

         22  reading through the newspapers, and this is why I am

         23  asking for clarification, I read that you had

         24  forecasted X and allowed for 18 percent above, and

         25  your roughly use 17 percent above and beyond what
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          2  you had forecasted.

          3                 So the first question is, what

          4  changes in your forecasting system have you made?

          5  And what is your confidence level, as the Chairman

          6  of this organization, in meeting the demand for the

          7  rest of this summer and beyond. But in particularly

          8  the short term, because I trust the long-term

          9  ramifications will be studied later on.

         10                 The second question is, I know Staten

         11  Island falls outside of the delivery mechanisms that

         12  the rest of the City has because we have so much of

         13  our cables above ground; are you looking at Staten

         14  Island? And what is your confidence level there that

         15  we will be able to meet the demand?

         16                 In other words, are you doing a

         17  systemwide review in the aftermath of what happened

         18  here in the City?

         19                 And finally, special contingencies

         20  exist in Con Ed to deal with organizations that I

         21  would suggest are very vulnerable customers, namely

         22  hospitals and, you know, homes that house senior

         23  citizens.

         24                 CHAIRMAN McGRATH: Thank you. As far

         25  as demand outstripping supply, that was not the
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          2  problem in this case. Although the peak came in

          3  higher than we forecasted, we had forecasted a peak

          4  load of 11,650 megawatts for our service territory,

          5  the actual came in at 11,850 megawatts. It would

          6  have been a little higher than that, had it not been

          7  for voltage reduction. The load came in higher than

          8  the forecast, but there were sufficient supply, back

          9  to my reservoir system analogy earlier, to deal with

         10  that issue.

         11                 What we do in our forecasting as we

         12  look at each summer, as I mentioned earlier, we get

         13  each feeder at its peak, what it actually was, and

         14  then we go back into our computer models, relook at

         15  the system, relook at what is going to happen in

         16  growth and economic development, et cetera,

         17  demographics, for the next year, and then we factor

         18  in that for our capital and expense programs through

         19  the winter period to be prepared for the next peak

         20  period.

         21                 Staten Island, we looked at Staten

         22  Island, as we do with all of our areas, there is a

         23  systemwide review and we look at all aspects of

         24  that.

         25                 Special contingencies, we attempt to
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          2  be involved -- at one level we have a system for

          3  identifying life-sustaining equipment, a customer

          4  who is life-dependent on energy, we have those

          5  customers, we know who they are, where they are, and

          6  first we go and take care of those, get the Police

          7  Department to take care of those or whatever, so we

          8  have those lists.

          9                 And then we, you know, obviously try

         10  to work with our various organizations in the

         11  community and work closely, for example, with

         12  hospitals and whatever, some, many emergency

         13  hospitals would have had their own generators, we

         14  try to get involved with that process too.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, I

         16  want to acknowledge the presence of Council Member

         17  Howard Lasher, a member of this Committee, and we

         18  have two more members who have requested an

         19  opportunity to ask questions of Con Ed, and that is

         20  Council Member Robinson, followed by Council Member

         21  Boyland.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And then, just to

         25  make it clear, Mr. Chairman, I know you have to get
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          2  to the Public Service Commission, and that will

          3  conclude it only for today, and we will have these

          4  other questions that the Council Members have asked,

          5  we will compile them for you, and we will ask you to

          6  respond to some of the very important answers we

          7  still have to get.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Speaker,

          9  is there any way someone can remain to answer some

         10  of these questions?

         11                 SPEAKER VALLONE: The Chairperson has

         12  to leave but we have others.  The Administration

         13  still has to testify and we have some others.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What I am

         15  saying is can anybody from Con Ed remain so we can

         16  still ask them some questions?

         17                 CHAIR McGRATH: One of the things that

         18  we are working on is trying to make sure that we are

         19  ready for the upcoming hotspells, all of us are

         20  concerned with that, so I need to take the technical

         21  people with me and continue working on this.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We have some

         23  very vital questions that we didn't ask.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You will

         25  get an opportunity.
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          2                 Council Member Robinson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

          4  very much, Chairman Spigner, Council Member Vallone

          5  and my colleagues.

          6                 '66, '77 and '99 spell out the years

          7  that I was involved in black outs in New York City,

          8  and --

          9                 CHAIR McGRATH: It was '65.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: I am sorry?

         11                 CHAIR McGRATH: It was '65.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Okay, it was

         13  '65? Okay, '65, '77, '99, okay I missed the year.

         14                 I certainly want to share the

         15  concerns of my colleagues that have already been

         16  expressed, but I also want to ask a question in

         17  terms of your protocol, in terms of making the

         18  people aware of what is happening, if there is a

         19  potential outage, as they call it. And I think a

         20  protocol needs to develop. If you have not developed

         21  it already, that a protocol needs to be developed

         22  where we as partners in government, the New York

         23  City Council, I think that we are the closest people

         24  on the ground. Even though you have the Office of

         25  Emergency Services, but we are on the ground, and I
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          2  think that has been said more than one time here,

          3  that the New York City Council members need to be

          4  contacted, because we are the people that they call

          5  in an emergency situation. People don' usually call

          6  City Hall, they usually call us to make us aware.

          7                 And then of course in terms of that

          8  protocol, I think that all of the institutions that

          9  fall into a particular network, in terms of the

         10  hospitals, the senior citizens residences and

         11  schools, et cetera, they also need to be part of

         12  that protocol when you begin to consider that.

         13                 The other thing I want to say is that

         14  in terms of when there is a potential outage, it has

         15  been -- what I have seen so far, what I have

         16  experienced so far is that usually there is

         17  something that runs across the television that says

         18  that there is a potential storm coming or there is

         19  going to be a hurricane and usually that is how

         20  people are usually made aware of that, and when they

         21  begin to see that hours in advance of the

         22  possibility, people begin to prepare.

         23                 I know that when it comes on the

         24  television and it says there is going to be a

         25  possible snow storm, I immediately go out to the
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          2  store and begin to prepare. I bring in certain kind

          3  of provisions so that I know that if I am going to

          4  be stuck in the house, that I am going to have

          5  certain kind of things to accommodate my family. And

          6  likewise, I think that had some kind of public

          7  service announcement come across that way, that

          8  people could have prepared themselves, they could

          9  have gone to other places where they would be closer

         10  to the ground as what has been experienced here

         11  today or discussed here today in terms of people

         12  walking up 11 flights of stairs in that grilling

         13  heat and so on and so forth. I think that we have to

         14  begin to look at it differently. Things have changed

         15  and I know that as we change, we must change in

         16  terms of how we do things. So, I am recommending

         17  that you look at the protocol and also consider

         18  doing your announcements differently.  New York City

         19  Council, public service announcements, and those

         20  kinds of things.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         23  you, Council Member Robinson.

         24                 Council Member Boyland.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 I just have a few questions. In terms

          4  of your feeders, you said that problems in the

          5  Washington Heights area happened because the feeders

          6  caught on fire. What precautionary methods, and this

          7  is to piggy-back, I think Steve asked this question,

          8  what precautionary measures are you using to prevent

          9  these fires?

         10                 And, two, you said that in Lower

         11  Manhattan, there are more networks, the load is

         12  greater, therefore it causes more problems. Now, we

         13  had heard there might be a fear that in Williamsburg

         14  we thought we heard in Brownsville, which is the

         15  community that I represent, might have this problem;

         16  can you possibly give us the numbers and provide us

         17  with, you know, some information in terms of us

         18  being prepared in case this might happen?

         19                 And the last question is, the repairs

         20  of the feeders, what are some of the lifespans of

         21  these feeders? Are they repaired often, are the

         22  cables in Manhattan older than they are in Brooklyn,

         23  are they older than they are in Queens? How often do

         24  you have people go and check to see the lifespan of

         25  these cables?
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          2                 CHAIR McGRATH: Okay, on the first

          3  question on the feeders that caught fire, there was

          4  only one fire, and that was associated with

          5  switching a feeder at a substation at Sherman Creek,

          6  that was kind of the point at which the operators

          7  decided they had to shut the network down or risk

          8  longer term damage.

          9                 All of the other feeders didn't catch

         10  on fire, I mean they fault. You know, there is an

         11  arch as they go to ground, the fire I was referring

         12  to had to do with that one switch that went in the

         13  Sherman Creek Substation.

         14                 We can give you the numbers, I don't

         15  have them, but we can give you the numbers on the

         16  Lower Manhattan feeders and the numbers of feeders

         17  and that kind of thing.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: And Brooklyn

         19  as well.

         20                 CHAIR McGRATH: Brooklyn as well.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: You thought

         22  there was a fear in Williamsburg and we had thought

         23  Brownsville might be coming --

         24                 CHAIRMAN McGRATH: We have, as I

         25  mentioned, approximately 90,000 miles of cables in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  the ground. So, as you can imagine, it is like the

          3  water system, we are constantly renewing and so we

          4  have feeders that stand well over 40 years old to

          5  some that are brand new. And the way we do that is

          6  we look at a new network --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: You said the

          8  lifespan of the cables are?

          9                 CHAIR McGRATH: Well, it can be 60, 80

         10  years. It could be. But we have a mix of cables from

         11  brand new to very old.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         13  McGrath.

         14                 Would you instruct some of your staff

         15  to remain in the event that there is some unique bit

         16  of information that is directed at your office?

         17                 CHAIRMAN McGRATH: I will do that.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER:  And

         19  there is some information they may learn from other

         20  witnesses who will be testifying.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Can we ask

         22  the staff some more questions?

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes,

         24  after. Right now we are going to have Dr. William A.

         25  Pole --
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          2                 CHAIR McGRATH: Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: -- Of

          4  Columbia University. Columbia University Medical

          5  Center, and any staff persons that you wish to have

          6  join you at the table.

          7                 Sir, would you identify yourself, and

          8  we would be happy to have your testimony on your

          9  experience in this last episode.

         10                 MR. O'QUINN: Certainly. My name is

         11  Marvin O'Quinn, Mr. Chariman. I was the Senior

         12  Administrator on duty at the Columbia Presbyterian

         13  Medical Center throughout the entire outage. I am

         14  accompanied to my right, Dr. Steve Corwin, the Chief

         15  Medical Officer at Columbia Presbyterian, and Cesar

         16  Perales, who is the Senior Vice President there.

         17                 As you know, we are part of the New

         18  York Hospital, Presbyterian Hospital, which is a

         19  2,200-bed hospital facility, and we have the

         20  Columbia Presbyterian Center, which has two

         21  hospitals in the Washington Heights area, the Allen

         22  Pavilion and Columbia Presbyterian Center.

         23                 I want to thank you for the

         24  opportunity to describe the impact of last week's

         25  loss of electrical power, and what impact it had on
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          2  our final services at the hospital.

          3                 Before going into detail, let me

          4  thank our local Councilman, Councilman Linares and

          5  Michels, who have shown continued support and

          6  concern for our patients and staff for during this

          7  difficult time.

          8                 And what I would like to do is

          9  proceed in a chronological order in terms of events

         10  so you can see the impact on us as we go along and

         11  how we attempted to respond to it and then I will

         12  summarize with some of the interesting statistics in

         13  terms of what the impact was on patient care,

         14  inconvenience and so forth, to our management and to

         15  the patients, but more particularly to our patients

         16  and the community.

         17                 I want to go back and begin on July

         18  2nd, because this is really when it also began for

         19  us. And please be aware that many of these times are

         20  approximate, as best as we can estimate when these

         21  things actually occurred.

         22                 But around 10:00 a.m. on Friday, July

         23  2nd, we were informed by Con Edison that they had

         24  lost some feeders in the area, there was a potential

         25  to lose power, they asked us to reduce our load by
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          2  turning on our emergency generators, which we did.

          3                 Con Ed was still supplying us with

          4  some power, so we were able to operate as normal,

          5  but as a precaution, we decided to cancel remaining

          6  elected surgeries for that day. This was on the

          7  Columbian Presbyterian Campus.

          8                 By 4:00 p.m. that evening, we were

          9  back on normal power and we proceeded really through

         10  the weekend and through the holiday with no

         11  interruptions of service.

         12                 Coming back now to Tuesday, at about

         13  6:30 in the morning on Tuesday, the Allen Pavilion,

         14  which is our community hospital on 219th Street and

         15  Broadway, they were informed that Con Ed was

         16  experiencing power problems. They were asked to turn

         17  on their emergency generators to help them shed some

         18  load, the demand from Con Ed.

         19                 However, at 10:30 the Allen Pavilion

         20  lost all power from Con Ed and had to go 100 percent

         21  onto emergency generators which only support life

         22  safety and critical medical equipment.

         23                 As a consequence, all elective

         24  procedures, all outpatient visits and surgeries were

         25  effectively canceled, which included C-Sections for
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          2  moms delivering babies.

          3                 At 11:00 a.m. now, Con Ed asked the

          4  Columbia Presbyterian Center, which is our main

          5  campus up on 168th Street, which we share with

          6  Columbia University, they asked us to go on to our

          7  electrical generators to help them shed load again

          8  and reduce demand from the system. And, again, as a

          9  precaution, because of the concern we decided at

         10  that point to again terminate or stop all elected

         11  surgeries, and we began to mentally prepare for what

         12  we thought might be an emergency situation later in

         13  the day.

         14                 At 10:00 p.m. that night, we lost all

         15  power to the campus. We were now being supplied only

         16  by our five internal emergency generators, which,

         17  again, supply only vital medical equipment, and life

         18  safety types of issues, but it does not supply our

         19  air conditioning system and so we had no cooling for

         20  the campus.

         21                 Moving on to Wednesday morning, about

         22  4:00 a.m. in the morning, we had no indication at

         23  that time when power would be restored to us. There

         24  was no evidence to us that we were going to get

         25  power restored by the morning so that we could run a
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          2  normal day and so management decided at about 4:30

          3  in the morning that we were going to cancel all

          4  non-emergency services for Wednesday. And so we

          5  canceled elective surgeries, we canceled all of our

          6  clinics, and we asked the physicians to close their

          7  private offices for that day.

          8                 During this morning, and on into

          9  early afternoon, again on Wednesday, we received

         10  several messages from Con Ed that power would be

         11  restored later in the day. Each method that we

         12  received pushed the time frame back a few hours.

         13                 We were not aware at that time that a

         14  decision was being made or was going to be made that

         15  the hospital would not be brought up along with the

         16  rest of the community. So we were proceeding along a

         17  line that we thought would be coming back up on main

         18  power at some point in the near future.

         19                 However, after a meeting between the

         20  Mayor's Office of Emergency Management and Con Ed,

         21  we were informed that Con Ed expected to have power

         22  restored to us by 4:00 a.m. on Thursday morning.

         23                 However, when 4:00 a.m. arrived on

         24  Thursday morning, we had staff in place to begin a

         25  normal day, but we did not receive any official

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  communication from Con Ed. We asked the Mayor's

          3  Office for help, they arranged a meeting with us and

          4  Con Ed's representatives at 6:00 a.m. that morning.

          5  So as a consequence, what we thought was going to

          6  happen Thursday morning did not, and therefore we

          7  were not prepared for another day without full

          8  power.

          9                 So, at that 6:00 a.m. meeting between

         10  Con Ed and the Mayor's Office, we expressed our

         11  strong concerns about having to face another day

         12  without power and the potential deleterious effect

         13  on our patients.

         14                 However, by this time we had received

         15  some additional street generators that were brought

         16  in Con Ed to help us with some of our issues inside

         17  the hospital.

         18                 It was at this time that we began to

         19  come aware of the real serious nature of the problem

         20  that Con Ed was having and some of the reasons why

         21  we had not been brought back on full power.

         22                 However, at 6:30 the Allen Pavilion

         23  was brought back up to power, but the Millstein

         24  Campus at the Columbia Presbyterian Campus was still

         25  down. This was on Thursday.
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          2                 At 10:30 that morning, Con Ed

          3  presented a plan to bring our campus back up to

          4  power to our management team and our elite

          5  physicians. And by late afternoon power had been

          6  restored to the main hospital building, which is the

          7  Millstein Hospital, and we worked out a plan with

          8  Con Ed to begin bringing back power to the remainder

          9  of the campus.

         10                 On Friday, July 9th, throughout the

         11  day we systematically brought back building by

         12  building back to full power on the campus, and by

         13  7:00 p.m. Friday evening the campus was restored to

         14  full power.

         15                 Of course by that time we had already

         16  again cancelled all elective surgeries, all clinics,

         17  all doctors' offices for the most part, and all

         18  major procedures and so forth during that day.

         19                 So, basically from Tuesday on the

         20  hospital basically operated on emergency power only

         21  and only managed to take care of inpatients. No

         22  outpatient work was being done, no surgeries were

         23  being done as a precaution, and also because we

         24  couldn't operate under those circumstances.

         25                 In summary, we made it through really
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          2  four difficult days. No patient lost his or her life

          3  as a result of this experience, but primarily

          4  because of the work the management team did in

          5  preventing this danger from touching our patients.

          6                 We cannot minimize, however, the

          7  physical and psychological affects on countless

          8  patients and their families as a result of this

          9  outage. In order to protect our patients from the

         10  potential danger of the outage, we had to severely

         11  curtail our services.

         12                 Approximately 7,200 visits by

         13  patients to their physicians were canceled. Some 500

         14  surgeries and 800 other medical procedures were also

         15  canceled.

         16                 Certainly important tests were

         17  delayed and some not done. We only performed

         18  emergency surgeries. From Tuesday night until Friday

         19  evening, our emergency room was on diversion. What

         20  this means is that the City ambulance system could

         21  not bring patients to our hospital because for fear

         22  that we would not be able to take care of them.

         23                 Clearly this has severely diminished

         24  our ability to serve our community.

         25                 Whenever possible, emergency
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          2  surgeries which have to be performed because they

          3  are life-threatening by their very nature, were

          4  transferred from the Columbia Presbyterian Campus at

          5  168th Street to our New York Hospital campus on 68th

          6  Street.

          7                 We had to close our heart

          8  catheterization lab, causing 45 patients to have

          9  their procedures delayed. Some five catheterizations

         10  which could not be delayed were transferred again to

         11  our New York Hospital campus.

         12                 All of our endoscopic and

         13  bronchoscopic procedures were also cancelled. We had

         14  to transfer a kidney transplant patient to the New

         15  York campus along with the surgical team because we

         16  could not do that case.

         17                 So, as you can see, a number of our

         18  very ill patients had to endure less than ideal

         19  physical conditions, including very high ambient air

         20  temperatures within the building, cold food and the

         21  psychological stress of not knowing what is

         22  happening and when it was going to end.

         23                 Our patients had to suffer having

         24  their procedures and tests delayed, as well as we

         25  tried to reassure our patients and keep them
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          2  informed, we had really only limited information

          3  until late into this process, therefore there was

          4  much uncertainty amongst our management team and

          5  amongst our physicians.

          6                 I want to stress that we can quote to

          7  you, you know, numbers in terms of how many tests

          8  were postponed, and how many physicians had to close

          9  their offices, the psychological issue here is that

         10  we are a regional and national trauma center,

         11  national referral center. We have received patients

         12  from all over the country and we serve the

         13  Washington Heights community through emergency room

         14  and through our clinics.

         15                 And I should also mention that all of

         16  our freestanding ambulatory care clinics out in the

         17  community were also closed for at least one day.

         18                 The problem you have here is that

         19  people come to us and they are very ill and they are

         20  under very stressful situations as it is. If you are

         21  coming to a hospital because you have cancer or

         22  because you have a heart problem or because you have

         23  a bowel problem or these kinds of issues and we

         24  can't serve you in our normal way, the amount of

         25  stress that the family already feels is now
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          2  quadrupled because of what is happening to them. And

          3  people are very anxious when they are in the

          4  hospital, family members are also very anxious. So

          5  when you have this kind of circumstance, it simply

          6  doubles or quadruples what has already happened to

          7  them.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I think

          9  we all understand and can relate to that. There are

         10  few of us who have escaped too far in life without

         11  being exposed to the stress and trauma and

         12  experience of hospital life.

         13                 Dr. Polf.

         14                 DR. POLF: Thank you. I also would

         15  like to thank our two members of the City Council,

         16  Council Member Linares and Council Member Michels,

         17  who have long represented our community so well, and

         18  also point out that the University Health Sciences

         19  Division shares the campus with the hospital and to

         20  thank them for the cooperation they showed during

         21  this emergency.

         22                 My name is Dr. William A. Polf, the

         23  Deputy Vice President for External Relations at the

         24  Columbia University Health Sciences Division at the

         25  Columbia Medical Center. I am testifying on the
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          2  power outage that affected the Health Sciences

          3  Campus on July 6th, 1999.

          4                 The Health Sciences Division is the

          5  Columbia University component of the Medical Center,

          6  located in Washington Heights at Broadway and 168th

          7  Street.

          8                 The Medical Center consists of an

          9  affiliation between Columbia University and

         10  Presbyterian Hospital, as we once knew it, now of

         11  course it is part of the recently merged New York

         12  Presbyterian Hospital. The Health Sciences Division

         13  consists of the College of Physicians and Surgeons,

         14  the medical school, and the schools of dentistry,

         15  nursing and public health.

         16                 The Health Sciences Division is one

         17  of the leading centers of medical education and

         18  biomedical research in the nation and the world. It

         19  conducts more than $200 million in funded research

         20  annually. The Health Sciences consistently ranks in

         21  the top ten nationally and total federal biomedical

         22  research funding, according to the American

         23  Association of Medical Colleges.

         24                 Columbia is world known for the

         25  caliber and range of its research. It has been the
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          2  discoverer of many path-breaking scientific

          3  achievements leading to new medical treatment. It

          4  conducts research in every type of disease,

          5  including cancer, AIDS, diabetes, heart disease and

          6  a host of others.

          7                 Today Columbia is one of the nation's

          8  top centers of genetic research, which is

          9  revolutionizing the development of medical treatment

         10  and the delivery of health care.

         11                 As the leading scientific center,

         12  Columbia relies heavily on the most modern and

         13  advanced technologies and equipment to conduct

         14  research. The research infrastructure at a top

         15  center of biomedical research such as Columbia is

         16  massive, complex and interdependent. Above all, it

         17  relies upon a consistent and dependable supply of

         18  electrical energy.

         19                 The power outage that occurred at

         20  10:15 p.m. On Tuesday, July 6th, began an intense 65

         21  to 70 hour period of effort to cope with the

         22  emergency.

         23                 Complicating our response was the

         24  inability to get consistent and reliable information

         25  from Con Edison about the anticipated timetable for
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          2  restoring the power supply.

          3                 The restoration of full power still

          4  has not been accomplished as of Thursday, and in

          5  fact it was not until late in the day on Friday,

          6  that all facilities were reconnected to the Con Ed

          7  service grid.

          8                 We also encountered difficulties in

          9  obtaining assistance from Con Edison in locating

         10  emergency back-up generators and it took many hours

         11  for Con Ed crews to be available to connect them.

         12                 Like others in Washington Heights, we

         13  also wondered whether our part of the City received

         14  the appropriate level of attention from Con Ed both

         15  before and during the emergency to ensure a power

         16  supply.

         17                 As of this date, we are still

         18  assessing the extent of the damage caused by the

         19  outage. In a research enterprise of such scope and

         20  complexity it is bound to be significant, setting

         21  back valuable research efforts.

         22                 Loss of stored tissues necessary for

         23  the study of prostate cancer, for instance, which

         24  may have been collected from a wide variety of

         25  patients over a long period of time, may mean that
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          2  the tissue bank will have to be rebuilt from new

          3  sources, resulting in costs and delays.

          4                 Experiments that were dependent upon

          5  carefully maintained sealed environments, as is

          6  needed in incubating new cell lines, for example,

          7  may have to be started over.

          8                 Long-term studies that students have

          9  undertaken for their thesis work may well be set

         10  back, delaying their graduate work and ability to

         11  move forward in their research and their careers.

         12                 The loss of time itself will be major

         13  result of the outage as scientists must work to

         14  reconstruct and replicate the work that was

         15  underway.

         16                 In addition, there was down-time in

         17  dental services and physician office visits, as was

         18  previously stated.

         19                 Many people at institutions suffered

         20  during the power outage. Medical science was also a

         21  victim. Like all of those who were affected and were

         22  concerned about what happened, we hope that

         23  reasonable planning and preparation by the party

         24  responsible for assuring a steady supply of adequate

         25  power, will help prevent a comparable disaster in
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          2  the future.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All

          5  right, Doctor, let me ask you this question: Did you

          6  have back-up equipment at the research facility?

          7                 DR. POLF: We have back-up generators

          8  in most of the research buildings, yes.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay,

         10  there is one other question that I had that I wanted

         11  to ask. Okay, let me move now to Stanley Michels,

         12  followed by Council Member Watkins and followed by

         13  Council Member Linares and Council Member Lopez.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman.

         16                 So, as early as Friday before the

         17  actual blackout, you were informed there was a

         18  problem?

         19                 DR. POLF: Yes, we were.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I can tell

         21  you it was more than the community was informed.

         22                 And they were supposed to turn it on

         23  on Thursday at 10:30, actually the equipment was

         24  supposed to be turned on on Thursday, and it wasn't

         25  turned on. You were in touch with the Mayor's
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          2  Office, you weren't in touch with Con Ed. The Mayor

          3  then arranged you to be in touch with Con Ed.

          4                 DR. CORWIN: That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So, finally a

          6  week later you finally went back on full power.

          7                 DR. CORWIN: Yes, our babies hospital

          8  wasn't up to full power until Friday evening, that's

          9  correct.

         10                 And let me just add, Councilman, that

         11  when we say elective surgeries, we are talking about

         12  surgeries that are scheduled more than 48 hours in

         13  advance. That can include something as simply as a

         14  tonsillectomy, but it also includes things like

         15  complex neurosurgery, heart operations, heart

         16  operations on kids.

         17                 So, not having a surgical schedule

         18  for four days, basically for a week, for our

         19  children, substantially compromised our ability to

         20  deliver care. There is no question about it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are a

         22  major institution, not only in Washington Heights

         23  but in the City of New York, probably in the country

         24  one of the greatest medical institutions in the

         25  world perhaps, and what I am trying to find out is,
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          2  are you satisfied that the City was giving you

          3  enough help and notification and information with

          4  which to operate your hospital?

          5                 MR. O'QUINN: Well, in our command

          6  center, because we basically ran in disaster mode

          7  for the entire week, we had --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Starting

          9  when?

         10                 MR. O'QUINN: Starting Tuesday night,

         11  when we completely lost power, when we set up an

         12  emergency command situation.

         13                 We had members from the Office of

         14  Emergency Management starting on Wednesday who were

         15  there with us.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: With you?

         17                 MR. O'QUINN: Yes. And we didn't get

         18  representatives from Con Ed there with us until

         19  Thursday.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, you are

         21  telling me facts, I want to know, in your opinion,

         22  you guys are running this thing, you are living with

         23  it, do you think that you had sufficient help from

         24  the City? Were they giving you enough information to

         25  be able to do the things you had to do to stop these
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          2  things that you are talking about?

          3                 And second, I am going to ask you

          4  what your economic losses were, and any other losses

          5  you sustained, or whether you figured it out, when

          6  you are going to figure it out, and what your best

          7  estimate is.

          8                 But I want to know, did they give you

          9  enough information? Because we are talking about a

         10  situation that hasn't happened in our area in my

         11  lifetime, except for the great blackout that we had,

         12  and I want to know whether or not they gave you the

         13  sufficient -- and this isn't just for incrimination

         14  purposes, this is for purposes of the future so we

         15  can do the right thing in the future. But what is

         16  your opinion as to whether or not the City, and Con

         17  Ed, or either one, sufficiently informed you, and

         18  then give the economic costs, if you can.

         19                 MR. O'QUINN: We were very pleased

         20  with the support and help that we got from the

         21  Mayor's Office of Emergency Management.

         22                 Where we ran into our most

         23  difficulties, to answer your question specifically,

         24  is we clearly were unaware of the severity of the

         25  problem that Con Ed was dealing with, and we were
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          2  operating somewhat in the dark in terms of not

          3  knowing when we were going to get power restored,

          4  and, therefore, we probably did some things we would

          5  not have done if we had known, had better

          6  information about what actually was happening.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Such as?

          8                 MR. O'QUINN: Such as the fact that we

          9  really weren't going to come back up Thursday night.

         10  Or actually we really were not going to come back

         11  Wednesday --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And when you

         13  did come up, did you get full power or only reduced

         14  voltage, and did that cause any damage to your

         15  equipment?

         16                 MR. O'QUINN: No, when we came back up

         17  it was a systematic, planned process to bring us

         18  back up, and they had already tested out the voltage

         19  level, we were getting 100 percent of what we needed

         20  and it was just a matter of taking up one building

         21  at a time to get us back to full power.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What did the

         23  City do that made you so happy with the City?

         24                 MR. O'QUINN: Well, they were there

         25  with us, they helped us to organize and get our
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          2  structures in place in terms of how we also ran a

          3  command center in relationship to what was also

          4  going on outside. And I will let Steve talk to you

          5  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You didn't

          7  rely on them as the liaison with Con Ed? You had

          8  direct liaison with Con Ed, or did you rely on them

          9  to give you information from Con Ed?

         10                 MR. O'QUINN: We had a direct liaison

         11  with the Office of Emergency Management beginning on

         12  Wednesday.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What about

         14  Con Ed? Would you rely on the Office of Emergency

         15  Management to be your contact with Con Ed, or you

         16  directly were in contact with Con Ed?

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That was

         18  your last question, Stanley.

         19                 DR. CORWIN: I think that the issue

         20  there was, what was Con Ed's obligation to us.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is not

         22  answering my question.

         23                 I want to know whether you relied

         24  directly on Con Ed, or did you have to go through

         25  the Office of Emergency Management to get the
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          2  information from Con Ed?

          3                 MR. O'QUINN: Until Thursday we were

          4  relying directly on our contact with the Office of

          5  Emergency Management and then it was on late

          6  Wednesday morning, or Thursday morning, when we

          7  thought we were going to have power come back up,

          8  when actually Steve was in the hospital then he

          9  requested from OEM a meeting with representatives

         10  from Con Ed and from that point on representatives

         11  from Con Ed's Administration, as well as

         12  representatives from OEM were with us all the time.

         13  But prior to that there was no direct contact

         14  between our command office and Con Ed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Is the reason

         16  you asked for that information because you didn't

         17  believe you were getting the sufficient information

         18  from Con Ed?

         19                 DR. CORWIN: We were not getting

         20  sufficient information.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So the Office

         22  of Emergency Management was not giving you the

         23  information you needed?

         24                 DR. CORWIN: The Office of Emergency

         25  Management was trying to coordinate with Con Ed
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          2  throughout the evening and they were not giving us

          3  answers. Meaning specifically --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you don't

          5  know who was at fault, whether it was the Office of

          6  Emergency Management or Con Ed, do you?

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          8  you, Councilman.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You don't

         10  know who was at fault, do you?

         11                 DR. CORWIN: Right.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         13  Member Watkins.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Can you just

         15  answer yes or no, whether you knew who was at fault,

         16  the Office of Emergency Management or Con Ed?

         17                 MR. O'QUINN: All we can say is we

         18  weren't getting the information that we needed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

         20  very much. I think that answers my question. Thank

         21  you.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         23  Member Watkins.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Regarding

         25  your research projects and the tissues and so on, do
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          2  you feel that you have sufficient back-up on your

          3  own to preserve those things?

          4                 DR. POLF: The situation that we

          5  experienced was, our emergency system that was in

          6  place began to operate as the emergency developed as

          7  it should. In instances where we did not have

          8  emergency back up installed, built in, we had to

          9  seek emergency back-up through portable generators

         10  that were brought in, and that of course took time.

         11                 Our plan is to have full on-site

         12  emergency back-up. It was in planning, it is part of

         13  our retrofitting program which is going forward

         14  which would have occurred as of this September, we

         15  would have had full on-site emergency back-up.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: So, in other

         17  words, you were in a position where you knew you had

         18  very valuable research that required some kind of

         19  climate control for proper maintenance. But you did

         20  not at that time have, at your fingertips, the kind

         21  of back-up, emergency back-up generators that would

         22  have preserved those?

         23                 DR. POLF: In some instances that is

         24  correct, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: About what
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          2  percentage of your research was susceptible to no

          3  back-up?

          4                 DR. POLF: It can't really be

          5  calculated that way. Of the major research buildings

          6  that we have, there was one building that does not

          7  have a built-in generator at the moment. That was

          8  the one that was to be installed in September, and

          9  obviously many of the problems occurred in that

         10  building.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: So you are

         12  saying that the other buildings where there were

         13  research projects, things were pretty much

         14  undamaged?

         15                 DR. POLF: Again, I mean many things

         16  happened at once. The buildings where the emergency

         17  generators operated as planned and as necessary, the

         18  emergency power was fine. Again, it is exactly the

         19  same kind of situation at the hospital. The

         20  emergency power does not supply full operating power

         21  for all systems, it is designed to help sustain

         22  certain systems.

         23                 There was one instance of a generator

         24  that was dependent on yet another system that

         25  failed. Again, I mean there were multiple failures
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          2  of a number of kinds, so even though there was

          3  emergency generating power, the system on which it

          4  was dependent failed and so it took some time to

          5  back that up.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, then

          7  just finally, it would seem evident that you would

          8  need to make some very, very major changes in your

          9  internal emergency plans, even if it means moving

         10  all of the research to one spot perhaps, and getting

         11  state-of-the-art emergency back-up there, because in

         12  all due respect, it does seem that in this instance

         13  the hospital research system center may have been

         14  somewhat careless in not having sufficient emergency

         15  back-up to preserve the very important research that

         16  you do.

         17                 DR. POLF: Well, again, as I said when

         18  I answered your question, the Medical Center Campus

         19  is in the process, the constant process of

         20  renovating, upgrading, retrofitting facilities that

         21  are built over a period of time, and as I said, the

         22  last instance in which there would have been an

         23  installed emergency generator on-site, has in fact

         24  been ordered and was planned for installation after

         25  this cooling season, which is when you normally do
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          2  that.

          3                 So, in fact the plan and the work had

          4  been done to do that, it just hadn't gotten to that

          5  point yet.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          7  you.

          8                 I just want to also acknowledge

          9  before calling on Councilman Linares, the presence

         10  of State Senator David Patterson.

         11                 Council Member Linares.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: To New York

         13  Presbyterian, was your emergency room operating

         14  during the blackout?

         15                 MR. O'QUINN: Yes, the emergency room

         16  continued to operate. We continued to receive

         17  walk-in patients, or patients were brought in by

         18  their families, but we were on diversion to the EMS

         19  system.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: So if in the

         21  eventuality that there were a number of emergencies

         22  resulting from this blackout, do you feel that the

         23  hospital, being this is the only hospital that we

         24  have in the entire community, serving close to

         25  300,000 residents, did you feel comfortable, given
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          2  the blackout and the nature of the emergency, that

          3  even with the blackout you were equipped to respond

          4  to the medical emergency that we faced?

          5                 DR. CORWIN: I think we certainly were

          6  equipped to respond to any medical emergencies that

          7  occurred in the hospital, and what we did

          8  specifically in the emergency rooms and for

          9  emergency operations was with our own ambulance

         10  system, along with the help of OEM.

         11                 Where we to have an emergency that we

         12  did not feel we could handle on site, given the

         13  blackout, we were prepared to, and actually did

         14  transfer patients to the New York Weill Cornell

         15  Center.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: How many

         17  people did you have during the blackout?

         18                 DR. CORWIN: We transferred ten

         19  patients from our emergency room to the New York

         20  Weill Cornell at the time of the blackout on Tuesday

         21  evening, and we had three emergency surgeries and

         22  five emergency cardiac catheterizations that we did

         23  at the New York Weill Cornell Center.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: You did that

         25  --
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          2                 DR. CORWIN: At Cornell during the

          3  period of the blackout.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: So that was a

          5  transfer that had to be made as a result. So you

          6  were not really equipped to handle a number of cases

          7  that were related to the blackout because of a

          8  situation affecting your institution?

          9                 DR. CORWIN: That's correct. If you

         10  were a patient certainly even in an emergency

         11  situation, would you want an operation formed where

         12  the only source of power was emergency generator

         13  back-up? The answer obviously is no, and I don't

         14  mean that facetiously.

         15                 So, we were trying to minimize any

         16  potential risk or danger to any one of our patients,

         17  and we did everything in our power to make sure that

         18  we minimized that risk. That is why the lack of

         19  information from Con Edison on Wednesday night to

         20  Thursday morning caused us so much distress, we did

         21  not plan properly for the care of our patients that

         22  were in the hospital or that would roll into the

         23  emergency room because it was five blocks away.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: But here is

         25  really the bottom line, when it comes to the only
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          2  institution that is able to deal with this type of

          3  emergency when there is a need required because of

          4  health conditions and concerns, everything that

          5  would enable you to respond to this type of

          6  emergency needed to take place before the blackout,

          7  why wasn't there steps taken by the institution, or

          8  perhaps at the urging of the City or Con Edison, so

          9  that you could be prepared to handle the cases that

         10  then you have to send to other parts of the City.

         11                 DR. CORWIN: Councilman, let me just

         12  state a couple of things. First of all, obviously we

         13  were still functioning as a hospital and we were

         14  still performing emergency procedures on people in

         15  the institution. We were not performing emergency

         16  surgeries for the reason that I suggested.

         17                 I think that certainly the event of

         18  Friday and Tuesday had led us to believe that there

         19  might be a problem, we were not prepared certainly

         20  to experience the magnitude of the problem, nor the

         21  duration, and that would have helped us I think

         22  immeasurably, were we to be able to prepare for

         23  that.

         24                 We prepared, for example, on Thursday

         25  to carry out operations that we had delayed on
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          2  Tuesday and Wednesday, and only at 4:00 a.m. were we

          3  told that in fact we were not going to be turned on.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: One last

          5  question for both institutions; can you give us a

          6  ball park figure of what your loss was as a result

          7  of the blackout for both institutions, the

          8  University and also the hospital?

          9                 MR. O'QUINN: At this point we are

         10  still reviewing that, and I really couldn't give you

         11  a number. Our attorneys are looking at that, and I

         12  can't say at this point, we are just looking --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Is it one

         14  million, is it 30 million? You know, can you get a

         15  sense of what the extent of the harm is?

         16                 MR. O'QUINN: Well, it is certainly

         17  going to be more than $1 million. We don't know

         18  exactly how much, but we can safely say it is going

         19  to be more than that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: And the

         21  University?

         22                 DR. POLF: We are still going through

         23  the same assessment process and it will take us some

         24  time to arrive at a conclusion because of the very

         25  nature of the way you have to look at what was there
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          2  and what was potentially lost. So we don't yet have

          3  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: And where is

          5  the money coming from?

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is

          7  the last question. Do you want to give a quick

          8  answer to that question?

          9                 MR. O'QUINN: Well, the hospital has

         10  insurance that covers us for these kinds of

         11  situations and we will certainly be looking in that

         12  direction.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         14  you, gentlemen.

         15                 Thank you very much. We will be in

         16  touch.

         17                 We want to hear from Commissioner

         18  Hauer of the Office of Emergency Management.

         19                 Council Member Lopez, I didn't have

         20  you down but if you have a question, go ahead.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want to

         22  go back to your testimony, paragraph five. In

         23  paragraph five you say that on 10:15 p.m. on

         24  Tuesday, July 6, was that the situation occurred,

         25  that begin (sic). I want to know before 10:15 p.m.
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          2  on Tuesday, July 6th, did you receive any

          3  notification that this may happen? From anybody,

          4  from Con Edison, from the Management, the Crisis

          5  Unit, from anybody?

          6                 DR. POLF: We were receiving the same

          7  information that the hospital was in the same way.

          8  In other words, we were being asked to reduce load

          9  where it was possible because we are the consumer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: From who? From

         11  who were you receiving that information from 10:15

         12  p.m. on Tuesday, July 6th?

         13                 DR. POLF: The answer would have been

         14  the same as the hospital.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: From who?

         16                 DR. POLF: It was from Con Ed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Con Edison.

         18                 DR. POLF: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then Con Edison

         20  before the blackout occurred was aware that a

         21  serious problem was happening and was in

         22  communication with you telling you that this may

         23  come through before 10:00 p.m. on Tuesday, July 6th?

         24                 MR. O'QUINN: What they were asking us

         25  to do was to reduce our load, in order to reduce the
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          2  demand on their system.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Did they say to

          4  you very clearly that the reduction on the use was

          5  due to avoid this from happening? Or they never

          6  indicated that to you?

          7                 MR. O'QUINN: What they indicated to

          8  us, they were having trouble because of the huge

          9  demand, and that they wanted us to turn on our

         10  electrical generators to reduce load, which is what

         11  we did.

         12                 We were not aware that we were about

         13  to lose complete power.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you know if

         15  the Office of Emergency Management was notified of

         16  the situation?

         17                 MR. O'QUINN: I don't personally know.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Did they

         19  contact you?

         20                 MR. O'QUINN: OEM?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         22                 MR. O'QUINN: Not that early, no.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No before, no

         24  after?

         25                 MR. O'QUINN: Afterwards, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: When after?

          3                 MR. O'QUINN: My first contact with

          4  OEM was in our command center and this was on

          5  Wednesday.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Wednesday.

          7  Wednesday at what time?

          8                 MR. O'QUINN: I was in there at about

          9  7:00 in the morning and they were there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then you were

         11  without electricity from 10:15 p.m. on July 6th,

         12  until the next day at 7:00 in the morning when you

         13  got contacted by the emergency unit.

         14                 MR. O'QUINN: Yes, they were there at

         15  that time.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 Director Hauer, not Commissioner. We

         20  have to upgrade the agency, or regardless of they

         21  call you, he is the head man when there is trouble

         22  in the City, he is the one we look for.

         23                 Mr. Hauer, if you will identify

         24  yourself and have anyone you want join you at the

         25  table.
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          2                 MR. HAUER: Mr. Chairman, Mr. Speaker,

          3  thank you. Let me identify the members of my staff

          4  that are here with me. With me is my First Deputy

          5  Director Jack Travitz, Calvin Draighten, Director of

          6  Field Operations and Gerry McCarte, Deputy Director

          7  for Special Operations.

          8                 What I would like to do, I do have a

          9  statement which will take me a few minutes and then

         10  I would be happy to answer any of your questions.

         11                 With the Committee's permission I

         12  want to begin my testimony with a short history of

         13  the events surrounding the implementation of the

         14  City's Heat Plan and the actions that preceded and

         15  followed the blackouts of July 6th and 7th.

         16                 In the normal course of work, OEM and

         17  staff monitored the weather using the best

         18  technology available. On Thursday, July 1st, the

         19  National Weather Service projected that the heat

         20  index would reach the mid-nineties for Saturday and

         21  even higher the following days.

         22                 High temperatures combined with high

         23  humidity in a City like New York can pose health

         24  problems for even the most able-bodied, and my staff

         25  and I prepared to activate a Heat Plan that has
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          2  existed for three years.

          3                 On the next day, Friday, the 2nd of

          4  July, we found that the heat and humidity projected

          5  for the July 4th weekend would be even higher than

          6  was projected on July 1st.

          7                 As of noon on Friday when Mayor

          8  Giuliani activated the plan, New York City's

          9  resources stood ready to deal with the problems that

         10  arise when we face the extreme temperatures being

         11  forecast.

         12                 The heat index combined, and you can

         13  see a chart of it on the easel here, a formula that

         14  provides us with data about how hot people really

         15  feel based on the heat and humidity.

         16                 The National Weather Service

         17  Typically issues its warnings of a dangerous heat

         18  index when it reaches 105 degrees. Because New York

         19  City has what is known as a heat island effect, a

         20  phenomenon in which the concrete islands on which we

         21  live retain and radiate heat more significantly than

         22  nearly any other area in the country, my office

         23  convinced the National Weather Service some time ago

         24  to lower its threshold to 100.

         25                 After the Weather Service information
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          2  was provided and the heat plan activated, all City

          3  agencies that play a role in our heat plan and

          4  participate in our daily conference halls were

          5  notified by 1:00 p.m. On Friday, July 2nd.

          6                 The merit of our decision to activate

          7  the heat plan was confirmed at 3:00 p.m. that day

          8  when my office conducted a conference call with the

          9  National Weather Service to discuss the weekend's

         10  temperature. A heat index of over 100 was projected

         11  for the next few days, and the necessary resources

         12  were put into place to start up the heat hot line

         13  operated out of OEM's offices and staffed by City

         14  agencies.

         15                 In addition to the implementation of

         16  the hot line, my office prepared a press release on

         17  ways to Beat the Heat and put together a flyer to be

         18  distributed by the Fire Department and EMS over the

         19  next several days during any of its emergency runs.

         20                 Additionally, NYCHA distributed the

         21  brochure, a copy of which you have on the chart, on

         22  the easel, to its residents, as did the MTA on its

         23  buses and trains.

         24                 I also contacted the Mets and Yankees

         25  organizations and asked them to monitor the crowd
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          2  and take necessary actions and precautions to make

          3  certain that no one suffered from heat-related

          4  injuries during the games.

          5                 Both organizations agreed to increase

          6  their emergency medical staff and make frequently

          7  announcements to the crowds regarding the heat.

          8                 While all of this was going on, my

          9  staff and I were also working with Con Edison to

         10  ensure that it had sufficient resources to address

         11  the expected short-term energy demand.

         12                 I was personally assured by Con Ed,

         13  on Friday, July 2nd, that Con Ed was aware of the

         14  expected temperatures, and potential demand for

         15  electricity, and the company would meet its

         16  customer's needs at this critical time.

         17                 The experiences small scale were

         18  localized blackouts on a regular basis, and OEM is

         19  always aware of the potential for disaster if the

         20  electricity fails on a wider scale.

         21                 As you can well imagine, with a

         22  projected heat index of over 100 degrees we viewed

         23  this time period as being exceptionally important to

         24  monitor.

         25                 On Saturday, the 3rd, a heat advisory
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          2  was issued by the National Weather Service calling

          3  for a heat index of 105 degrees.

          4                 OEM notified all of the necessary

          5  agencies and continued to prepare to respond to what

          6  I believe would be a hot and potentially dangerous

          7  July 4th holiday weekend.

          8                 On Sunday morning, July 4th, the

          9  National Weather Service once again issued a heat

         10  advisory for the New York City area.

         11                 OEM began the day with an 8:00 a.m.

         12  conference call with the agencies that you see on

         13  the chart in front of you. The purpose of these

         14  calls is to keep everyone informed of what each

         15  agency in Con Ed did, and what they planned to do,

         16  and this way we can monitor any trends, particularly

         17  as they relate to heat injuries or death.

         18                 The Fire Department and EMS are

         19  represented, as is the Office of the Chief Medical

         20  Examiner, HHC, DOH and NYCHA.

         21                 EMS reported that it had 21

         22  heat-related calls on Saturday that in preparation

         23  for the increased heat index, it would field an

         24  additional ten Citywide units.

         25                 The Medical Examiner's Office
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          2  reported no heat-related deaths for the day before.

          3                 Con Ed reported a demand for 8,500

          4  megawatts on Saturday and confirmed that more than

          5  4,400 customers were without power in Staten Island

          6  in a non-heat-related outage.

          7                 They indicated, as you can see on the

          8  chart, that the peak for July 4th was expected to be

          9  8,600 megawatts, and 9,750 megawatts for July 5th.

         10  As it turns out, the actual usage for July 4th

         11  peaked at 8,435 megawatts, below the projected use.

         12  However, Monday, July 5th, the peak usage climbed to

         13  10,238 megawatts, well above the projected 9,750.

         14                 The chart in front of you gives a

         15  good picture of the extremely high electricity usage

         16  over this period of time - so high in fact that Con

         17  Ed either could not or did not predict it.

         18                 Consistent with our heat plan, the

         19  Fire Department indicated that it had requested and

         20  received 3,000 sprinkler caps to be distributed

         21  throughout the City so that residents could cool

         22  themselves without endangering the water pressure.

         23                 The Parks Department confirmed that

         24  it would keep pools open an extra hour to 8:00 p.m.,

         25  and that beaches would be accessible.
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          2                 These efforts, combined with the

          3  NYCHA-run cooling centers - numbering approximately

          4  65, gave New Yorkers an opportunity to cool

          5  themselves if air conditioning was not readily

          6  available.

          7                 The heat hot line was opened at noon

          8  on Sunday, and over the course of the next several

          9  days handled more than 1,600 calls from New Yorkers,

         10  many of whom wanted to take advantage of the City's

         11  cooling centers.

         12                 Each time we made an aggressive

         13  effort to publicize the 1-800-COOLNY hot line, we

         14  saw a spike in calls.

         15                 Beginning with the Mayor's press

         16  conference in Staten Island on July 4th, and

         17  following the next several days, I and my deputies

         18  made an effort to handle every media inquiry that

         19  would result in obtaining publicity for the hot line

         20  and the City services it represented as well as warn

         21  residents of the precautions they should be taking.

         22                 Our efforts became more necessary as

         23  the Weather Service at 3L22 p.m. on Sunday, issued

         24  an excessive Heat Watch, one step higher from the

         25  Heat Advisory of the day before.
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          2                 On Monday, July 5th, an Excessive

          3  Heat Warning was issued, the highest level alert put

          4  out by the National Weather Service. During Monday's

          5  conference call, we learned from Con Ed that while

          6  usage was below expectations on Sunday, the expected

          7  peak for Tuesday would climb to a record high for

          8  New York City of 11,750 megawatts after New Yorkers

          9  had returned from their vacation.

         10                 At no time did Con Ed indicate that

         11  it could not deal with this load, and while we were

         12  prepared for scattered small scale outages, like

         13  those of past years, we could not have imagined that

         14  this system was as close to failure as it was.

         15                 The Medical Examiner's Office

         16  continued to report no heat-related deaths, but

         17  according to EMS, heat-related incidents had climbed

         18  to 36 ambulance runs as of 8:00 in the morning. The

         19  pools were going to stay open once again, and the

         20  Parks Department reported heavy usage of the pools

         21  and beaches.

         22                 NYCHA had increased the number of

         23  facilities used as cooling centers from 65 on Sunday

         24  to more than 80 on Monday.

         25                 Those sprinkler caps continue to be
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          2  distributed, too many hydrants were opened at full

          3  force on Monday and the water pressure in many areas

          4  of the City dipped dangerously low, particularly in

          5  the Jamaica area.

          6                 The Department of Environmental

          7  Protection and the Fire Department increased its

          8  patrols of City streets looking for open hydrants

          9  without the sprinkler aps so that they could be

         10  closed.

         11                 OEM monitored this situation and

         12  worked with the relevant agencies to ensure that

         13  this problem did not get worse.

         14                 At this point, Mr. Chairman, let me

         15  pause for a moment and acknowledge all of the

         16  efforts of all of the City agencies and the work

         17  that they had done to this point.

         18                 The heat wave came over a holiday

         19  weekend, and a lot of people gave up significant

         20  portions of their vacation in time to work on this

         21  heat activation.

         22                 Unfortunately the events over the

         23  next two days made everyone's live more difficult.

         24                 Tuesday morning, July 6th,

         25  approximately 6:30 a.m. OEM was contacted by Con Ed
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          2  who informed us that they were one contingency away

          3  from losing Washington Heights, Riverdale and some

          4  other areas of the Bronx.

          5                 Simply put, this means that if more

          6  than one feeder line was lost in either of those

          7  areas, the total power outage might result for those

          8  residents.

          9                 It was important to understand that

         10  this information came against the backdrop of

         11  isolated Citywide outages, the largest of which was

         12  in the pink houses in Queens.

         13                 With more than 8,000 customers

         14  Citywide without power and six feeders inoperable,

         15  Con Ed may have been overtaxed.

         16                 In any circumstance in which the

         17  power is lost for more than a few customers, the

         18  City engages in an effort to ensure that basic

         19  emergency services are provided in the area without

         20  power.

         21                 In the case of the Pink Houses, and

         22  at every other power outage around the City, life

         23  support system-dependent residents were checked on

         24  by the Police and Fire Department and nursing homes

         25  and hospitals in affected areas were visited to make
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          2  certain that back-up generators were functioning.

          3                 I was a little surprised to hear that

          4  Columbia Pres did not know that OEM had been on site

          5  since Tuesday, and three members of my staff had

          6  been working with the engineering staff at Columbia

          7  Pres, from midday on Tuesday, well before the

          8  outages occurred, right until the power came back on

          9  on Friday night.

         10                 During Tuesday morning's conference

         11  call, Con Ed once again confirmed that they were in

         12  the fourth contingency in Washington Heights. This

         13  means that they were moving closer to losing power

         14  in that entire area.

         15                 While this situation appeared serious

         16  and was in fact serious, I can tell you that Con Ed

         17  once again repeated its assertion that power would

         18  not be lost throughout all of Washington Heights. In

         19  fact, so confident were they that things would be

         20  returned to normal, they gave us a time line of when

         21  feeders would start coming back on line, not just

         22  for Washington Heights but for Richmond Hill and

         23  Howard Beach where more than 4,000 customers were on

         24  line.

         25                 In light of the seriousness of the
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          2  situation with Con Ed, the decision was made to

          3  activate the Emergency Operations Center. While this

          4  center has gotten a great deal of press of late, I

          5  will tell you in no uncertain terms that our ability

          6  to gather every relevant agency and utility together

          7  in one room and link them with state-of-the-art

          8  communications and computers, provided the City with

          9  the only effective way of managing a crisis that

         10  soon became larger than anyone of us would have

         11  liked.

         12                 City agencies gathered at the EOC

         13  within an hour or so, all the while continuing to

         14  provide heat-related services to New York City

         15  residents.

         16                 The Fire Department had gone on 148

         17  heat-related runs the day before and reported a high

         18  call volume.

         19                 They continued to distribute the Beat

         20  the Heat pamphlets and monitor the opening of fire

         21  hydrants equipped with sprinkler caps.

         22                 The Medical Examiner's Office had

         23  accepted 24 cases from the day before and believed

         24  that two of them had been heat-related. NYCHA had

         25  approximately 800 visitors to the cooling centers on
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          2  Monday, and expected an even higher number for

          3  Tuesday.

          4                 The Department for the Aging opened

          5  their senior centers for extended hours, providing a

          6  greater number of cooling centers while the Parks

          7  Department again kept pools and beaches open.

          8                 Constant communication was maintained

          9  between OEM and Con Ed, primarily through one-on-one

         10  dialogue between myself and senior Con Ed staff; OEM

         11  and Con Ed staff at the EOC; and OEM and Con Ed

         12  staff in Washington Heights.

         13                 Though it is certainly important that

         14  my agency and Con Ed were talking with each other so

         15  extensively, it is disappointing to now understand

         16  that the information that Con Ed was providing us at

         17  these different locations was often inconsistent.

         18                 For instance, while the power

         19  company's staff at the EOC would relate the tenuous

         20  nature of the situation in Washington Heights, one

         21  of my deputy directors stationed at Washington

         22  Heights was being told by Con Ed that operations

         23  would soon be normal. Despite this disparate

         24  information from Con Ed, the City took prudent steps

         25  to assist in the reduction of usage, as well as
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          2  activating the necessary precautions in the event of

          3  a much larger outage.

          4                 Included in the City's response was

          5  to put on standby the NYPD task force necessary to

          6  move into the area if in fact they were required.

          7                 In fact, when the lights went out at

          8  10:12 p.m., the NYPD had a large contingent of

          9  officers already in place in Washington Heights.

         10                 It has been widely reported that on

         11  Tuesday, July 6th, and then again on Wednesday the

         12  7th, the New York City Housing Authority or NYCHA,

         13  turned off power to water heaters in the buildings

         14  they own and operate.

         15                 This is in fact true. It is also true

         16  that this was done at the behest of Con Ed in an

         17  effort to reduce Citywide power usage.

         18                 NYCHA represents one of Con Ed's

         19  largest customers, so the reduction of hot water in

         20  the middle of the day during a record heat wave was

         21  considered a reasonable and prudent step to take,

         22  particularly since this step was initially targeted

         23  at the area of Washington Heights that was already

         24  without power. It had portions of the area without

         25  power.
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          2                 At that point in time there were

          3  15,000 people during the day on Tuesday without

          4  power in Washington Heights.

          5                 Mr. Chairman, what NYCHA was trying

          6  to do was avoid the loss of all power to their

          7  facilities and the attendant public safety hazards

          8  that it would pose.

          9                 OEM was notified of their decision

         10  and we agreed it was the appropriate thing to do.

         11                 We further agreed that NYCHA's

         12  subsequent decision to turn off their boilers during

         13  the same period for all of their houses on Wednesday

         14  was a good decision, and I applaud their leadership

         15  on this issue.

         16                 By 1:30 Tuesday, Con Ed had taken the

         17  step of imposing an eight percent power reduction

         18  throughout the City. We were notified of it at 1:30.

         19  I was a little surprised earlier to find out that

         20  Con Ed made that decision and began the power

         21  reduction at 038 hours on Tuesday morning. Our

         22  office was notified at 1:30 on Tuesday.

         23                 They were telling us that five

         24  feeders were out in Washington Heights and that one

         25  would be restored by 3:00 p.m., and two more by 9:00
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          2  p.m. that evening.

          3                 Once again, while the situation did

          4  not appear good, OEM was being told by Con Ed that

          5  they had the situation well at hand.

          6                 Nevertheless, thousands of customers

          7  in Howard Beach were without power and Bensonhurst

          8  had three feeders down.

          9                 Around this time it became clear that

         10  the heat was beginning to become deadly. The Office

         11  of the Chief Medical Examiner, which has a

         12  representative in the EOC, reported to us that they

         13  had three potential heat-related deaths.

         14                 OEM began to get calls from nursing

         15  homes around the City complaining that Con Ed was

         16  not being responsive to their inquiries about

         17  potential blackout areas.

         18                 In their defense, Con Ed was dealing

         19  with thousands of customers without power and

         20  struggling to get feeder lines back in operation.

         21                 Nevertheless, it is critical that

         22  information about areas that soon may lose power be

         23  conveyed to the City so that appropriate steps could

         24  be taken.

         25                 Assurances that things would be back
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          2  to normal in the face of tremendous heat and record

          3  high demands were, I believe, possibly disingenuous.

          4                 Once again, during an EOC situation

          5  report, when all participants report in on their

          6  activities, Con Ed told OEM that usage as of 6:00

          7  p.m. Was 11,572 megawatts and that two of the five

          8  feeders in Washington Heights would be back on by

          9  9:30 p.m.

         10                 Now, recognize that the power usage

         11  at this point had dropped because of the eight

         12  percent voltage reduction citywide, and because we

         13  had 15,000 customers in Washington Heights without

         14  power.

         15                 This information was provided to OEM

         16  at 7:00 p.m. At 7:30 p.m., Con Ed reported to OEM

         17  that a sixth feeder had burnt out in Washington

         18  Heights. Once again assurances that the City would

         19  have to rely on were dangerously incorrect.

         20                 At 8:10 p.m. Con Ed reported they had

         21  40 feeder lines throughout the City that were out,

         22  with six of 14 down in Washington Heights, five out

         23  of 18 in Williamsburg, and three out of 22 in Long

         24  Island City and two out of 20 in Fordham.

         25                 One hour later, at 9:10 p.m., OEM and
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          2  Con Ed senior staff met at our command center.

          3  During that meeting, top level Con Ed employees told

          4  us that the outage situation was at status quo, and

          5  this was confirmed on scene at Washington Heights at

          6  9:45.

          7                 I was on-scene in Washington Heights

          8  at that time touring the areas that had been

          9  affected by the earlier outages. I stooped at a

         10  cooling station that had been set up by the Fire

         11  Department and watched as the residents of that

         12  community did the best they could to stay cool.

         13                 With two separate meetings between

         14  Con Ed and OEM having just concluded within one

         15  hour, which Con Ed reassured the City that status

         16  quo continues, Con Ed reported to OEM that a seventh

         17  feeder had just failed in Washington Heights.

         18                 Despite assurances from Con Ed that

         19  things were still going to be fine, OEM notified all

         20  relevant agencies in the EOC of the situation.

         21                 Our activities were prescient because

         22  at 10:10 p.m. OEM was notified by Con Ed of the

         23  imminent power failure in Washington Heights. Only

         24  three minutes later we received notice that the

         25  network above 155th Street was down.
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          2                 At that point OEM had seven

          3  responders and deputies in Washington Heights or on

          4  their way, an OEM responder was again dispatched at

          5  Columbia Presbyterian Hospital and our command bus

          6  was sent to 190th Street and Amsterdam Avenue, to

          7  serve as an on-scene command center.

          8                 When this command center was

          9  established, the Fire and Police Departments were

         10  represented, as were DEP, DOT and Con Ed. Nursing

         11  homes and life support-dependent residents were

         12  checked and OEM began coordinating movements of

         13  patients out of Columbia Presbyterian's emergency

         14  room to facilities with power.

         15                 As you can well imagine, OEM and many

         16  other City agencies had much of their staff working

         17  through the night. Police, firefighters and EMS

         18  personnel were stationed throughout Washington

         19  Heights to ensure that public safety was preserved

         20  during the outage.

         21                 OEM reopened its four 1-800-COOLNY

         22  hot lines overnight so that residents in the

         23  affected area could find an air conditioned

         24  environment to cool off.

         25                 The Fire Department brought in 12
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          2  additional engine companies and six more trucks and

          3  all were escorted to emergency calls by the NYPD.

          4  EMS dispatched several more ambulances to the area

          5  and established to command posts to increase their

          6  visibility.

          7                 The Mayor and I stopped at a number

          8  of locations in Washington Heights and met with

          9  residents who dealt with their outage with grace and

         10  even a bit of humor. He and I are tremendously

         11  grateful for the way in which the people in all of

         12  the blacked out areas handled this stressful

         13  situation that was compounded by the intense heat.

         14                 Without the cooperation of all New

         15  Yorkers, this City could not have responded to this

         16  crisis as well as it did.

         17                 With that said, it is also important

         18  to recognize the overwhelming and ceaseless activity

         19  engaged in by all of the City government who was

         20  faced with the task of addressing the needs and

         21  concerns of the residents during both the heatwave

         22  and the blackout.

         23                 Finally, while I am less impressed

         24  with many of the things that Con Ed did last week, I

         25  would be remiss if I did not mention their linemen
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          2  and other workers who toiled for hours after hours

          3  to get the lights back on.

          4                 With the recounting of what happened,

          5  I would like, Mr. Chairman, to take only a few more

          6  minutes to discuss briefly some of the things that I

          7  think can be learned from the heatwave and the

          8  blackout.

          9                 First and foremost, the importance of

         10  preparedness cannot be underestimated. When the

         11  midwest experienced record-high heat a few years

         12  ago, more than 500 people died because of

         13  heat-related deaths.

         14                 In this City we had fewer than three

         15  deaths attributed to the heat. We are reviewing

         16  these deaths to see if there is anything else that

         17  could have been done to prevent these unfortunate

         18  circumstances.

         19                 Notwithstanding those few unfortunate

         20  deaths, I can say without equivocation that this

         21  City was well prepared for what was faced, and as

         22  well prepared as any City in the world.

         23                 Secondly, we confirmed once again the

         24  power of community outreach. By distributing

         25  pamphlets on the buses and trains and through fire
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          2  and EMS and by publicizing the heat hot line, we

          3  were able to answer questions related to the heat

          4  and power that may well have saved many lives.

          5                 I am grateful to the New York press

          6  corps for their responsiveness in which they worked

          7  with us to get critical information out to the

          8  residents in an expeditious manner.

          9                 As for Con Ed, I have already

         10  indicated that they were more than willing to talk

         11  with us, and talk they did. However, there were too

         12  many instances in which the conversations we had

         13  with Con Ed officials did not correspond to either

         14  what other officials were saying or to the facts

         15  themselves.

         16                 As we move forward, we as a City need

         17  to address several issues with Con Ed. First and

         18  foremost is simply why did the power fail? As the

         19  Mayor said, summers are predictable and heat waves

         20  that occasionally accompany the summers are nothing

         21  new.

         22                 The demand on Con Ed's system could

         23  not have come as a surprise to Con Ed, and I, like

         24  many of you, are wondering why a company whose sole

         25  job it is to supply electricity could not do it.
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          2                 The second issue relates to the

          3  infrastructure of Con Ed's system.

          4                 It is clear to even a layman that

          5  there were an insufficient number of feeders going

          6  into many areas of the City. Is it not reasonable

          7  for Con Ed to argue that demand has outgrown so

          8  significantly - has grown so significantly in the

          9  past few years that they could not keep up.

         10                 What is more likely is that Con Ed

         11  normally has enough lines to feed New York City all

         12  the power it requires, but this, however, does not

         13  allow for the extreme situations like the one we

         14  found ourselves in last week.

         15                 It appears that the system does not

         16  have capability or have enough surplus through the

         17  transmission capability for the extreme loads which

         18  we saw last week.

         19                 The third issues is closely related

         20  to the previous two, and deals with Con Ed's testing

         21  protocol.

         22                 They have indicated that some of

         23  their lines that failed last week had given them

         24  problems in the past. Those lines were apparently

         25  tested and met Con Ed's specifications.
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          2                 This of course begs the question to

          3  what extent did they really test the lines and how

          4  legitimate is the testing?

          5                 What threshold for failure are they

          6  using and is their testing regimen rigorous enough

          7  to simulate the type of demand that they might

          8  reasonably see every summer.

          9                 If summer and the energy demand that

         10  often goes along with it are predictable, why is it

         11  then that Con Ed's testing does not simulate this

         12  reality?

         13                 The federal government requires

         14  commercial aircraft that operate in the United

         15  States to meet extraordinary testing levels. Some

         16  vital components on a plane are required to have

         17  failure rates of less than ten to the minus nine.

         18  While I am not suggesting that Con Ed's system meet

         19  that standard, it is reasonable to ask that they

         20  attempt to make their system as foolproof as the

         21  planes that you and I fly on.

         22                 A critical element in ensuring that

         23  that level of reliability is strenuous and realistic

         24  testing, the hydraulics and avionics of an airplane

         25  are tested over and over again before being
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          2  installed, so, too, should the feeder lines that Con

          3  Ed installed to replace the ones that were damaged

          4  in the heat wave.

          5                 I would further ask that they

          6  consider testing of all of their existing lines at

          7  more real-world levels so that they can enjoy a

          8  greater degree of reliability.

          9                 The last point that should be made is

         10  the one that I touched upon repeatedly in the

         11  testimony, and that is the quality of information

         12  that Con Ed provided to the City during this crisis.

         13                 As any emergency manager knows, the

         14  most valuable commodity during a crisis is

         15  information. While there is no doubt that

         16  information flowed to and from Con Ed from start to

         17  finish, there is much room to doubt the value of

         18  that information.

         19                 How is it that at 9:00 p.m. on July

         20  6th we could hear from two different high level Con

         21  Ed sources from two different locations that

         22  everything was going well in Washington Heights,

         23  only to learn within the hour that three more

         24  feeders had been lost.

         25                 There are only two possibilities:
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          2  First, the people briefing were aware of the

          3  impending situation and chose not to tell us. The

          4  second is that they simply didn't know, in which

          5  case Con Ed, with all of its sophisticated equipment

          6  at their disposal, did not know that three more

          7  lines in their system were about to burn up.

          8                 That concludes my testimony, Mr.

          9  Speaker. I would be happy to answer any questions.

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you,  Director

         11  Hauer. And obviously, as you may have heard, we are

         12  interested in getting the same answers to the

         13  questions that you raise in your testimony.

         14                 The thing that puzzles me at the

         15  moment, is it seems from your testimony that the

         16  first time you were advised of the potential of the

         17  real loss of power of Northern Manhattan was just a

         18  few minutes before it happened?

         19                 MR. HAUER: Well, they had talked to

         20  us and we had the emergency operation center open.

         21  They had talked to us that morning. We notified the

         22  agencies, we start putting things in place, and in

         23  fact, because of the concern we had, we actually

         24  started things on Monday. We had started contacting

         25  all of the nursing homes, 180 nursing homes in the
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          2  City on Monday afternoon. We talked to the various

          3  hospitals, but it was not until early Tuesday

          4  morning that they actually lost customers in the

          5  Washington Heights area.

          6                 At that point in time we then began

          7  mobilizing even more aggressively because we felt

          8  the situation was deteriorating. But it was not

          9  until late that night that the power actually went

         10  out. I don't know if that answers your question.

         11                 SPEAKER VALLONE: No, it doesn't.

         12                 When did the Con Edison actually tell

         13  you that it is possible, Director Hauer, that it is

         14  possible that you are going to lose power all

         15  together in Washington Heights?

         16                 MR. HAUER: They told us on Tuesday

         17  morning.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Tuesday morning.

         19                 MR. HAUER: Yes, and that is when we

         20  began the notification process to the agencies, we

         21  started mobilizing resources. We had sent people to

         22  Columbia Pres, to the nursing homes. The Mayor did a

         23  press conference at 10:00 Tuesday morning and

         24  notified the communities, not just Washington

         25  Heights, we were likewise concerned about
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          2  Williamsburg and Long Island City.

          3                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Doesn't it make

          4  sense that they should have told the City somewhere

          5  about Thursday or Friday, that it is possible that

          6  because if we have the limited number of feeder

          7  cables in places like Washington Heights and Astoria

          8  and Long Island City and Brooklyn and Bensonhurst,

          9  that it is possible that we may lose the whole

         10  network and a network can cover as many as 300,000

         11  people, maybe more? Shouldn't they have told you

         12  that?

         13                 SPEAKER VALLONE: On the Friday before

         14  I personally spoke to Con Ed and they assured us on

         15  the Friday before the problem, that everything was

         16  under control, they expected the peak to be at

         17  11,750, and they felt they could handle it.

         18                 And we, again, we had a conference

         19  call on Sunday morning, Con Ed was part of that, and

         20  there was no mention of any problem.

         21                 I think that the demand in Washington

         22  Heights exceeded the capacity of the system. They

         23  started burning out feeders and that is when things

         24  went downhill.

         25                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And if you had the
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          2  power to do so, and you knew what was going to

          3  happen, what would you have done different than what

          4  you did --

          5                 MR. HAUER: Well, when we found out

          6  that in fact things were starting to deteriorate in

          7  Washington Heights, the Police Department mobilized,

          8  EMS mobilized, I sent staff, we met. And, again, I

          9  was a little surprised to hear Columbia Pres say

         10  they didn't hear from us, because I had three people

         11  on site at Columbia Pres. They said that they didn't

         12  hear from us until -- because I was at the meeting

         13  Wednesday morning personally with the Vice President

         14  from the Columbia Pres, three of my staff members

         15  were up there the better part of the day on Tuesday

         16  and then when the power went out again on Tuesday

         17  night, one of my staff members was in the emergency

         18  room and then went to help them get their command

         19  center organized and he was there all night on

         20  Tuesday night.

         21                 I then joined him Wednesday morning

         22  to see how things were going up there.

         23                 We had opened cooling centers in

         24  Washington Heights, we had fire trucks up there

         25  spraying water to keep the kids cool. We had done a
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          2  lot of things in anticipation of problems, because

          3  we are always concerned when we start seeing these

          4  big strains on the system, that when things

          5  deteriorate they deteriorate very quickly. We

          6  learned that three years ago in Queens. As you

          7  remember, Mr. Speaker, we were told that 4:00 that

          8  afternoon that things appeared to be under control,

          9  we had the emergency operation center open, I was

         10  very concerned about it. The Police Department had

         11  mobilized the task force to put them out in Queens,

         12  about 12 minutes later we lost power for pretty much

         13  all of Queens, except for LaGuardia Airport, and

         14  things went very, very smoothly that night.

         15                 So, we try and anticipate these

         16  issues. We try and have people in place. We called

         17  all of the LSEs, the life support equipment, in the

         18  Washington Heights area, they were visited, they

         19  were called by Con Ed, they were called by PD, they

         20  were called by us. A member of my staff talked to

         21  all of the nursing homes to make sure they were

         22  ready.

         23                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And yet if you would

         24  have heard the testimony from just a few witnesses,

         25  and I am sure we have thousands more that are
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          2  capable, they hadn't the foggiest idea they were

          3  about to lose power.

          4                 MR. HAUER: Well, you know, we tried

          5  to do as much outreach as we could for critical

          6  facilities. We got to the media as aggressively as

          7  we could to get word out, we did everything we could

          8  to get to the buildings that had senior populations

          9  in it, and in fact we had response teams. The one at

         10  240 Nagle Avenue, I believe we had a response team

         11  there, and we had people checking on the building.

         12                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I think we have all

         13  a lot of lessons to learn, not the least of which we

         14  are going to have to work very closely, the Council

         15  and the Mayor's Office and the Mayor to be more

         16  vigilant as we go into the next century to make sure

         17  that we have a better means of communicating with

         18  our people we represent.

         19                 I will tell you it was very

         20  frightening for me to walk through Washington

         21  Heights and to see all of those elevator buildings

         22  without power. What in the world were those poor

         23  people doing for all that time. It was a terrible

         24  situation for people to be placed in.

         25                 We should be talking about emergency
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          2  generators for all of these apartment houses. We

          3  should be talking about the kinds of things that

          4  Conde Nast built into its new building where you

          5  have separate fuel cells. We should be talking about

          6  are we going to be held hostage as we go into the

          7  next century to a monopoly that is going to provide

          8  all of the feeder cables and transmission system to

          9  our whole City, even though we could have a power

         10  plant built on every block, it wouldn't make a

         11  difference to the world, if we had all of the power

         12  in the world, if these feeder systems are not

         13  maintained and if they are not replaced and if there

         14  are not an adequate number to control our

         15  communities, we can't possibly --

         16                 MR. HAUER: I agree with you.

         17                 SPEAKER VALLONE: -- Let the greatest

         18  City in the world go into this kind of a confusing

         19  and deleterious future.

         20                 So, we have a lot of work to do, and

         21  we have a lot more information to get from Con

         22  Edison and from agencies as to what they did. The

         23  Office of Aging, did it do what it was supposed to

         24  do in notifying all of the senior citizen centers

         25  and the senior citizen residences that we have spent
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          2  so much time building throughout our City in the

          3  last decade?

          4                 MR. HAUER: In fact they did. The

          5  Department for the Aging activated all of their

          6  centers, they extended the hours, they did outreach,

          7  and we went after the most vulnerable populations.

          8                 SPEAKER VALLONE: But did they have

          9  emergency generators in all situations to cover it?

         10                 MR. HAUER: I don't believe they do.

         11                 SPEAKER VALLONE: That is one of the

         12  things we are going to have to be looking at.

         13                 MR. HAUER: The issue of emergency

         14  generators is a very important one, and where to put

         15  them, how to put them, I agree with you, these are

         16  some very difficult questions, because there is a

         17  balance you strike and that is one of the issues we

         18  have to look at with what Con Ed is doing, is the

         19  balance they are striking between having enough

         20  feeders and the cost.

         21                 We have to ensure that the cost is

         22  not preventing us from providing an adequate

         23  distribution mechanism in this City and it is not

         24  the volume of electricity that was used because the

         25  volume was there, the capacity was there, it is the
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          2  infrastructure, as you mentioned, that we were held

          3  hostage to.

          4                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Director.

          5  There are many questions to be answered.

          6                 Council Member John Sabini.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Speaker.

          9                 Good afternoon, Mr. Hauer.

         10                 I come to the following questions

         11  without prejudice. I don't represent any housing

         12  projects, but I can't help but come up with some

         13  real questions in my mind about the thought

         14  procedure that went through the situation in the

         15  City's Housing Projects.

         16                 First of all, in your written

         17  statement that you presented, you said that this

         18  decision to cut off hot water to NYCHA project

         19  residents was done at the behest of Con Ed. Now, Con

         20  Ed testified earlier that was not the case.

         21                 MR. HAUER: Would you like me to

         22  answer that now?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Let me just

         24  further say that your spokesman, in an article in

         25  Newsday, said that it was done by your office in
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          2  consultation with NYCHA.

          3                 MR. HAUER: That is not accurate. My

          4  office did not --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Your spokesman

          6  said that in Newsday.

          7                 MR. HAUER: Well, that is not

          8  accurate.

          9                 I will address how it was done. Con

         10  Ed called NYCHA and asked NYCHA, because they are

         11  such a large customer, to find ways to reduce power.

         12  We were having problems on Tuesday in Washington

         13  Heights, and then on Wednesday we were having

         14  problems in Lower Manhattan, as a result of the

         15  fire.

         16                 NYCHA basically looked at how to go

         17  about doing it without causing a public safety

         18  problem, and without threatening all power to the

         19  facilities, because if we didn't reduce power, we

         20  ran the risk of losing all power. And when we lose

         21  power in a NYCHA facility, particularly with the

         22  elderly population, we wind up with enormous

         23  problems when someone has a heart attack and needs

         24  medical care in getting crews up and getting that

         25  person down.
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          2                 So, at all costs we wanted to

          3  preserve the elevators. So NYCHA talked with OEM.

          4  They called us, they told us that they were going to

          5  shut the boilers down. We thought it was a good idea

          6  because during the day when people were at work, it

          7  was the least inconvenience that we could engage

          8  with these people so that we preserve the elevators,

          9  the hallway lights. We felt, which NYCHA really felt

         10  strongly about, was a public safety issue. And I

         11  agree with them. I think at turning the hot water

         12  off for a period of time to preserve the public

         13  safety was a reasonable decision.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay, so let

         15  me reiterate then. It wasn't done at the behest of

         16  Con Edison, Con Edison asked you to reduce power at

         17  NYCHA --

         18                 MR. HAUER: That's correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But the

         20  decision on the hot water was made NYCHA/OEM?

         21                 MR. HAUER: NYCHA made the decision.

         22  They asked us about it, we thought it was a good

         23  decision and it happened.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So, it wasn't

         25  Con Ed's decision?
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          2                 MR. HAUER: No. Con Ed asked us to

          3  reduce power use.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. Now,

          5  what power do you save by shutting off hot water.

          6                 MR. HAUER: The pumps in the

          7  buildings. The boilers are gas or oil fed, but the

          8  pumps --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right, and

         10  some steam, from what I understand too.

         11                 MR. HAUER: Yes. Most of it is

         12  circulation panels and breakers that are in this.

         13  The distribution of the turn pump, they felt that

         14  was an easy way to do it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay, so they

         16  shut off the pumps --

         17                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Last question, John.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And if they

         19  shut off the pumps my understanding was that cold

         20  water was coming out of the taps, don't those pumps

         21  --

         22                 MR. HAUER: Those are pressure fed

         23  from the roof.  And again, I am not an expert on

         24  NYCHA's system, but that is my understanding.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you very much.

          3                 Council Member Fiala.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Speaker.

          6                 Mr. Hauer, let me preface my question

          7  with my perception. I want to thank you and the

          8  Mayor and all of those agencies involved. I think

          9  what was on display was proactive action, as opposed

         10  to simply reacting. Clearly you looked at this days

         11  in advance and the City took what steps it would

         12  have to take and you are to be commended for that.

         13  The question I have for you is a simple one. When I

         14  asked Con Edison if the problem resulted from demand

         15  outpacing supply, the answer was no. In your

         16  testimony you alluded to the fact that maybe they

         17  needed to look at their infrastructure needs and

         18  that seems to be their conclusion thus far.

         19                 MR. HAUER: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Although I am

         21  sure that we are going to be seeing a lot more in

         22  terms of investigation.

         23                 On the communication side, because

         24  you, as the Director of all emergency services in

         25  the City during the time of crisis know and said,
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          2  that the communication link is really the critical

          3  one.

          4                 MR. HAUER: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: What could Con

          6  Ed, what should they have done, but more

          7  importantly, what could they do in the future to

          8  ensure that that link is working. Not that

          9  information is flowing, if information is not

         10  correct, you are at a disadvantage. What should Con

         11  Ed have done and what recommendations would you make

         12  that they do in the future?

         13                 MR. HAUER: Well, that's a good

         14  question. I think we need to have one voice from Con

         15  Ed, because we were getting a number of different

         16  analyses of what was going on, particularly in

         17  Washington Heights.

         18                 I had, Gerry McCarte was on site with

         19  Con Ed, my Deputy Director, and was getting a story

         20  from Con Ed up there that was inconsistent with what

         21  my First Deputy Director Jack Travitz was getting in

         22  the EOC from senior members of Con Ed.

         23                 I would like to understand why there

         24  was this difference of opinion in Con Ed as to how

         25  the system was functioning, when we would get
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          2  feeders back on, because as Columbia Pres said, we

          3  had a difficult time getting good information.

          4                 I actually called Con Ed on Thursday

          5  morning and my staff again called Con Ed and

          6  demanded that we have a person on site at Columbia

          7  Pres because we were not getting good information

          8  out when the feeders were coming up, how they were

          9  going to transition Columbia Pres back on line, and

         10  we were very frustrated. So we needed a consistent

         11  source of information and we need one voice telling

         12  the City what is in fact happening. But we need an

         13  open, honest opinion. If the feeders are not going

         14  to be back on, don't tell us we might get a feeder

         15  back on. You know, we need to plan for the worst

         16  case, not for optimistic cases that we wind up

         17  falling short of. Because as we plan in the EOC

         18  overnight, we continue to look at the thing from a

         19  pessimistic point of view, but we get messages from

         20  Con Ed that, yes, by 9:30 we will have two

         21  additional cables on and we will have the power for

         22  15,000 people back on in Washington Heights and

         23  things should be back to normal, and then within the

         24  hour we lose all of Washington Heights.

         25                 I need to understand what goes on in
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          2  the communications of Con Ed because there is such a

          3  disparate functioning of the information that comes

          4  out.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Well, as a

          6  follow-up, what is your confidence level as an

          7  expert in this City that we are going to arrive at

          8  such a place? Is your confidence level high that Con

          9  Ed has learned and will move forward?

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: This is

         11  your final question, Council Member.

         12                 MR. HAUER: I hope so. And we will

         13  continue to work with Con Ed, because this, you know

         14  we are getting towards August, some of the peak

         15  loads on the system are coming in the next six

         16  weeks, and I have to ensure that we are well

         17  prepared should something like this happen again.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Okay, thank

         19  you.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         21  Member Linares.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.

         24                 Mr. Hauer, you know, I think it would

         25  be appropriate to acknowledge that the night of the
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          2  blackout, the emergency services in the community

          3  were exemplary.

          4                 MR. HAUER: They were.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Given the

          6  circumstances, but I think that I want to

          7  acknowledge that publicly. But knowing your

          8  background, knowing the system that we have in place

          9  in the City of New York in the eventuality of any

         10  catastrophe, whether it is earthquake, whether it is

         11  a hurricane, and knowing how able we are and

         12  prepared we are, perhaps the best in the world, what

         13  is most frustrating to me and disturbing to me is

         14  that even with that level of preparation, even

         15  knowing that this was a national phenomena

         16  effecting, even knowing that Con Edison may have

         17  been thinking more optimistic than we as the City

         18  need to be in the eventuality of endangering our

         19  citizens, especially in Washington Heights, what is

         20  disturbing is that 10:00 in the evening, when there

         21  was a blackout, the community that I represent was

         22  totally oblivious to that possibility, and I can

         23  tell you that driving around, and we bumped into

         24  each other a few times that evening in the dark --

         25                 MR. HAUER: Right. Sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I can tell

          3  you that there was no clue, no sense for the

          4  neighbors, for the seniors, that this was an

          5  eventuality.

          6                 In other words, we were caught red

          7  handed. We were caught with our pants down as a

          8  City, and this is something that we have to reflect

          9  on.

         10                 I am not looking for blame, I am

         11  looking for examining really what happened here and

         12  what failed.

         13                 Now, I think Con Edison failed in

         14  arranging this, but I think we also as a City fail,

         15  and a lot of people got hurt and a lot of people are

         16  in pain because of this.

         17                 If there is a lesson here, it is one

         18  where we have to examine, we have to go back, what

         19  do we do that we should have done to prepare better.

         20  And I pose that question in a way of frustration

         21  that I have been getting from every single neighbor

         22  that I have been representing.

         23                 MR. HAUER: Your point is a good one,

         24  and let me address it, because I understand your

         25  frustration. And let me tell you the balance that we
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          2  have to strike.

          3                 When we found out that there was a

          4  potential for losing power in Washington Heights,

          5  calls were made to critical facilities, calls were

          6  made to vulnerable residents, LSEs, they were made

          7  to the nursing homes, they were made to senior

          8  centers, schools were open. There were a number of

          9  efforts at outreach, including through the media, to

         10  ask people to reduce usage in Washington Heights,

         11  and that was done numerous times throughout the day.

         12                 The problem we have got is we have

         13  got to balance the information we get from Con Ed,

         14  who was telling us that things were going to be back

         15  on line -- now, we didn't totally subscribe to that,

         16  so we mobilized City resources, we had them in

         17  Washington Heights, we had fire trucks, we had

         18  police, we had my staff working with the hospitals,

         19  but if we go out and if we get a little too ahead of

         20  ourselves sometimes we overreact and then our

         21  message gets mixed because then when nothing happens

         22  we go back again and people say, oh, those idiots,

         23  they told us last time that there was going to be a

         24  hurricane, there was no hurricane, I am not leaving

         25  my house and then we have loss of life.
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          2                 And it is a very delicate balance, I

          3  understand your frustration. I was standing there

          4  when the lights went out, because I was at a manhole

          5  fire on Broadway and Nagle Avenue, with the Con Ed

          6  supervisor at their command post and they were

          7  telling me that things were looking good to get back

          8  on line.

          9                 I was in the neighborhood because we

         10  wanted to make sure that things were going well, we

         11  wanted to do the outreach. We did as much as we

         12  could to prepare the neighborhood without, based on

         13  the information we were getting and without trying

         14  to get too far ahead of ourselves. And we had to

         15  rely somewhat on the fact that we had a plan in

         16  place, and the plan in fact went well. We had no

         17  loss of life in the Washington Heights area, there

         18  were no deaths as a result of this. The EMS, the

         19  Police Department did an outstanding job in

         20  protecting the public safety and responding to

         21  emergencies. So, we had everything ready, things

         22  went well. I understand some of the frustrations but

         23  we have to be careful in the balance in how we

         24  communicate some of this.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council
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          2  Member Leffler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Thank you.

          4  Good afternoon, Mr. Hauer. I commend you on your

          5  efforts. I really think you are a very good public

          6  servant.

          7                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Or always at

          9  the scene of an emergency.

         10                 I have three questions. Many years

         11  ago, maybe 15 years ago, I was involved in setting

         12  up a trust fund to compensate people, basically home

         13  owners, who get their homes -- whose homes are not

         14  properly repaired by contractors. What are the

         15  possibilities of the City setting up a fund to

         16  compensate similarly for losses to people who suffer

         17  losses and aren't covered by insurance?

         18                 MR. HAUER: I certainly think it is

         19  something we could look at. You know, a disaster

         20  fund like that could not only be used for power

         21  outages, but other types of -- you know, the

         22  Springfield Gardens water main problem that we had

         23  with the flooding there, as you well know, has been

         24  a very big problem, I would certainly like to

         25  discuss that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay.

          3                 MR. HAUER: Let me also

          4  parenthetically say, we have also requested --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Maybe if I

          6  introduced legislation, I will introduce legislation

          7  and then you can comment on it. But it seems to me

          8  we have at least that one model and we know that

          9  there are a lot of people who weren't compensated

         10  for their losses.

         11                 MR. HAUER: Okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Secondly,

         13  energy conservation has lagged greatly, not that the

         14  energy conservation would have offset the problem

         15  here, but it would help reduce the problem.

         16                 For example, the State only

         17  contributes, I think it is less than a quarter in

         18  funds for energy conservation that it did a few

         19  years ago, is part of the City's program to promote

         20  energy conservation?

         21                 MR. HAUER: My office does not do

         22  that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I know that,

         24  obviously. You deal with emergencies, not with

         25  long-term remedies like that.
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          2                 MR. HAUER: We deal with some

          3  long-term things but not something of this nature.

          4                 I can't honestly tell you how we are

          5  addressing that on a citywide basis.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Well, that

          7  seems to me another area in which government has

          8  basically too much narrowed its focus in recent

          9  years. It had a more long-term viewpoint like during

         10  the oil crisis of 1979 I think it was, '73, it was

         11  much greater emphasis but with the price of fuel

         12  oil, oil in real terms having declined a lot, energy

         13  conservation has lagged.

         14                 And the third is, what are you doing

         15  -- what are we doing to promote power expansion,

         16  increased plants, increased capacity? My

         17  understanding is there are a number of applications,

         18  I think six, pending at the state level. This is an

         19  area where it seems to me the City government can

         20  contribute to at least pushing to unlock the

         21  application process so that we can generate more

         22  power.

         23                 MR. HAUER: Yes, my understanding, and

         24  your point is a good one, is most of those are

         25  locked up at the regulatory agencies and they have
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          2  not been approved.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Keep up your

          4  good work.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

          8  Member Michels.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you for

         10  your testimony, and I followed it very carefully. I

         11  have come to the conclusion that your conclusion is

         12  on the 6th of July we had two failures, and it was

         13  an electrical failure and a failure of

         14  communication.

         15                 MR. HAUER: I agree.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And it seems

         17  to me that we have to do something about it in the

         18  future. And you were relying completely on Con Ed.

         19                 MR. HAUER: No, we weren't relying

         20  completely on --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: As to what

         22  the status of the electrical system was.

         23                 MR. HAUER: We were taking a worst

         24  case scenario, but, yes, I have no one else to rely

         25  on.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is the

          3  point I am trying to make.

          4                 MR. HAUER: Yes, you are absolutely

          5  right. I have to rely on them for the information.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you have

          7  anybody on your staff who is an engineer or somebody

          8  who is familiar with the innerworkings of the

          9  electrical system, the grids?

         10                 MR. HAUER: Not on my staff, but DCAS

         11  does. They have -- as a matter of fact we brought

         12  them over to help with some of the information. They

         13  have some electrical engineers who clearly

         14  understand the grid, and when we had meetings with

         15  Con Ed on Wednesday morning, they sat in on those

         16  meetings to make sure --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But nobody

         18  before that? In other words, nobody on Tuesday or

         19  Monday or Sunday? As I understand, there was a

         20  conference call on Sunday.

         21                 MR. HAUER: Well, I personally talked

         22  to Con Ed Friday afternoon, and they reassured me

         23  that the grid would handle the load.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are not

         25  an engineer --
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          2                 MR. HAUER: No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You probably

          4  couldn't even ask the right questions, except the

          5  basic things that we all know here, and you probably

          6  know a little more than us.

          7                 MR. HAUER: I understand the grid, but

          8  I am a physiologist, not an electrician.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I'm a lawyer,

         10  I am not an electrical engineer.

         11                 MR. HAUER: Agreed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But it seems

         13  to me that if we are going to have Con Ed running

         14  our electrical system, I mean, some cities, they own

         15  the electrical system, Los Angeles, for instance --

         16                 MR. HAUER: Understood.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:   That we

         18  need somebody who can do some oversight. We are

         19  completely at their mercy as to what the information

         20  is. Don't you think that we should establish an

         21  agency, or perhaps somebody in your agency or

         22  perhaps somebody in your agency who can do

         23  oversight, with knowledge who actually could go into

         24  Con Ed and look at the system, ask the questions

         25  beforehand, continually on a year-round basis. With
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          2  the water supply, as it was alluded to here before,

          3  the electrical system -- without this electrical

          4  system, and we now know, as we have learned over the

          5  years, this City cannot properly operate. People can

          6  be damaged, economic losses, loss of life and

          7  everything else, don't you think we ought to have an

          8  oversight body where we have educated people who

          9  really could go in and say, it is okay, we hear from

         10  you, we want to see --

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is that

         12  PSC (phonetic) who is supposed to do that?

         13                 MR. HAUER: Well, the state does that.

         14  There historically has been nobody at the City level

         15  that has really done any oversight.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Does the

         17  state play a role in all of this?

         18                 MR. HAUER: No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So we can't

         20  rely on the state either.

         21                 MR. HAUER: I understand what you are

         22  saying.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We have to

         24  rely on ourselves. The fact of the matter is, we

         25  should have somebody here who knows the system, is
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          2  an engineer who can say look, you are saying this is

          3  fine, show us the data, show us your computer

          4  printouts, let us take a look at your system. Show

          5  us what you are relying on so we know we can rely on

          6  it, and tell us the possibilities, the

          7  probabilities; don't you think we ought to have

          8  that?

          9                 MR. HAUER: I don't think it is a bad

         10  idea.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think it is

         12  a good idea.

         13                 MR. HAUER: I won't argue with you. I

         14  think that having --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Because you

         16  just came in after the fact, after this happened.

         17  You didn't communicate, you relied on everything

         18  they told you. You should know about what was going

         19  on beforehand. And say look, you are telling me

         20  this, this is not the case, and maybe we should be

         21  better prepared than we were now.

         22                 MR. HAUER: Well, I think that it is

         23  having a better understanding of the whole Con Ed

         24  infrastructure from a technical perspective, which

         25  the City has historically not done.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What I am

          3  getting from you, and I listened very carefully to

          4  you, is they were being very sanguine and optimistic

          5  - well, don't worry, we will have the system back.

          6                 MR. HAUER: Agreed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Because it is

          8  to their benefit. Not to cause any problem to our

          9  benefit also of course, but don't you think you

         10  should have somebody who could be realistic and say,

         11  look, you are telling us that this is great, I think

         12  there is a possibility of a problem here. You could

         13  have somebody to do that.

         14                 MR. HAUER: I won't argue with that.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: He agrees

         16  with you, Stanley.

         17                 MR. HAUER: I am not arguing with you,

         18  believe me.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         20  Freed.

         21                 MR. HAUER: We agree with you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, thank

         23  you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair.
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          2                 Actually I would like to follow up on

          3  that because what bothers me is that we heard

          4  earlier than this that there were certain areas that

          5  they problems in before that they thought might have

          6  been problem areas, and it seems that some of those

          7  were the areas that they did have problems with. And

          8  certainly I think most of us came to the same

          9  conclusion that you did that when you look at the

         10  areas that did ultimately break down, like the

         11  Washington Heights area, and the area that is part

         12  of my district downtown, Cooper Square, it is clear

         13  that they probably need additional feeder systems.

         14                 MR. HAUER: Oh, I won't argue with

         15  you. I think we need to take a critical look at how

         16  the feeders are managed throughout the City, your

         17  area, Washington Heights,, and we are doing an

         18  analysis right now.  Why don't you put one of those

         19  charts up. I can show you that we are analyzing the

         20  demographics of every area, every grid in the City

         21  so that we are taking -- there is the Washington

         22  Heights grid and that is that data that you had

         23  earlier on, Council member, we are doing this for

         24  all the grids in the City to see if we can

         25  understand, not the number of customers but the
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          2  actual number of users, because these numbers are a

          3  little deceiving. This is customer. But a customer

          4  could be a high-rise building that is not submetered

          5  that has 400 apartments in it, so we are trying to

          6  break that down to do an analysis of that so we can

          7  get a better understanding of whether or not there

          8  are enough feeders in various areas of the City. I

          9  don't know what we will come up with, but I think it

         10  deserves a critical review to see if there is any

         11  underserved areas in the City.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right, so

         13  Stanley's point, it doesn't have kilowatt hours, are

         14  you looking at -- is there some way to look at that

         15  first?

         16                 MR. HAUER: We are looking at the

         17  number of customers, the number of people.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The usage, it

         19  doesn't show usage.

         20                 MR. HAUER: Well, that we are going to

         21  have to break down and get from Con Ed. We don't

         22  track usage.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         24                 MR. HAUER: But we want to understand

         25  the residential versus the commercial grid.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Although one of

          3  the problems you are going to have, and I can see it

          4  already, is that areas where you have had large

          5  population changes, such as Washington Heights and

          6  downtown, where you have a lot of additional users,

          7  not only just residential but you have a lot of,

          8  like I know again, we have a lot of new business

          9  uses, we have a lot of smart buildings, we have

         10  residential buildings that are already cable ready

         11  and computer cables, so my guess is you do have a

         12  lot of drain on the system that they certainly

         13  weren't ready for, and what I am worried about, and

         14  I think the City has to look at using this as a

         15  precursor, is what does happen in August if our

         16  August happens to be longer and hotter than our July

         17  was?

         18                 MR. HAUER: I agree.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And are they

         20  really prepared for it? And I am not sure I like the

         21  answer that we are coming up with.

         22                 MR. HAUER: Let me mention one point,

         23  because you made a statement that I think is very

         24  important.

         25                 We had about six weeks ago, Gerry
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          2  McCarte, one of my deputies, was in the Bowery at

          3  Grand Street, and we had six manholes explode.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right.

          5                 MR. HAUER: We had power out on a few

          6  of the blocks around there. When we went back and

          7  looked at it, it turns out that a number of the

          8  businesses had added demands without telling Con Ed.

          9  And I am not here to defend them, but I also have to

         10  be balanced in my assessment. These cable, these

         11  feeders --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Can I suggest

         13  that we -- this City really does not know what is

         14  going on, on parts of the Lower East Side they

         15  haven't kept track of a lot of it, I am not

         16  surprised that Con Ed doesn't, we have a lot of

         17  fires down there.

         18                 MR. HAUER: I know.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: A lot of it has

         20  to do -- I know you know.

         21                 MR. HAUER: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: A lot of it has

         23  to do with the old wiring, a lot of the problems is

         24  that that area has largely not been looked at. There

         25  is a lot of different enforcement that hasn't been
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          2  done, there is a lot of inspecting that should be

          3  done, businesses, residential, and I think all of

          4  that will key into exactly also what is happening

          5  with the power grid down there because I think it is

          6  woefully inadequate.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          8  Council Member.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I am sorry. I

         10  didn't even get to the question about it, because we

         11  didn't even talk at all about the Lower East Side

         12  except now, and we did have a blackout down there.

         13                 MR. HAUER: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And brownout.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Last

         16  question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         18                 And my staff did deal with your

         19  staff, with OEM, and largely were very helpful, but

         20  just to point out a couple of points that we did

         21  find is that one of the problems with some of the

         22  staff that were answering the hot line, didn't

         23  really know what to tell people to do. They were

         24  trying to tell people to go to the cooling centers,

         25  but the problem was that they were stuck in their
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          2  elevators, they were without elevators, without

          3  elevators they couldn't get down, and in fact they

          4  got, in some of the NYCHA in the Village View

          5  Projects, Village View Housing downtown, got the

          6  flyers after the elevators went out.

          7                 And then the final problem was that

          8  your staff was very nice but they actually said that

          9  at that point after we had had people stuck in the

         10  buildings for like eight to ten hours, they really

         11  didn't have people to go around and do building

         12  checks because they said they were just overtaxed.

         13                 MR. HAUER: Well, let me address the

         14  two points. One, picking people up.

         15                 We had an agreement with the New York

         16  State Ambulance Association that we exercised, and

         17  we had ambulances available and we had vans

         18  available to pick people up to take them to cooling

         19  centers and we did have requests for that.

         20                 I will find out what happened with

         21  the hot line staff because we rotated people in from

         22  a variety of City agencies and they were going 24

         23  hours a day at that point. We don't usually do

         24  apartment to apartment check.

         25                 The first priority, and I can tell
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          2  you I was briefed by the emergency service unit

          3  lieutenant at the scene, on the lower east side,

          4  because I was at the fire, we had a number of people

          5  trapped in elevators and our first concern was to

          6  rescue people in elevators. And then we had to, when

          7  we started recognizing the power was going out, we

          8  wanted to get to the nursing homes, we wanted to get

          9  the people with life support equipment, we visited

         10  them, we called them, we visited them and we made

         11  sure that they were all right.

         12                 They are our first priority. We have

         13  to get to LSEs, we have to get to the hospitals, we

         14  have to get to the nursing homes, and then we start

         15  going to the -- and DFTA then does outreach to the

         16  senior centers and places like that.

         17                 It is difficult for us as a City, and

         18  maybe it is something we should look at, but it is

         19  very difficult to go apartment by apartment in some

         20  of the high-rise buildings. In the NYCHA facilities

         21  it is easier because there is a manager on site who

         22  tells us where the vulnerable populations are, that

         23  we have got an 80-year-old person in this apartment,

         24  this apartment has a handicapped person, we can get

         25  to them very quickly. In private buildings it is not
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          2  as easy to do.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: As it

          4  relates to those individuals and groups that are

          5  notified, are the community boards involved as part

          6  of the notification process?

          7                 MR. HAUER: You know, a number of the

          8  Council members, I know we notified your office.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But not the

         10  community boards?

         11                 MR. HAUER: No. You know again --

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You

         13  should consider that. You should consider adding

         14  them as a part of the process.

         15                 Council Member Lopez.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Mr. Hauer, I

         17  have great respect for you, and I think that you are

         18  a great public official.

         19                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And I love to

         21  work with your office, you are very professional

         22  there.

         23                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have two

         25  concerns.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            182

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 MR. HAUER: Okay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: One of my

          4  concerns has to do with the amount of new structures

          5  that had been built in the Lower Manhattan part is

          6  humungous, and I always, in terms of the

          7  electricity, the water and all of the supplies that

          8  have to exist to provide for this building, if when

          9  these buildings were built and developed and the new

         10  construction that are happening in my neighborhood

         11  are being put in place, the implications of all of

         12  this is that it is going to start seeking

         13  electricity.

         14                 MR. HAUER: Draining power, sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And to this

         16  day, for the last 20 years I have been in this

         17  community and I had not seen a single new

         18  construction by Con Edison being put in place to

         19  supply electricity to all of those new places.

         20                 Meanwhile, in the heart of my

         21  community is the biggest, humungous plant that Con

         22  Edison has in Manhattan. I want to know if the

         23  Office of the Mayor has received any proposal, any

         24  plan, to increase the amount of feeders that Con

         25  Edison has in order to supply electricity for all of
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          2  these new construction?

          3                 MR. HAUER: Well, that is an excellent

          4  question. I think that is basically the heart of the

          5  concerns that we all have about what went on in

          6  Washington Heights. As neighborhoods have grown, as

          7  they have become so vital around the City and we

          8  have seen new developments and new businesses, has

          9  the infrastructure kept up with it? And I don't know

         10  if I have the answer to that.

         11                 I don't know -- first of all, we

         12  would not get a request for proposal from Con Ed, it

         13  would go to DOT that they need to dig up the street,

         14  but they wouldn't tell us why they are digging up

         15  the street.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: We have a

         17  problem here. I mean, I have to raise my voice very

         18  loud on this particular issue, because the amount of

         19  development that has occurred in the Lower Manhattan

         20  part, from my district to Councilwoman Freed's to

         21  Councilwoman Chris Quinn, is incredible. The amount

         22  of buildings, I mean it is more than 200 buildings

         23  on this side alone, and in the area where I am, the

         24  new buildings that have been built and the buildings

         25  that were abandoned before are in use now.
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          2                 MR. HAUER: I know, I visited many of

          3  them with you when we have had problems down there.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Exactly.

          5  Humungous. And somewhere, somehow the Administration

          6  has to begin looking into the question of how we

          7  have to keep up with the new construction and the

          8  provision of electricity for this building. That is

          9  one thing that I want to point out to the

         10  Administration, and I would like an answer in the

         11  future about that.

         12                 MR. HAUER: I will find out because it

         13  is an excellent question, and I think it is

         14  basically the heart of the concern we have got today

         15  is are there enough feeders to supply the increased

         16  demand in the City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The second

         18  concern I have, and this is very serious now: When

         19  Columbia University came to testify here earlier, I

         20  was appalled by the fact that these people were not

         21  told that this may happen.

         22                 I understand not to communicate to

         23  tenants, businesses, but a hospital of that size and

         24  a hospital that has so much important research

         25  inside, not to be told very point clear that this
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          2  may happen is an outrage.

          3                 MR. HAUER: Yes, I agree with you. I

          4  don't necessarily agree with their assessment

          5  though.

          6                 I had people up there all day Tuesday

          7  before the power went out and if I am correct, their

          8  generators were already working by the time the

          9  power went out because they anticipated this

         10  problem.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, then

         12  those generators that they have in there are not

         13  adequate and we in the City have to review this.

         14                 MR. HAUER: Well, that is a different

         15  issue, because let me address that. Your point is a

         16  good one.

         17                 We have had the Long Island Jewish

         18  Hospital, several times now I have been up there

         19  because they lost power because of some feeder

         20  problems and their generators failed on two

         21  occasions -- one occasion, excuse me.

         22                 We have been meeting with the Greater

         23  New York Hospital Association to emphasize the need

         24  to do testing on a regular basis, not just dummy

         25  testing but actual load testing in the hospital. A
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          2  lot of places just turn their generators on to see

          3  if they spin, and I personally was involved when

          4  Coney Island Hospital about 12 years ago had a power

          5  outage. They had been testing their generators every

          6  month but never under load. They actually put a load

          7  on the generator and they failed.

          8                 About six weeks ago we had a problem

          9  at Columbia Pres with the electrical feed, and one

         10  of their generators failed. So, this was not new,

         11  this was something they were aware of.

         12                 We had talked with Columbia Pres and

         13  told that Columbia Pres' generators went on over the

         14  weekend as tests so that if they did lose power they

         15  would be ready.

         16                 I know that my staff talked with

         17  them, we did outreach to the nursing homes and the

         18  hospitals, and that they were in fact on generator

         19  power when the power went out on Tuesday night.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The testimony

         21  they provided here contradicts that. I mean, you

         22  were here, you heard him.

         23                 MR. HAUER: I understand that --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And they deny

         25  such a thing.
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          2                 MR. HAUER: -- But I can tell you that

          3  their generators had been running for so long that

          4  when I got to the emergency room at about midnight

          5  on Tuesday night, one of the generators had shut

          6  down because it was overheating.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. The last

          8  point I want to make is, in regard to the crisis

          9  that occurred, although I understand that the Inwood

         10  community and the Washington Heights community were

         11  in bad, bad shape, I want you to know that the

         12  situation that was happening in the lower east side

         13  was that we were not finding any answers, any

         14  questions to be able for us to put forward to anyone

         15  because the whole group of people that was willing

         16  or able to deal with this were over there, and the

         17  area down here was totally abandoned.

         18                 MR. HAUER: I beg to differ with you.

         19  I was down there when the power went out. I was at

         20  the fire, when we starting losing power I was down

         21  there. I was at the scene of the fire, I went to

         22  some of the projects, I had staff at the projects,

         23  we were working with Con Ed down there. I talked to

         24  the president of Con Ed because I knew that they

         25  were focusing on Washington Heights and I told them
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          2  I needed a senior Con Ed official at the scene of

          3  the fire now, immediately, to tell us what was going

          4  on because there was so much confusion about what

          5  was the MTA's and what was Con Ed.

          6                 It took us over an hour to figure

          7  out, because we could not get the appropriate people

          8  to the scene, we couldn't figure out what was MTA

          9  feeders and what was Con Ed feeders that were

         10  burning. And that posed a real problem for the Fire

         11  Department because they did not want to commit

         12  resources into the basement with all of these

         13  feeders still arching and burning. It was a very

         14  dangerous situation.

         15                 But I can assure you, we would never

         16  abandon the Lower East Side. I had staff down there,

         17  the Police Department had a large number of

         18  resources. Because I can tell you, they briefed me

         19  and they told me what they were doing as far as

         20  rescues in the elevators, and they had a large

         21  number of rescues they had to do in elevators.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         24  Member Linares.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Mr. Hauer, a
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          2  lot of reference has been made to Washington

          3  Heights, Washington Heights, and I would like to

          4  point out that Washington Heights lost power at ten

          5  in the evening on Tuesday, but Inwood, which is the

          6  other community adjacent to Washington Heights lost

          7  power the day before.

          8                 MR. HAUER: They lost power during the

          9  overnight time, that morning, and I know because

         10  Gerry McCarte was up there with him all day.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: And the

         12  damage that Inwood received was much more

         13  devastating, in fact power was turned on much later

         14  than it was for Washington Heights.

         15                 MR. HAUER: I know.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: And the

         17  question I have is, wasn't this an indicator for

         18  you, as well as Con Edison, to really read into how

         19  serious this was a situation? And my understanding

         20  is that there are still serious problems in Inwood

         21  that are not yet resolved, such as some of the large

         22  buildings still being dependent on generators.

         23                 MR. HAUER: Yes, we also had

         24  Williamsburg and Long Island City. In Williamsburg

         25  we had a number of feeders out, had we lost one more
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          2  we would have potentially lost all of Williamsburg.

          3  We were dealing with this situation, we never did

          4  lose Williamsburg because they got the feeders back

          5  on line because we were able to get demand down. We

          6  went on TV, we got to the community, we got to

          7  NYCHA, we were able to forestall any further

          8  outages.

          9                 These things are very difficult to

         10  manage because we have them on a regular basis. We

         11  have feeder problems in the City almost weekly. Some

         12  deteriorate very rapidly, some don't, and we address

         13  the thing as aggressively as we could.

         14                 Let me also say as far as damages,

         15  the Mayor has signed a request to the Small Business

         16  Administration for a disaster declaration so we can

         17  get assistance for the people of Washington Heights

         18  through SBA and that is being forwarded to the SBA

         19  today.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         21  you, Mr. Linares.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Yes, I have

         23  made that request, and in fact people in the

         24  community, merchants, had also made that request.

         25                 MR. HAUER: Yes, that is being done.
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          2  We called the SBA last week, we did all of the

          3  paperwork, brought them in, they did their analysis

          4  and the paperwork is going in. That will be done

          5  quite quickly.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We want

          7  to thank you for your testimony. Obviously this is

          8  not the end of our discussion on this issue, but you

          9  should also know for the record, there were portions

         10  of Jamaica that also experienced --

         11                 MR. HAUER: We also in Jamaica had a

         12  very serious water problem. We almost lost all water

         13  pressure in Jamaica. We had people out there all day

         14  and we were dealing with that as well.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         16  you.

         17                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Borough

         19  President Virginia Fields has a representative in

         20  the room, so if he will come forward we would be

         21  pleased to hear the Borough President's views on

         22  this issue.

         23                 Immediately following that we will

         24  have a panel of Sybil Dodson, Victor Morisete, Zoilo

         25  Ramirez, Walter Delgado and George Sanchez,
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          2  immediately following the representative of the

          3  Borough President.

          4                 Identify yourself, sir, for the

          5  record.

          6                 MR. CORNELIUS: Thank you. My name is

          7  Chico Cornelius. I am the Director for

          8  Intergovernmental Relations for the Manhattan

          9  Borough President, and I am here to testify on her

         10  behalf. The Borough President would have liked to

         11  have testified herself but due to the late running

         12  nature of the hearing in her community she is unable

         13  to.

         14                 Let me just read her statement: I am

         15  going to preface my testimony with something that

         16  cannot be said often enough. The people of

         17  Washington Heights responded magnificently to last

         18  week's blackout in the community. Several of my

         19  staff members were in Washington Heights throughout

         20  the crisis, assisting residents, and witnessing the

         21  cooperation between both neighbors and strangers.

         22                 Last night I held a public forum in

         23  Washington Heights and I was in awe of the stories I

         24  heard of neighbors looking out for one another, even

         25  carrying elderly neighbors down many flights of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            193

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  stairs when the elevators failed.

          3                 I also have nothing but praise for

          4  the professionalism of the police, firefighters, EMS

          5  and other City workers, as well as Con Ed repair

          6  staff during the blackout. They are to be commended.

          7                 Now, I want to briefly make three

          8  points in my testimony. First, yesterday we learned

          9  that Con Edison has named a Blue Ribbon Panel of

         10  outside experts in the electrical engineering and

         11  utility management to study the causes and

         12  consequences of the blackout.

         13                 That is certainly a good first step.

         14  But I am also asking Con Ed, and I hope you will

         15  join me, the Committee will join me in asking, in

         16  making this request, that the composition of the

         17  panel be broadened to include experts who will bring

         18  the consumer point of view to the panel's

         19  deliberations and final report.

         20                 That would go a long way toward

         21  allaying any suspicion that the panel will do a

         22  whitewash of the blackout to protect fellow members

         23  of an engineering-utility fraternity.

         24                 Second: I hope the Committee will

         25  also join me in urging that this study of the
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          2  blackout include a thorough investigation of the

          3  issue of how best to notify the public of the

          4  potential for the kind of blackout that occurred

          5  last week.

          6                 The lack of such prior notification

          7  was a major concern voiced at last night's public

          8  forum. A better emergency notification system could

          9  have prevented a good deal of personal suffering and

         10  property loss in a blackout area.

         11                 And a notification system that

         12  involved local elected officials, community boards,

         13  church leaders and grassroots organizations would

         14  have taken a lot of sting out of the feeling that

         15  this minority immigrant community was being treated

         16  in a discriminatory fashion.

         17                 And that goes to my third, final and

         18  most important point:

         19                 When there is an emergency, a

         20  blizzard, a heatwave, a hurricane, whatever - New

         21  Yorkers have the right to expect that everyone in

         22  the City will pull together, and, that if sacrifices

         23  are needed, they will be fairly apportioned.

         24                 Unfortunately, that sense of

         25  community and fairness was lacking during last
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          2  week's blackout.

          3                 Con Ed seems to have reasonable

          4  engineering explanations for why the electrical

          5  delivery system failed in Washington Heights instead

          6  of other parts of the City.

          7                 But there should also be an

          8  explanation if over the years that system has been

          9  maintained or upgraded in Washington Heights with

         10  sufficient forethought and diligence.

         11                 I also strongly urge this Committee

         12  to ask Housing Authority officials to come before

         13  you to explain how and why the decision was made to

         14  cut off the power to hot water heaters in all NYCHA

         15  developments during the heatwave.

         16                 NYCHA Housing happens to have very

         17  heavy concentrations of low-income women, children

         18  and elderly, so I want an explanation from NYCHA why

         19  hot water was taken away from those people living in

         20  often crowded and uncomfortable apartments when

         21  other New Yorkers weren't being asked to make the

         22  same and comparable sacrifices.

         23                 In conclusion, based on what I have

         24  heard at my own hearing last night, I do think that

         25  there is a lot that we can do to lessen the
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          2  possibility of blackouts, lessen the impact when

          3  they happen and create an emergency management

          4  system that is effective, responsive and fair to all

          5  communities.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          8  you. Give our best to the Borough President. Thank

          9  her for her testimony.

         10                 MR. CORENELIUS: I will.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The Bronx

         12  Borough President has a rep here, if he is present,

         13  please --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,

         15  I just want to acknowledge the hearing that both

         16  Guillermo Linares and I were at last night of at the

         17  Isabella Home, and what a good job she did there and

         18  we are really appreciative.

         19                 MR. CORNELIUS: Thank you.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You may

         21  proceed, sir.

         22                 MR. VERNUCCIO: Good afternoon. On

         23  behalf of Bronx Borough President Fernando Ferrer,

         24  my name is Frank Vernuccio.

         25                 In early July, as the bright lights
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          2  of Times Square continued to glitter and major

          3  commercial areas throughout most of Manhattan

          4  remained unaffected, 70,000 households within

          5  Washington Heights and the hospital, enterprises and

          6  transit and water lines that service one of our

          7  City's poorest areas, lost power from a little after

          8  10:00 p.m. On July 6th, to approximately 5:05 p.m.

          9  on July 7th.

         10                 In the wake of this life-threatening

         11  incident, we have learned that Con Ed has failed to

         12  implement all of the recommendations made to the

         13  utility following the disastrous 1965 and 1977

         14  blackouts.

         15                 The response to the severe losses

         16  suffered by area families and businesses has been

         17  equally unacceptable, a mere $100 for individuals

         18  and $2,000 for businesses. The organization's

         19  corporate memory is quite short. In 1981, the State

         20  Court of Appeals awarded $40,000 in damages, for

         21  example, to just one store owner following the '77

         22  blackout.

         23                 New York City's taxpayers were

         24  themselves the victims this year, raking up $1.5

         25  million in police overtime expenses as a result of
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          2  the blackout.

          3                 We have been informed that Con Ed

          4  will allow independent examiners to assess the

          5  issue. But mere studies are not the answer, definite

          6  action is.

          7                 The power company cannot be allowed

          8  to employ their belief that not every contingency

          9  can be prepared for as an excuse not to implement

         10  reasonable precaution or indeed to degrade existing

         11  service levels.

         12                 Has Con Ed's extraordinary reduction

         13  in its street workforce from 16,000 to 9,500 during

         14  the past decade resulted in greater threats to

         15  steady service?  Or slower response time times to

         16  emergencies?

         17                 Reliable electrical service is

         18  crucial to every aspect of the health, safety and

         19  prosperity of each New Yorker.

         20                 Playing such a crucial role, we must

         21  insist that Con Edison's decisions be made in the

         22  full view of the public, and with the opportunity

         23  for substantive public input.

         24                 Most immediately, we must be informed

         25  how and why during the July 6 and July 7 blackout,
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          2  the power was cut in Washington Heights, as opposed

          3  to other areas or communities.

          4                 Con Ed's officials have repeatedly

          5  stated that occasional power disruptions in extreme

          6  and unexpected conditions cannot be avoided. Fair

          7  enough. While particular and unusual events may not

          8  be totally avoidable, the protocols employed to

          9  respond to those events can be established in

         10  advance. The public has a right to know, and to have

         11  a voice in establishing those protocols.

         12                 Our nation was founded on the concept

         13  that each citizen is equal under the law. This

         14  concept must also be engaged in in the provision of

         15  essential services by a public utility.

         16                 Thank you, Councilman.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         18  you. Our best to the Borough President.

         19                 Okay, Sybil Dodson, Victor Morisete,

         20  Zoilo Ramirez, Walter Delgado and George Sanchez.

         21  Please take a seat, and identify yourself and begin

         22  in any order you see fit.

         23                 MS. DODSON: Good afternoon, Mr.

         24  Council Member, and thank you for inviting me to

         25  this hearing today, particularly Council Member
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          2  Linares and Council Member Michels.

          3                 I am Sybil Dodson, I am the

          4  Chairperson of Community Board 12, Manhattan, that

          5  area that encompasses West 155th Street, to West

          6  218th Street, river to river, and the communities

          7  known as Washington Heights and Inwood. And I would

          8  ask and bring to the attention of this body and the

          9  press that we are two communities, one family, two

         10  parts of our community, and to ignore in all of

         11  these statements or most of them that I hear today

         12  and to reference only Washington Heights is to

         13  ignore the suffering of people in the northern part

         14  of our board known as Inwood. And it is also

         15  ignoring the fact that the blackout started in

         16  Inwood, in fact started on my block, 215th Street,

         17  started in Inwood and persisted well after measures

         18  were taken in the lower portion of our board in

         19  Washington Heights.

         20                 Again, rather than divide our

         21  community and ignore that we are suffering the pain,

         22  both communities, I want to make certain that people

         23  understand that it is Washington Heights and Inwood.

         24                 And secondly, and really most

         25  importantly, is I think that the failure to reach
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          2  out to the community boards who are the grassroots

          3  service delivery people is a real and serious

          4  omission.

          5                 It is my understanding that Con

          6  Edison had reached out to agencies of City

          7  government as early on as Friday, preceding the

          8  blackout. I can tell you that by Monday afternoon I

          9  was without power and so were my neighbors in the

         10  area of Inwood, and I can express to you that it was

         11  not until the middle of the night or early on

         12  Tuesday morning that a call finally came through to

         13  me expressing what was going on.

         14                 So I can tell you that we were

         15  literally and figuratively in the dark. By Tuesday

         16  morning, I walked down to our community board and

         17  opened up our board and started to make calls and

         18  field calls. I can tell you that we have, the

         19  community board, not just my own, I am saying the

         20  network of 59 community boards Citywide, we have our

         21  hand on the pulse of the community. We can tell you

         22  who the tenant organizers are and the block captains

         23  are. We could get in touch with people and have the

         24  elderly moved, if we had had advance warning. We can

         25  get to the block associations, we can virtually ring
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          2  every doorbell. Of the 50 members of my community

          3  board, some of who are here in this room, two of

          4  whom are at this table, we represent almost every

          5  organization within Washington Heights and Inwood.

          6                 Where you may be able to talk to the

          7  chiefs, we are the Indians. We could have gotten the

          8  message out to people and we are not allowed to do

          9  that.

         10                 We were not allowed to participate in

         11  the process and it costs money, it costs lives, and

         12  for anyone to say that it did not, I refute that.

         13                 I think that the specter of seeing,

         14  and it was personally disgusting to me, and it is an

         15  outrage, to see supermarkets dump food, to see

         16  bodegas empty their cabinets of food, when you know

         17  that with advanced knowledge we could have reached

         18  out to God's Love We Deliver and said we have got a

         19  situation up here in Heights Inwood, we might have

         20  to get rid of perishables, why don't you send the

         21  truck up here and feed the pantries down in the

         22  lower east side. Feed the pantries in Brooklyn.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Your

         24  point is made.

         25                 MS. DODSON: Secondly, I think that,
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          2  in all honesty, I am here, I have taken a day off of

          3  work, I have lost time, and I would like an

          4  opportunity to express myself on behalf of my

          5  community.

          6                 The last thing is, I would like to

          7  thank those people who did come out, Fire, EMS,

          8  NYPD, and those Con Edison workers who worked

          9  tirelessly in the heat and under the most adverse of

         10  circumstances, we owe them a debt of gratitude.

         11                 And lastly, let me say that my

         12  neighbor of 35 years, an 80-year-old woman, on the

         13  14th floor of Dyckman Houses, her heart gave out two

         14  mornings ago and to think that her last day's on

         15  earth were spent in the dark is just heartbreaking.

         16  We can do better than this in New York. Thank you.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         18  you.

         19                 Who is next?

         20                 MR. DELGADO: Yes, I won't read my

         21  statement but I will paraphrase it for the benefit

         22  of time.

         23                 My name is Walter Delgado, I am the

         24  Executive Director of the Audubon Partnership for

         25  Economic Development. In a nutshell, what we do is
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          2  we provide small business assistance to the area,

          3  and I would like to speak to the business losses

          4  that were incurred as a result of the blackout.

          5                 This is, after all, our community,

          6  the most populous and one of the areas with the

          7  highest concentration of small businesses and the

          8  energy blackout has been a major financial setback

          9  for many of the businesses that operate precariously

         10  in our community, many of them on a slim margin and

         11  their survival is often based on the sheer

         12  determination of a small business owner.

         13                 I have attached to my testimony a

         14  summary of the economic impact that the blackout

         15  caused on 369 businesses located in the Dyckman

         16  Street, Broadway and West 207th Street area, also

         17  known as the Inwood Commercial Corridor. Very

         18  preliminary data indicates that this section of

         19  Inwood, the business losses would probably range

         20  between 1.5 and 2 million, and may grow as inventory

         21  is replenished and perishable inventory is brought

         22  in.

         23                 The total loss of revenue, equipment

         24  and perishable inventory to small businesses in

         25  Community Board 12, which encompasses all of the
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          2  Heights and Inwood, will probably amount to 3 to 4

          3  million dollars, and that does not include the 32

          4  businesses that employ more than 50 workers in our

          5  community.

          6                 In Inwood, which was partially

          7  blacked out since the morning of Tuesday, July 6th,

          8  approximately 1,400 people and business owners were

          9  unable to work for one or more days. Many employees,

         10  many of them are community residents are concerned

         11  that they will lose wages due to an incident that

         12  was well beyond their control.

         13                 On the third day, Thursday, July 8th,

         14  power had not been fully restored to businesses

         15  along Dyckman Street. Among the highest losses was

         16  suffered in the food service-related sector, which

         17  includes supermarkets, bodegas, restaurants, delis

         18  and anyone else involved in food-related matters.

         19                 The most important action that we can

         20  take right now is to make available financial

         21  assistance on reasonable terms for neighborhood

         22  businesses which have suffered economic losses due

         23  to this disaster.

         24                 The need is underscored by the fact

         25  that our community is financially underserved. We
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          2  have a lending rate that is nearly half the state

          3  and national rates. Our business community needs

          4  help immediately, not a month from now.

          5                 I would like to conclude by making

          6  the following observations and recommendations. A

          7  crucial step is to support the City's effort to have

          8  our area declared as an economic injury disaster

          9  area by the US Small Business Administration.

         10                 The City's Office of Emergency

         11  Management, the Department of Business Services,

         12  have been diligent in pursuing this course of

         13  action, and the Audubon Partnership has provided

         14  them with the documentation for the SBA.

         15                 As a micro lender in Washington

         16  Heights and Inwood, we at the Audubon Partnership

         17  also realize that many small businesses will not

         18  meet the SBA's disaster loan criteria, and we

         19  strongly recommend the use of an alternative loan

         20  program, such as our own store improvement loan

         21  program, to reach those business owners who cannot

         22  qualify.

         23                 Con Edison should stand behind this

         24  effort to augment the lending capacity of

         25  alternative programs.
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          2                 Con Edison should also establish a

          3  local presence to review and process claims for

          4  losses by small businesses. We have made this

          5  recommendation directly to the leadership of Con Ed,

          6  and have offered to use existing community agencies

          7  that are located in the Heights and Inwood and who

          8  are also involved in providing business assistance.

          9                 Right now the claim process is

         10  unclear, cumbersome and devoid of all personal

         11  contact between Con Edison and the small business

         12  customers.

         13                 Yet, for some other businesses in our

         14  community, especially start-ups, some form of the

         15  grant assistance will be necessary.

         16                 I remain hopeful that the visit of

         17  the Mayor, the Council Speaker at the peak of the

         18  crisis will translate into quick action and

         19  effective measures are based on these

         20  recommendations.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         23  you.

         24                 Next.

         25                 MR. SANCHEZ: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is George Sanchez. I am the Executive Director of

          3  the Washington Heights Business Improvement

          4  District.

          5                 The Washington Heights BID is

          6  comprised of the following geographic areas, from

          7  181st Street, beginning at Amsterdam Avenue,

          8  extending to Ft. Washington, and from 179th Street

          9  to 183rd Street on St. Nicholas Avenue, and 179th

         10  Street to 182nd Street on Broadway.

         11                 Within that geographic zone there are

         12  approximately 350 businesses. Immediately after the

         13  blackout, my staff and I immediately began surveying

         14  the businesses and talking to the merchants. We

         15  surveyed 46 businesses, and 25 of which were retail

         16  stores, five were personal industry stores, six were

         17  multi-service, five were food and beverage and five

         18  were restaurant.

         19                 What we found, which was surprising

         20  to us, was that the average loss was a conservative

         21  figure of $3,500 per business. This is not taking

         22  into account the anchor stores, such as Blockbuster,

         23  Models, Duane Reade, Rite-Aid, or the franchises,

         24  such as McDonalds, Burger King.

         25                 What we found our total damages to
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          2  be, and this is a conservative estimate based on a

          3  sample survey, is approximately one and a half

          4  million dollars, and this is within a very tight

          5  geographic zone.

          6                 The businesses in the Washington

          7  Heights BID have among the highest rents and

          8  operational cost in the City of New York. Therefore

          9  a day's loss of total revenue is a significant loss

         10  to those hard-working businesses.

         11                 The cost of doing business in our

         12  community is so high that most of our business

         13  owners are forced to work seven days a week, 12 to

         14  15 hours a day. The average commercial rent in the

         15  BID district is $84 a square foot per year, and in

         16  some cases up to $150 per foot. Therefore, to imply

         17  that a day's loss is not important is not realistic

         18  or fair to these hard-working citizens. I am here to

         19  make the City Council and Con Edison aware of this

         20  reality and hopefully Con Edison will treat these

         21  hard-working businesses in a fair and equitable

         22  manner.

         23                 The BID asked Con Edison to establish

         24  a policy whereby it is in the likely event that an

         25  area is in jeopardy of losing power, an advisory be
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          2  immediately communicated to the respective BIDs in

          3  that area, so that the BID may quickly give notice

          4  to business owners, allowing them to immediately

          5  take action to lessen the damage likely to occur

          6  during a blackout, including, but not limited to

          7  protecting their property and the safety of their

          8  employees and customers.

          9                 There are over 1,500 people employed

         10  within the BID district alone and most, if not all,

         11  will be paid for the day not worked, which further

         12  compounds the losses to our merchants.

         13                 The BID offers its business expertise

         14  voluntarily to all parties involved to assure that

         15  there is fair treatment and that there is no

         16  excesses or abuses.

         17                 And one way that we can accomplish

         18  this is by offering voluntarily to be mediators or

         19  arbitrators to settle disputes between Con Edison

         20  and the affected parties.

         21                 We offer this so that the BID can be

         22  better utilized. There are over 40 BIDs in the City

         23  of New York, for Con Edison not to reach out and

         24  send an advisory to one of us is just unbelievable,

         25  because we didn't hear from Con Edison until
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          2  yesterday.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well,

          4  this experience is probably a wake-up call for a lot

          5  of us.

          6                 Mr. Ramirez.

          7                 MR. RAMIREZ: Good afternoon to every

          8  one of you. My name is Zoilo Ramirez. I own three

          9  restaurants in Washington Heights. First of all, I

         10  want to thank every one of you, and especially the

         11  Councilman Guillermo Linares, for giving me the

         12  opportunity to speak as one of the business owners

         13  affected by this unexpected blackout.

         14                 As you can understand, the losses in

         15  the food-related service business were much higher

         16  than Con Ed is predicting. The food spoil only is

         17  much more than what Con Ed is putting on the table

         18  for small businesses. Not to mention the defective

         19  equipment, loss of revenues, employees' wages and so

         20  forth, after the fact business losses.

         21                 After the service was restored, for

         22  instance, we received phone calls from customers

         23  concerned. For instance, they would ask if we were

         24  serving the food that was spoiled, so you can

         25  understand that people now are not going back to the
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          2  restaurants as they were before the blackout because

          3  of that.

          4                 So, we have not been able to bring

          5  business back to the way it was before the blackout.

          6                 We want you to understand how hurt we

          7  are. It cost us a lot of money to get in business

          8  and we still are not running the way we should.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         10  you.

         11                 Mr. Morisete.

         12                 MR. MORISETE-ROMERO: Good afternoon.

         13  My name is Victor Morisete-Romero, I am the

         14  Executive Director of the Community Association of

         15  Progressive Dominicans, and I am happy to be here to

         16  testify before the members of the City Council. ACDP

         17  is a social service non-for-profit organization that

         18  has been providing service for over 20 yeas to more

         19  than 15,000 residents in Washington Heights through

         20  a variety of social service programs.

         21                 I am pleased to be here to offer you

         22  information about the emotional damage and economic

         23  loss of residents and businesses in Washington

         24  Heights and Inwood.

         25                 I also would like to offer some
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          2  recommendations in order to prevent another blackout

          3  in our neighborhoods and as well prevent such an

          4  event in the City of New York.

          5                 First let me address the issue of

          6  emotional damage suffered by residents of Washington

          7  Heights.

          8                 As you know, ACDP has the program

          9  that offers case management and clinical services to

         10  seriously mentally ill patients in our community.

         11  This families are extremely ill. They are living in

         12  apartments throughout Washington Heights and Inwood.

         13  These are families who need to take medication on a

         14  daily basis to cope with the distress and illness.

         15  These patients have suffered emotional traumas in

         16  their lives which has caused the development of

         17  acute mental illness, and I want to talk about that

         18  because that is a loss that not money can repair.

         19                 When the power went off in our

         20  community, our clients suffered. The same morning

         21  that the power went off in Inwood, we dispatched our

         22  caseworkers to the homes of those mentally ill

         23  clients that we had. Twenty-eight clients that we

         24  serve were affected that day. On Tuesday, when the

         25  power went off again, the lower part, Washington
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          2  Heights, 104 persons were affected by the blackout.

          3  This caused a major disruption in the lives of many

          4  of our clients in terms of the physically and

          5  emotional, because they were not physically and

          6  emotionally prepared to deal with the situation.

          7                 As a direct result of the blackout,

          8  we were forced, for example, to hospitalize four of

          9  our clients, 22 clients began to exhibit serious

         10  emotional problems in anxiety. Ninety-five did not

         11  have ice and proper water in their house. Forty-five

         12  did not have flashlights when the power went off.

         13  This had caused a tremendous amount of distress to a

         14  population that is very frail.

         15                 This is a very serious situation

         16  because it places the most vulnerable people in our

         17  community at risk. As Councilman Stanley Michels

         18  said, there were two major problems here, one of

         19  them was communication, and the other one I believe

         20  is the infrastructure of Con Edison.

         21                 Many of us who have testified here

         22  were not informed of the possibility of that. And

         23  even when the blackout happened, there was not

         24  communication to us to deal with that and we heard

         25  from the seniors who say they did not know.
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          2                 So, where was the command center?

          3  Where was the cooling station? Where was the

          4  communication level with the senior, the head of the

          5  senior center said here that nine senior centers in

          6  our community did not have a clue about the

          7  situation, so how are we to deal and prepare with

          8  that.

          9                 And the second part of it is the

         10  economic loss suffered by businesses in our

         11  community.  Some of my colleagues have testified to

         12  that, we believe that more than $10 million has been

         13  lost in terms of property and probably more than $20

         14  million in sales were also lost by the two days of

         15  power outage.

         16                 I want also to make the following

         17  recommendation to conclude, to Con Edison. First,

         18  Con Edison must install more feeder cables to

         19  prevent another power outage. I think that is

         20  obvious.

         21                 Second, Con Edison must compensate

         22  every household in business for the actual loss in

         23  our community. The proposed amount of reimbursement

         24  of $100 is not enough to compensate, neither is the

         25  $2,000 for businesses who have lost, some of them
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          2  $35,000, $9,000, as you have heard before.

          3                 Third, Con Edison should localize the

          4  claims' effort, as was indicated by one of my

          5  colleagues, in partnership with institutions in our

          6  community so that businesses in the community know

          7  how to process their claims.

          8                 Fourth, Con Edison must develop an

          9  economic development program, in partnership with

         10  organizations that may include 25 percent reduction

         11  or rebate to businesses and residents over a year

         12  period of time. Also, an investment program that

         13  might look at a revolving loan, non-revolving loan

         14  to help the small businesses open their doors and

         15  reestablish themselves.

         16                 Fifth, Con Edison must reopen the

         17  center that they closed a month ago in our

         18  communities. I believe that they have a corporate

         19  responsibility to every citizen in the City of New

         20  York and to our community.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         23  you.

         24                 Gentlemen, ladies, thank you so much.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I have a
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          2  question.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Brief

          4  questions, because we are running very late and

          5  there are still a number of people here to testify.

          6                 Yes, go ahead with your question.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Ms. Dodson, I

          8  would just like to express our sympathy and

          9  condolences on the loss of your neighbor. I am sure

         10  that was very difficult for you at this time, and we

         11  are truly sorry.

         12                 MS. DODSON: Thank you so much.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         14  Member Sabini.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I also wanted

         17  to express my condolences.

         18                 MS. DODSON: Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But I also

         20  wanted to ask, a lot of the merchants have

         21  insurance, I don't know if this is covered by

         22  insurance or not, but if there is any insurance or

         23  any likelihood to get some money, don't you think

         24  Con Ed should help you process it?

         25                 Let's find out, because you were here
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          2  when I asked Con Ed about their own insurance, so

          3  therefore, there is money outside, you have heard

          4  the small business people, possible loans, low

          5  interest loans or maybe some grants. There is money

          6  that we should have help from Con Ed or any business

          7  people to be able to marshal all of the funds in

          8  order to help our merchants, as well as the people

          9  in the community.

         10                 MR. SANCHEZ: One of the biggest

         11  problems that we had -- for example, the numbers

         12  that I cited here are strictly mom and pop

         13  businesses.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I

         15  understand. Which is the majority of our businesses.

         16                 MR. SANCHEZ: Right. And most of them

         17  do not carry business interruption insurance.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They may have

         19  insurance, other types of insurances, destruction of

         20  property. But I think we need some experts, these

         21  people are not experts in the insurance law, lawyers

         22  and -- Con Ed has full staffs of people who they

         23  should help you do anything they possibly can as far

         24  as getting money for you, whether it be possibly

         25  small business loans or anything else. Because our
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          2  people are not very well educated on this thing and

          3  they should give insurance proceeds on what they

          4  have themselves. Nobody is going to be made whole

          5  here, but we should try to make it as whole as

          6  possible.

          7                 MR. SANCHEZ: Sure, absolutely.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

          9  Member Sabini.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.

         11                 Ms. Dodson, I have a question for you

         12  and anyone else you have here that are members of

         13  your board. How long have you been on the board?

         14                 MS. DODSON: I have been on the

         15  community board a little over six years, and I have

         16  been chair of the board six months.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. But you

         18  have members of the board, maybe some that are here,

         19  that have been around awhile, and maybe the question

         20  isn't appropriate for you, but something has changed

         21  in the structure of City government that I think

         22  could have been put to better use here and that is

         23  that it seems that the touching or the starting off

         24  point or the jumping off point for the

         25  Administration in a situation like this has become

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            220

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  the Office of Emergency Management, and what they do

          3  is they are very good at what they do, managing

          4  emergencies. But the Director of that Office, Mr.

          5  Hauer, said that the communication was perhaps the

          6  most important thing in an emergency, and it seems

          7  to me that in the past, under different

          8  administrations, that the Community Assistance Unit,

          9  which was supposed to liaison with community boards

         10  and other groups, was much more active in the

         11  streets and more, would have been a more key player

         12  in this. When you were called, you said you were

         13  contacted late into the process, who contacted you,

         14  or who contacted the Board?

         15                 MS. DODSON: I became aware of course

         16  that the power outage was in full effect on Monday

         17  afternoon. As it occurs, there are a number of

         18  people within my community who serve in areas of

         19  City government who are themselves elected

         20  officials, and I was contacted by one of those

         21  elected officials. Subsequent to that, I then went

         22  to the community board and opened the community

         23  board eight o'clock on Tuesday morning and we then

         24  began to place calls around the community and to our

         25  elected officials, Council Member Linares,
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          2  Assemblymember Espaid and others. And we convened an

          3  emergency meeting at 2:00 on Tuesday afternoon at

          4  the community board to address the situation, even

          5  at that hour I was unaware that there was an

          6  emergency command center at 190th Street and I think

          7  Amsterdam Avenue, even that late into the day.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So, well into

          9  this you didn't even hear from OEM, never mind CAU?

         10                 MS. DODSON: We were unaware. We were

         11  figuratively and literally in the dark. We were very

         12  much isolated, and you are quite correct, perhaps it

         13  was handled differently in the years preceding my

         14  tenure on the Board, but what I am trying to get

         15  across is that while people at the highest levels of

         16  government responded admirably to this, it is us in

         17  the trenches, if you will, that are able to ring the

         18  doorbells and get the message to folks, particularly

         19  once there was no more communication, electricity or

         20  TV, like that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I think what

         22  OEM does, it does well, but it has to have other

         23  tools in the communities to get the word out to

         24  people. They operate in very much almost a

         25  militaristic fashion, which is necessary in an
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          2  emergency and it is laudable in an emergency, but I

          3  believe that there should be a way that the CAU or

          4  somebody, maybe it is through the Community Affairs

          5  people at the Police Department, but somebody should

          6  have been working with you and using the resources

          7  that you have and the 50 members of your board, many

          8  of whom are part of organizations, that is the way

          9  communication gets out to the grassiest of

         10  grassroots.

         11                 MS. DODSON: Indeed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay, thank

         13  you.

         14                 MS. DODSON: Thank you, sir.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         16  you.

         17                 Mr. Cozler? Mr. Robert Ceisler. Mr.

         18  Ceisler, is he here? Okay. We are calling Ydanis

         19  Rodriguez. Martha Staubach. Mildred Campos. And

         20  Barbara Frazier. They left, okay.

         21                 Okay, will you identify yourself,

         22  please.

         23                 MS. FRAZIER: My name is Barbara

         24  Frazier, and I live at 99 Hillside Avenue, which is

         25  a 204-unit, 21-floor high-rise Mitchell Lama
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          2  Cooperative. Our building is over 60 percent senior

          3  citizens.

          4                 Now, I had been asked to come here by

          5  Councilman Linares to give a sense of, as Chairman

          6  Vallone said, the horror that he saw with all of

          7  these high-rise buildings in Washington Heights. We

          8  live this horror again. 101 degrees for over 48

          9  hours without power.

         10                 Now, I would also like to address, if

         11  you would ask me some questions, specific things

         12  about the Community Assistance Unit and the

         13  Community Affairs Officers later.

         14                 Now, first of all, I have three major

         15  points: 1) the effect. Again, these cooling centers,

         16  all of these things, it doesn't work if there are no

         17  elevators. We had people trapped in their

         18  apartments, trapped in their elevators, trapped on

         19  other floors and we had, because of the

         20  misinformation from Con Ed and their constant "one

         21  more hour, don't worry. We will have it up in a few

         22  hours. Everything is going to be all right, just

         23  relax." We had people who, for example, walked down

         24  15 stairs -- 16 floors. Mr. Klein. He came back at

         25  11:30 at night, 12:30 at night from a social
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          2  engagement, and I had to confront a Con Ed

          3  spokesman, because, believe me, there was a mass of

          4  everyone in front of our building saying would you

          5  make your father climb 18 floors? This man was 75

          6  years old.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: God bless

          8  him.

          9                 MS. FRAZIER: In the dark. So, what we

         10  had to do, we had to do our own hiring of people,

         11  you know, we had some kids from the neighborhood,

         12  people with flashlights to take people up, but you

         13  cannot have these high-rise buildings again, in an

         14  emergency, without elevators, or you kill people, as

         15  we have heard from Mrs. Dodson possibly. You can't

         16  allow that as a civilization to happen.

         17                 Now, the other thing too I wanted to

         18  address was the ineptness, the lack of skills and

         19  the chaotic functioning of Con Ed, and I want to

         20  give just two or three venues so that you go into

         21  the small and look at this, because Mr. McGrath in

         22  his testimony was glossing over this with the plan,

         23  we mobilize, we get in touch, we gear up, and all of

         24  these phrases.

         25                 For example, after this day and a
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          2  half of two more hours, an hour, up by five, don't

          3  worry, after a day and a half of that, I began to

          4  confront the Con Ed person on site and say, look,

          5  who do you report to? Who makes the decision to turn

          6  on the building? It was not until approximately 9:00

          7  on Tuesday that we were told -- oh, no, 9:00 on

          8  Wednesday, that we were told --

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: A.m. or

         10  p.m.?

         11                 MS. FRAZIER: P.m. 9:00 p.m. on

         12  Wednesday, that we were told that callous decision

         13  that was made, quote, from Mr. McGrath, quote: "we

         14  decided to isolate the large customers." They didn't

         15  tell us that - one more out, you are going to be up

         16  in a minute. At 5:00 on Wednesday we had paid out of

         17  our own co-op money to have a generator delivered on

         18  the lawn that would have brought back elevator, a

         19  low brownout hallway light and a little bit of

         20  water. Because again, we were without water

         21  completely for two days. No water. That generator

         22  was sitting on the lawn of our building.

         23                 The Con Ed person, with a licensed

         24  electrician, ready to set it up at our expense. Con

         25  Ed said don't do it, send the guy away. We want him
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          2  to go away because you are going to be up in an

          3  hour. Don't worry about it, it's fine.

          4                 They told us, they made us send this

          5  man away, and then, again --

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: They

          7  didn't make you send them away, they suggested.

          8                 MS. FRAZIER: They said we aren't

          9  going to turn you on if you turn on the generator.

         10  We are ready to turn you on, you don't need this.

         11  This is an interference, get rid of him. I was say

         12  that is telling us, making us send them away. You

         13  know, I don't know what else it can be.

         14                 So then, so he goes, again, it's only

         15  an hour. No. These two guys just sit in a truck. We

         16  have two community assistance units people, four

         17  community patrol cops, three Con Ed representatives

         18  wandering around the cul-de-sac in front of our

         19  building going what are we going to do, we don't

         20  know what is happening. Don't think we were ignored,

         21  it was just simply a miasma.

         22                 Now, what then took place was, again,

         23  because people were mislead on this, I then began to

         24  search the chain of command: Who do you report to?

         25  The energy specialist, to this guy, to that guy. We
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          2  found out the guys on the truck were metering

          3  people. Like jobs are essentially to install meters

          4  and repair meters, that there has been a tremendous

          5  reduction in force, which was told to us by some of

          6  the Con Ed people, quite, you know, hey, we are not

          7  supposed to be telling you this, but the fact of the

          8  matter is tremendous reduction in force in the

          9  skilled I & A, Installation and Apparatus teams.

         10  These are people who are really applied engineers

         11  who know what they are doing and can really assess

         12  the situation and figure things out.

         13                 So that was a fundamental problem I

         14  believe with the Inwood problem, because again, as

         15  we know from the meeting at Good Shepherd, buildings

         16  were set on fire, other things, as these inept crews

         17  brought them up.

         18                 All right, the other thing I wanted

         19  to say is that, I wanted to say the Office of

         20  Emergency Management, what happened, why did we get

         21  power? At 1:00 Tuesday morning, your colleague in

         22  government -- yes, Wednesday morning,

         23  Wednesday/Thursday. At 1:00 between

         24  Wednesday/Thursday, your colleague in government

         25  Assemblyman Espaid arrived. He took me personally to
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          2  the Office of Emergency Management, to Mr. Drake,

          3  who was sitting here. It was Mr. Drake who found an

          4  I&A team, who told them to get over there, who told

          5  them to deal with this problem, and then at 4:30 on

          6  Thursday morning, the power finally came on. But

          7  again, it was the OEM having to sort through the

          8  lack of the miasma (sic) of Con Ed, which finally

          9  then began to restore service to us.

         10                 Now, one last thing, this $100 thing,

         11  again, everyone has addressed it is inadequate.

         12  Examples from our building, appliances have been

         13  ruined, refrigerators, major, major appliances,

         14  five, seven-hundred dollar appliances, stereos, TVs

         15  blown out.

         16                 Secondly, a deaf woman in the

         17  building, Mrs. Steinman, all her assistive listening

         18  devices, all of her assistive equipment blown out

         19  and ruined. That is expensive stuff.

         20                 The expensive medicines have been

         21  ruined, far, far over even the cost of food. Also,

         22  round-the-clock overtime for our staff.

         23  Round-the-clock. Paying for this generator, the

         24  delivery, and also strain, pain and suffering that

         25  we have incurred. So, we are insulted by $100.
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          2                 Also, they were also originally

          3  playing a game, saying if you are master metered,

          4  they only want to give a small amount to the

          5  building, they don't necessarily want to fund the

          6  individual customer. They must clearly clarify that

          7  position.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Next.

          9                 MS. FRAZIER: That is what I wanted to

         10  say.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Next,

         12  Ma'am.

         13                 MS. STAUBACH: Good afternoon, ladies

         14  and gentlemen of the City Council. I am Martha

         15  Staubach.  I am a retired nurse presently living in

         16  a 21-floor building on Avenue A in a seven-building

         17  complex.

         18                 Mid-morning on Wednesday, 7:07, I

         19  heard fire engines tearing down Fourth Street, but I

         20  could not see their destination from my window.

         21                 Shortly after that a neighbor phoned

         22  to tell me that all elevators were out of service. I

         23  opened my door and saw that some lights were out.

         24  The remaining lights were dim. Then my air

         25  conditioner and television were not working.
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          2                 I called the management office and

          3  was put on hold with no explanation. I gave up after

          4  a few minutes. I then heard a news bulletin on my

          5  portable radio that there was a fire in the MTA

          6  power station on the corner of Houston and Essex

          7  Streets with Con Edison's lines below their lines.

          8                 I then went down the hall and knocked

          9  on the doors of the other seniors on the floor to

         10  check if they were all right. Late in the afternoon,

         11  I decided to fill the bathtub with water, as well as

         12  some pots. By early evening there was no water,

         13  reduced power and it was so hot.

         14                 Seniors do not perspire, making them

         15  susceptible to hyperthermia, which is

         16  life-threatening. Since I was running low on some

         17  medication, I just lay on my bed listening to the

         18  radio to conserve energy.

         19                 Due to an office of three, management

         20  stated they could not check on the seniors to be

         21  certain they were all right. However, there were

         22  sufficient porters and maintenance. The porters

         23  delivered notices on Thursday, some seniors risked

         24  falling or a coronary to walk down the stairs

         25  because they were afraid to be alone in their
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          2  apartment.

          3                 On Thursday, I called a management

          4  office concerning the electricity and water. I was

          5  told by the manager that a notice was posted in the

          6  lobby stating that elevator service will be restored

          7  in a few hours. I told them that I was on the 20th

          8  floor. He then stated that it would be distributed

          9  at each door.

         10                 I requested that they knock on the

         11  door to check if the seniors were okay. At 3:00 p.m.

         12  and the notice was there and no one had knocked to

         13  check on me. Friday at 6:00 a.m. and I took a very

         14  long shower.

         15                 I think it is shocking that this

         16  complex does not have a back-up plan. I remember how

         17  frightened I was, no information provided, no one

         18  cared, I was so hot and couldn't get cool. That

         19  night two seniors went to the hospital, one was 98

         20  years old and blind the other had heart problems.

         21  Thank you for listening.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we

         23  thank you and we share your sense of outrage at what

         24  you had to undergo and what you were exposed to.

         25                 Ma'am, would you identify yourself,
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          2  and we will be happy to take your testimony.

          3                 MS. CAMPOS: Good afternoon. My name

          4  is Mildred Campos. I live in Washington Heights and

          5  I have lived in Washington Heights all of my life.

          6                 I was asked to talk about the horrors

          7  regarding the blackout. I have an 87-year-old mother

          8  who is wheelchair bound. Everything has to be done

          9  for her, she has to be bathed, fed, given her

         10  medication. We had a home attendant but she had

         11  already left at 10:10 when the lights went out at my

         12  home.

         13                 I couldn't use my insulin because

         14  there was no lights. I was terrified because I

         15  realized that I was the only one in any of the

         16  apartments on the 27th floor. There was no way of

         17  coming up 27 floors, so I couldn't even go

         18  downstairs to buy water and milk for her.

         19                 It was horrible. I lived through the

         20  1966 blackout, the 1977 blackout, for some reason I

         21  was living on the second or the third floor, so of

         22  course people were going back and forth so I didn't

         23  feel so bad. I think it was a terrible thing when I

         24  spoke to my landlord and asked him why we didn't

         25  have a generator for the big tall four buildings of
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          2  the complex, and he told me that he needed a special

          3  permission and permit to install a generator for the

          4  four buildings.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we

          7  thank you. And one thing we learned from this

          8  testimony today is that there are a lot of

          9  vulnerable and exposed New Yorkers, not only to

         10  power outages, but for other kinds of catastrophes

         11  as well, and we need to pay more attention to these

         12  situations.

         13                 Council Member Linares.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: She lives at

         15  260 Audubon Avenue, one of four tall buildings that

         16  the Speaker was referring to earlier on. The Bridge

         17  Apartments.

         18                 I want to take the opportunity now to

         19  extend a sense of gratitude to the Speaker who went

         20  to Northern Manhattan, who went to Washington

         21  Heights, and walked the streets and talked to the

         22  people immediately after the blackout on the 6th.

         23                 I also want to commend you, Mr.

         24  Chair, and the other staff members who have worked

         25  very, very hard. This was an emergency hearing that
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          2  we had, and it took a lot to pull all of the pieces

          3  together for this hearing. But I just want to say

          4  this in conclusion, and I share this, with my

          5  colleague here, Stanley Michels, that the stories

          6  that you heard today is only a very small

          7  representation of what happened to nearly 300,000

          8  residents that were affected without knowledge that

          9  this was coming on them, and this has a multiple

         10  magnitude in terms of what it would take for people

         11  to get back on track with their lives. The impact

         12  that this has had now requires serious intervention,

         13  not just on the part of Con Edison, but on the part

         14  of the City and the state and the federal

         15  government, and it is going to take everyone pulling

         16  together to help the small businesses and the

         17  families that have been affected.

         18                 Clearly this hearing helped along the

         19  way, we need thorough investigation, and we need to

         20  set laws and legislation here through this City

         21  Council, Mr. Chair, that would address many of the

         22  issues that are still up in the air that hopefully

         23  will allow us to rectify over this experience.

         24                 We should not allow an experience as

         25  horrible as it was like this to go without planning
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          2  and taking appropriate changes in order for us to

          3  prevent something like this ever again, and I hope

          4  that this hearing will serve along that way, we have

          5  our work cut out.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

          8  Member Michels has asked to be recognized.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,

         10  briefly, it was a long hearing, I just wanted to

         11  commend you and the Speaker and Council Member

         12  Linares and the rest of the Council and the staff

         13  for the way they have risen to the occasion of this

         14  tragedy that occurred in our community, and to say

         15  that like every other tragedy, hopefully there will

         16  be some good to come from it.

         17                 We have learned today that there was

         18  a failure of communication, a failure of

         19  electricity, and that the City does not have the

         20  expertise it should have to be able to do proper

         21  oversight over one of the most important systems

         22  that we have in the City of New York, namely the

         23  electrical system. We do have that oversight over

         24  the water system, and we have an agency that is

         25  assigned to it, but it seems that it was very, very
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          2  revealing that Director Hauer of the City's Office

          3  of Emergency testified that they don't have an

          4  engineer on staff, there is nobody there who can

          5  really see, and we were fully dependent upon Con Ed,

          6  the information they gave us, and the information

          7  they gave us on their system. So, it is important

          8  that we not only wait when there is an emergency,

          9  all year round we should be doing preventive

         10  maintenance and that we should be looking to see

         11  that the system is in good working order, because

         12  you know the old expression is - fool us once, shame

         13  on you; fool us twice, shame on us.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I would like

         16  to mention that there was a group of young people

         17  from Washington Heights and Inwood that came to

         18  testify and they stayed throughout the hearing. It

         19  was a lengthy hearing and they had to leave because

         20  of circumstances, just about the time that we called

         21  them to testify, and I would like to indicate for

         22  the record that it was Ydanis Rodriguez, from the

         23  Dominican Youth Movement, that had worked very

         24  aggressively since the blackout to help respond to a

         25  moment of emergency, the young people helping
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          2  seniors, the young people helping families, was the

          3  type of experience that you would have observed in

          4  the middle of the night if you went around

          5  Washington Heights and Inwood, and they were

          6  manifest, there was testimony today of the work that

          7  we observed during a moment of crisis. I just wanted

          8  for the record to indicate that I am sorry that they

          9  could not testify, but it is manifest of the fact

         10  that they are in the front line whenever an

         11  emergency of young people like this takes place and

         12  I want to acknowledge that, as well as acknowledge

         13  their tremendous courage that was shown by the

         14  entire community of Washington Heights, no matter

         15  who you are talking about, what background, whether

         16  you are Hispanic, black or white, or no matter what

         17  background, everybody stuck together to help each

         18  other in this moment, and I think that New Yorkers

         19  should all be proud of how the community of

         20  Washington Heights and Inwood handled itself in this

         21  moment of crisis.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         24  you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,
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          2  once again, as we have seen in crises in the past,

          3  the people of the City of New York, in this case the

          4  people of Washington Heights have risen to the

          5  occasion. We want to acknowledge of course there

          6  were many unsung heroes, people who did

          7  extraordinary things during this period of time

          8  which we will never know about but we should also

          9  pay tribute to them, because each and every one of

         10  these people in this City are heroes in their own

         11  way and we know they rose to the occasion, or else

         12  there would have been a terrible tragedy here.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And I

         15  want to thank Council Member Linares and Council

         16  Member Stanley Michels and all who worked in putting

         17  this project together.

         18                 There being no other witnesses or

         19  other business, then this meeting is adjourned.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 2:40 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 14th day of July 1999.
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          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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